Set Is for Szeishit Hebrew for Adults Book 3 Linda Motzkin the author of Aleph Isn't Tough and Aleph Isn't Enough Hara Derson, Series Editor

Bet Is for Breishit

Hebrew for Adults Book 3

LINDA MOTZKIN

The author of Aleph Isn't Tough and Aleph Isn't Enough

HARA PERSON, SERIES EDITOR



Table of Contents

Acknow	wledgments NE		vi
Chapte			1
	Welcome		
	Torah Study Text: Genesis 1:1–5		
	Translating the Torah Study Text		
	Torah Translations		
	ין אור מִיִם רְוּחַ פָּנִים חשֶׁךְ Vocabulary The Roots הייה א־מ־ר	בּקר עֶרֶב בֵּי	
	Torah Commentary		
	Exercises		
	Extra Credit: A Day in Jewish Time		
Chapte	er 2		10
	Torah Study Text: Vocabulary and Root Review		
	Building Blocks: perfect verbs		
	imperfect verbs		
	the reversing vav		
	translating tenses		
	Torah study text with building l	olocks	
	Grammar Enrichment: אוֹד forms		
	Additional Reading and Translation Practice		
	Exercises		
UNIT T	WO	and the state of	
Chapte	er 3		22
	Torah Study Text: Genesis 4:1-5, 8-10		
	Translating the Torah Study Text		
	Torah Translations		
	Vocabulary אַ אָל אָח אִישׁ אִשָּה אָדָם The Roots ע־ב־ד י־ד־ע	דָם קוֹל כ	
	Building Blocks: more on reversing <i>vav</i>		
	the preposition אָת		
	Torah Commentary		
	Exercises	ur erdi eir milion	
	Extra Credit: A Modern Poem with a Biblical Th	eme	
Chapte	er 4		36
	Torah Study Text: Vocabulary and Root Review		
	and the state of t		

iii

The author gratefully acknowledges the following for permission to reprint previously published material:

ACUM LTD: "Written in pencil in the sealed freight car" by Dan Pagis. Copyright © by Dan Pagis and Acum. Reprinted by permission of Acum Ltd.

HARPERCOLLINS PUBLISHERS: Excerpts from *Commentary on the Torah* by Richard Elliott Friedman. © 2001 by HarperCollins Publishers. Reprinted by permission of HarperCollins Publishers Inc.

JEWISH PUBLICATION SOCIETY: Excerpts from JPS Hebrew-English Tanakh: The Traditional Hebrew Text and the New JPS Translation, Second Edition © 1999 by the Jewish Publication Society. Reprinted by permission of Jewish Publication Society.

KOREN PUBLISHERS JERUSALEM, LTD.: Excerpts from *The Jerusalem Bible* copyright © 1998 by Koren Publishers Jerusalem. Reprinted by permission of Koren Publishers Jerusalem, Ltd.

MESORAH PUBLICATIONS, LTD.: Reproduced from *The Chumash*, The Stone Edition, Artscroll Series, edited by Rabbi Nosson Scherman. Copyright © 1993, 1994 by Mesorah Publications, Ltd. With permission from the copyright holders Artscroll/Mesorah Publications, Ltd.

SCHOCKEN BOOKS: From *The Five Books* of Moses by Everett Fox, copyright © 1983, 1986, 1990, 1995 by Schocken Books. Used by permission of Schocken Books, a division of Random House, Inc.

SOUNDS WRITE PRODUCTIONS, INC.: "L'chi Lach" text by Debbie Friedman and Savina Teubal from "And You Shall Be a Blessing." Copyright © 1988 by Deborah Lynn Friedman (ASCAP), (San Diego, Calif.: Sounds Write Productions, Inc., 1988). Reprinted by permission of Sounds Write Productions, Inc. (ASCAP)

A Note on the Translations

The translations provided in this book in the Additional Reading and Translation Practice sections are as close to literal as possible, so that you can easily compare them with the original language. In some instances, a word or phrase is followed by another possible translation that is included in brackets {like this}. A different style of brackets [like this] occasionally appears in this book and is used to indicate words not included in the Hebrew that have been inserted for clarity in the English translation.

Moreover, the terms ?? and TTT? can be translated in several different ways, as seen in the Torah text translations cited in each odd numbered chapter. In our own translations, we have chosen to translate these terms as "Eternal One," "The Eternal One," "The Eternal." Likewise, in our own translations we have chosen to translate the Hebrew pronouns referring to God not as "He" or "Him" (nor "It" or "Its") but as "God" and "God's" followed by brackets {like this} indicating the literal masculine translation.

Printed on acid free paper

Copyright © 2004 by URJ Press

Manufactured in the United States of America

	Torah Study Text: Vocabulary and Root Review	
	Building Blocks: Hebrew verb patterns	
	the פֿעַל (pi-el) pattern	
	perfect verbs in the פָּעֵל pattern	
	imperfect verbs in the פָּעֵל pattern	
	Torah study text with building blocks	
	Grammar Enrichment: פֿעַל Pattern	
	Additional Reading and Translation Practice	
	Exercises	
UNIT	Γ FIVE	
Cha	pter 9	102
	Torah Study Text: Genesis 22:1–5, 9–12	
	Translating the Torah Study Text	
	Torah Translations	
	Vocabulary בְעַר עַיִן עֵץ עִם הַר הְנֵּה The Roots ה־ל־ך ע־ל־ה	
	Torah Commentary	
	Exercises	
	Extra Credit: The Akeidah and Rosh HaShanah	
Cha	pter 10	118
	Torah Study Text: Vocabulary and Root Review	
	Building Blocks: different verb patterns	
	the הפעיל (Hifil) pattern	
	recognizing the הפעיל pattern	
	perfect verbs in the הפעיל pattern	
	imperfect verbs in the הַפְּעִיל pattern	
	participles in the הפעיל pattern	
	variations	
	Torah study text with building blocks	
	Grammar Enrichment: הְפְעִיל Pattern	
	Additional Reading and Translation Practice	
	Exercises	
Verb	Charts Charts	132
Glos	ssary	138

Chapter 8

89

	perfect verbs	
	imperfect verbs	
	the question Π	
	Torah study text with building blocks	
	Grammar Enrichment: אָדי forms	
	Additional Reading and Translation Practice	
	Exercises	
UNIT	THREE	
Chap	ter 5	48
	Torah Study Text: Genesis 11:1–9	
	Translating the Torah Study Text	
	Torah Translations	
	Vocabulary שָׁם רֹאשׁ עִיר אֶבֶן רֵעַ אַחַת שָׁם The Roots ב־נ־ה י־ש־ב	
	Torah Commentary	
	Exercises	
	Extra Credit: Rashi	
Chap		61
	Torah Study Text: Vocabulary and Root Review	
	Building Blocks: plural verb forms	
	plural perfect verbs	
	plural imperfect verbs	
	the endings 📭 and 🖳	
	Torah study text with building blocks	
	Grammar Enrichment: Plural Forms	
	Additional Reading and Translation Practice	
	Exercises	
	FOUR	70
Chap		76
	Text: Genesis 12:1–7	
	Translating the Torah Study Text	
	Torah Translations	
	עסכabulary זֶרַע אָז מָקוֹם עַד כְּנַעַן שָׁנָה Hebrew Root Review צ־ו־ה, ח־י־ה, ב־ר־ך, ד־ב־ר ,ה־ל־ל ,ק־ד־ש	
	Torah Commentary	
	Exercises	
	Extra Credit: Preparing a Torah Reading	

Building Blocks: feminine verb forms

CONTENTS



Welcome

ברוכים הבאים

This book provides a continuation of your study of classical Hebrew through an exploration of selected passages from the Torah. Bet Is for B'reishit is divided into five units, each consisting of two chapters that are organized around the same Torah Study Text. In the first chapter of each unit, the Torah Study Text is introduced, along with translations, vocabulary, two new Hebrew roots, and Torah commentary. In the second chapter of each unit, Building Blocks (grammatical concepts) derived from the Torah Study Text are presented, along with additional reading and translation practice. (There is one exception to this division that you will see in Chapter 3). on having reached the level where you can begin to study Torah in Hebrew!



Torah Study Text: Genesis 1:1-5

The Torah opens with the account of God's creation of the world in seven days: six days of creative work and the seventh day of rest. The following are the first five verses of the Torah, describing the first day of Creation. This passage contains many words, Hebrew roots, and grammatical concepts that have not yet been introduced. You are not expected to be able to translate this entire passage. Read the Hebrew below to see how many of the words you can recognize. Underline or circle the words, roots, endings, and prefixes that you know.

יָּרָא אָרץ: יְוָהָאָרץ הָיִתָה הַשָּׁמַיִם וְאֵת הָאָרץ: יְוָהָאָרץ הָיִתָה יַּבָּרָא אַלהִים אַת הַשָּׁמַיִם וְאֵת הָאָרץ: תְהוּ וָבְהוּ וְחְשֶׁךְ עַל־פְּנֵי תְהוֹם וְרְוּחַ אֱלֹהִים מְרַחֵפֶת עַל־פִּנֵי הַמָּיִם: יּוַיִּאמֶר אֱלֹהִים יִהִי אוֹר וַיִהִי־אוֹר: יּוַיַּרָא אֱלֹהִים אֱת־הָאוֹר פִי־טוֹב וַיַּבְדֵּל אֱלֹהִים בֵּין הָאוֹר וּבֵין הַחִשֵׁך: יֹנִיּקְרָא אֱלֹהִים לאור יום ולחשר קרא לילה ויהי־ערב ויהי־בקר יום אחד:

Translating the Torah Study Text

The Torah Study Text, Genesis 1:1-5, is reprinted below. Underneath each Hebrew word is a literal translation (except for the word ΠN , which has no English translation). This literal translation of the individual words does not produce a smooth English reading of the passage. In order to arrange the words into meaningful English sentences, it is necessary to draw upon

Acknowledgments

Bet Is for B'reshit is the third book in the UAHC Hebrew for Adults Series. Along with the first and second books, Aleph Isn't Tough and Aleph Isn't Enough, it owes its existence to the vision of Rabbi Eric Yoffie, President of the UAHC, who inaugurated a historic campaign in 1996 to revive Hebrew literacy throughout the Reform Movement. The UAHC Hebrew Literacy Task Force, co-chaired by Rabbis Jan Katzew and Lawrence Raphael, was convened to respond to this challenge and provided direction and input in the development of this series.

Many rabbis and educators in the field of Hebrew language instruction agreed to pilot this text in adult classes in their communities and provided valuable perspectives and suggestions regarding adult Hebrew learning. I greatly appreciate the feedback provided by the teachers and students in the following congregations: Temple Beth El, Somerville, NJ; Congregation Sinai, Milwaukee, WI; Temple Beth Israel, Altoona, PA; Temple Society of Concord, Syracuse, NY; The Scarsdale Synagogue-Tremont Temple, Scarsdale, NY; Temple Emanu-el, Westfield, NJ; Isaac M. Wise Temple, Cincinnati, OH; Congregation Solel, Highland Park, IL; Temple B'nai Torah, Bellevue, WA; The Temple, Louisville, KY; and Congregation Etz Chaim, Merced, CA. I am particularly grateful to Sarah Gluck, David Blumberg, Iris Petroff, and Rabbi Arlene Schuster for their willingness to share their ideas and experiences teaching the experimental material.

A portion of this book was written while I was on sabbatical in Costa Rica. I am grateful to my congregation, Temple Sinai of Saratoga Springs, New York, for giving me six months away to work on this project. I am also grateful to Congregacion B'nei Israel in San Jose, Costa Rica, and to the

Monteverde Society of Friends in Monteverde. Costa Rica, for the warm and welcoming way they embraced my family during our time with them. I have been blessed in my community in Saratoga Springs, New York, with a wonderful group of dedicated and enthusiastic students, who have given me the opportunity to pilot this text at Temple Sinai. For their hard work, their good humor, and their willingness to keep coming back for more week after week, my tremendous thanks and affection go to Lollie Abramson Stark, Dan Balmuth, Rita Balmuth, Cathy DeDe, Eleanor deVries, Diana Fenton, Carla Gordon, Daniel Graham, Dianna Goodwin, Sue Joki, Lisa Kingston, Tina Marlowe, Deborah Meyers, Art Ruben, Robin Sacks, and Naomi Tannen.

At the UAHC Press, there were a number of people who assisted in various steps toward the publication of this book. Rabbi Hara Person, Editorial Director of the UAHC Press, guided this third book to the light of day with the same combination of constructive feedback, gentle suggestions, and clarity of vision that she brought to the editing of the first two books. It has been a pleasure to work with her at every stage of this process. Those who assisted in all the various aspects of the production of this book include Rabbi Dan Freelander, Rabbi Jan Katzew, Ken Gesser, Joel Eglash, Liane Broido, Annie Belford, and Debra Hirsch Corman. And last, but most important of all, my gratitude and appreciation go to my family: to my husband and co-rabbi, Rabbi Jonathan Rubenstein, for the countless ways in which he makes me and my life better than either would be without him; and to our three terrific children, Rachel, Ari, and Shira. Their love and support are my life's greatest blessings.

כוֹיל היה בְיְהָר וֹיִה אֶּחָר: עֶרֶב וַיְהִי־ בְּקֶּר יוֹם אֶחָר: one day morning and [there] evening and [there] night was was

Translation from one language to another is not an exact science but a subjective art. Every translation is an interpretation of the original text, as there are often several possible ways that a given verse, or even a single word, can be understood. The following translations of our Torah Study

Text: Genesis 1:1–5 all take slightly different approaches to the text. Compare your translation above with these Torah translations. Notice the subtle differences between each of these translations and your own.

¹When God began to create heaven and earth—²the earth being unformed and void, with darkness over the surface of the deep and a wind from God sweeping over the water—³God said, "Let there be light"; and there was light. ⁴God saw that the light was good, and God separated the light from the darkness. ⁵God called the light Day, and the darkness He called Night. And there was evening and there was morning, a first day.

JPS HEBREW-ENGLISH TANAKH: THE TRADITIONAL HEBREW TEXT AND THE NEW JPS TRANSLATION—2D ED. PHILADELPHIA: THE JEWISH PUBLICATION SOCIETY, 1999.

In the beginning of God's creating the heavens and the earth—²when the earth was astonishingly empty, with darkness upon the surface of the deep, and the Divine Presence hovered upon the surface of the waters—³God said, "Let there be light," and there was light. 'God saw that the light was good, and God separated between the light and the darkness. 'God called to the light: "Day," and to the darkness He called: "Night." And there was evening and there was morning, one day.

THE CHUMASH, ARTSCROLL SERIES, STONE EDITION. BROOKLYN: MESORAH PUBLICATIONS, 1993.

¹At the beginning of God's creating of the heavens and the earth, ²when the earth was wild and waste, darkness over the face of Ocean, rushing-spirit of God hovering over the face of the waters—

³God said: Let there be light! And there was light. ⁴God saw the light: that it was good.

God separated the light from the darkness.

your knowledge of the building blocks of the Hebrew language. It is also necessary to make choices between various possible translations of individual words and phrases.

Using your knowledge of the building blocks of the Hebrew language and the meanings of the words provided below, translate this passage into clear English sentences. Write your translation on the lines following the text. This selection includes some grammatical forms and vocabulary that have not yet been introduced. You will need to rely, in part, on the translations provided.

יבְּרֵאשִׁית בָּרָא אֱלֹהִים אֵת הַשָּׁמִיִם וְאֵת הָאָרֶץ: the earth/ and the sky/ God created in/with/at land heavens beginning (of)

תְהוֹם וְרְוּחַ אֱלֹהִים מְרַחֶפֶּת עַל־ פְּנֵי הַמְּיִם: the water face/ over/ hovering God and wind/ deep surface upon spirit

נְיִּאֹמֶר אֱלֹהִים יְהִיּ אוֹר וַיְהִי־ אוֹר: ⁴וַיִּרְא אֱלֹהִים God and saw light and [there] light let [there] God and said was be

אלהים טוֹב אַת־האור בין האור the light the God and good that and between between light separated

called and (to) the day (to) the God and called the darkness

2

4. The words עֶרֶב and בְּקֶר appear in the greetings עֶרֶב, "good evening," and "good morning."



The basic meaning of the root Tak is "say," "utter," or "tell." This root follows the participle pattern. The following are the four participle forms:

אוֹמְרוֹת m sg אוֹמְרוֹת f sg אוֹמֶרֶת m sg אוֹמֶר

The root המרכו appears only once in the Torah Study Text:

(verse 3)

And God said

וַיְּאמֶר אֱלֹהִים

The following words, both ancient and modern, are derived from the root הא־מ־ה:

wtterance, speech, word
word, utterance, saying
article, essay; also injunction, decree
statement
אַמְיָרָה
saying, talk

The basic meaning of the root \overrightarrow{n} is "be" or "exist." As explained in Chapter 1 of Aleph Isn't Enough, there is no present-tense form of the verb "to be" in Hebrew. There is no participle form of the root \overrightarrow{n} .

The root $\overrightarrow{\Pi}$ appears in following verses in the Torah Study Text. In some words formed from this root, the final letter $\overrightarrow{\Pi}$ drops out. In the word $\overrightarrow{\Pi}$ in verse 2, the final letter $\overrightarrow{\Pi}$ of $\overrightarrow{\Pi}$ has switched to the letter $\overrightarrow{\Pi}$, with another $\overrightarrow{\Pi}$ ending attached.

(verse 2)

and the earth was void and nothingness

וָהַאָרֵץ הַיִּתָה תָהוּ וַבְהוּ

(verse 3)

let [there] be light

יהי אור

(verse 3)

and [there] was light

ויהי אור

⁵God called the light: Day! and the darkness he called: Night! There was setting, there was dawning: one day.

THE FIVE BOOKS OF MOSES: A NEW TRANSLATION WITH INTRODUCTIONS, COMMENTARY, AND NOTES BY EVERETT FOX. NEW YORK: SCHOCKEN BOOKS, 1995.

In the beginning God created the heaven and the earth. And the earth was without form and void; and darkness was on the face of the deep. And a wind from God moved over the surface of the waters. And God said, Let there be light: and there was light. And God saw the light, that it was good: and God divided the light from the darkness. And God called the light Day, and the darkness he called Night. And there was evening and there was morning, one day.

THE JERUSALEM BIBLE, PUBLISHED FOR THE NAHUM ZEEV WILLIAMS FAMILY FOUNDATION AT HECHAL SHLOMO, JERUSALEM. JERUSALEM: KOREN PUBLISHERS JERUSALEM LTD., 1969.

Vocabulary

Locate each of the following words in the Torah Study Text: Genesis 1:1-5.

darkness <i>m</i>	_	ַחְשֶׁרְ
face, faces, surface m and f, pl	_	פָּנִים
spirit, wind m and f		רַוּתַ
water, waters m, pl	_	מַיִם
light m		אוֹר
between, among	_	בַּין
evening m	_	עֶרֶב
morning m		בְּקֶר

Notes on the Vocabulary

- 1. ヿ゚゙゙゙゙゙゙゙゙゙゙゙゙゙゙゙゙゙゙ヿ, "darkness," is the ninth of the Ten Plagues of the Exodus story, enumerated at the Passover seder.
- 2. The words בְּיִּכִּם, "face/faces/surface," and בְּיִכְם, "water," are grammatically plural words that can have a singular or plural meaning in English. The word-pair form of בְּיִב is בְּיִב is בְּיִב face of."
- 3. As with other Hebrew prepositions, the word has endings attached when it is followed by a pronoun such as "you" or "us" or "him":

between/among us	_	בֵּינֵינוּ
between/among you m sg	m11540	בַּינְךָּ

Exercises

- 1. Make flash cards for each of the new vocabulary words and Hebrew roots introduced in this chapter, or use the flash card set published as a companion to this book. Review the cards to learn all of them.
- 2. Draw a line connecting each Hebrew word to its English translation. For some words, there can be more than one correct translation.

water	קשֶׁרְ
light	בַּין
between	אוֹר
spirit	
face	רות
morning	מַיִם
wind	פָנִים
darkness	עֶרֶב
evening	پړ پ
faces	בְּלֶּר

3. The following are singular and plural forms of nouns introduced as vocabulary in this chapter. Draw a line connecting each plural noun to its singular form. Translate both into English.

אורים

אוֹרוֹת בְּקָרִים רוּחוֹת עֵרָבִים רְוּחַ אוֹר עֶרֶב

and [there] was evening and [there] was morning

וַיִהִי עֲרֵב וַיְהִי בְקֶּר

Much of Torah commentary arises from the fact that Hebrew words and phrases can be understood in more than one way. Often a commentary stems from a detail in the Hebrew text that may be lost or

obscured in an English translation. Above each of the following selections, the Hebrew detail giving rise to the commentary is explained.

The Torah begins not with בְּרֵאשׁית, "in the beginning," but with בָּרֵאשׁית, "in beginning" or "in a beginning." This would suggest that there was not only one beginning.

In other words, even after the world was created, we are still at the beginning, at the point of creation. If an artisan makes an object, that object now has an independent existence. The world, though, requires a renewal of its strength each instant by God to keep it in existence.

R. BUNIM OF PSHISCHA, AS QUOTED IN *TORAH GEMS*, COMP. AHARON YAAKOV GREENBERG, TRANS. RABBI DR. SHMUEL HIMELSTEIN. TEL AVIV AND BROOKLYN:
YAVNEH PUBLISHING HOUSE, CHEMED BOOKS, 1998.

The Torah begins with the letter \beth , the second letter of the Hebrew alphabet.

There is ... [a] reason for creating the world using the letter \beth . This explanation communicates the underlying motif for the world's creation and its continued existence. The numerical equivalent of the letter \beth is two. This alludes to harmony and unity. When people live together, when two individuals work together—not as separate units—the world has meaning and life has value. People must always think of others, not only of themselves.

HORAV DOVID SHNEUR, CITED IN *PENINIM ON THE TORAH*, 6TH SERIES, BY RABBI A. LEIB SCHEINBAUM. CLEVELAND HEIGHTS: PENINIM PUBLICATIONS, 2000.

In verse 5, the text states לֵיְהֵי עְרֶב "and there was evening," without ever stating "וְיְהֵי עָרֶב", "let there be evening."

Rabbi Yehudah ben Rabbi Shimon said: "'Let there be evening' is not written here, but 'and there was evening'; hence we know that a time-order existed before this." Rabbi Abbahu said: "This proves that the blessed Holy One went on creating worlds and destroying them—until creating this one and declaring, 'This one pleases Me; those did not please Me.'"

B'REISHIT RABBAH 3:7

5. Identify the root of each of the following participles, and whether the participle form is masculine or feminine, singular or plural. Translate the meaning of the root. Notice that some of these participles begin with the prefix "?", introduced in Chapter 10 of Aleph Isn't Enough.

m/f	sing/pl	Translation	Root	Participle
				אוֹמֵר
	MARKET AND ADDRESS ASSESSED.			בְבַרֶךְ
				מְהַלֵּל
				עוֹזֵר
				אוֹמְרִים
				בְרִים בְ
				מוֹלְכִים
				בוֹרֵא
				שוֹמְרִים
				בוֹחֵר

The earth spins on its axis one full revolution every twenty-four hours. We experience this movement on earth as the twenty-four-hour cycle of day and night. This movement is continuous; there is no moment when it begins or ends. The secular definition of a new day beginning after midnight is an arbitrary definition; a new day could just as easily have been said to begin at 1:00 A.M.

The following exercises use words and roots introduced in this chapter and in *Aleph Isn't Enough*. All words and roots from *Aleph Isn't Enough* are included in the Glossary at the back of this book.

4. Read and translate the following groups of words.

ה רוּחַ גְּדוֹלֶה רוּחַ אֵל רוּחַ חַיִּים רוּחַ קָּדְשׁוֹ רוּחוֹת הַשָּׁמֵיִם	בּלֶקר טוֹב עֶרֶב טוֹב עֶרֶב טוֹב לְיְלָה טוֹב לְיְלָה טוֹב שֵׁם טוֹב שֵׁם טוֹב יוֹם טוֹב יוֹם טוֹב
ם. אוֹר פָּנֶיךְ בְּאוֹר פָּנֶיךְ פְּנֵי הָאָדוֹן פְנֵי אֱלֹהִים פְנֵי הָאָדָמָה	. בֵּינְךְּ בִינֵיכָם בֵּינֵינוּ בִּינוֹ בֵינוֹ בְּנֵי יִשְׂרָאֵל בֵּין בְּנֵי יִשְׂרָאֵל
ו. לֶחֶם וָמַיִם מַיִם חַיִּים מַיִם רַבִּים מַיִם קְדוֹשִׁים מֵי מִצְרַיִם מֵי מִצְרַיִם	פ. אוֹר הַבְּקֶּר אוֹר לַגוֹיִים חְשֶׁךְ וָאוֹר אֶרֶץ חְשֶׁךְ יוֹם חְשֶׁךְ

Imperfect Verbs

The simplest imperfect verb pattern uses the three letters of the root with the prefix 'to produce the Kili form of the verb. Various vowel combinations may appear under the root letters:



An imperfect verb can be translated into English to indicate the future tense, ongoing incompleted action, or action that is wished or urged:

He will make. He may make. May he make. Let him make.

The Reversing Vav

In Aleph Isn't Enough, we introduced the prefix 1 meaning "and." The prefix 1 is also the primary marker of a form characteristic of biblical Hebrew, in which what looks much like an imperfect verb should be understood as a perfect verb or vice versa. When this occurs, the translation may or may not include the word "and." (Remember that there are several other ways that each verb can be translated in addition to the translations given below.)

_	אָמַר
_	יאבַר
_	ויֹאמר

Notice the dot in the in the word in the word. A dot often appears in the prefix of an imperfect verb when a reversing vav is attached.

When a reversing vav is attached to an imperfect verb with the final root letter Π , the final Π drops out:

Sometimes the final letter \(\overline{17}\) drops out even when there is no reversing vav so as to clearly express the speaker's wish or judgment about a situation:

let [it] be — יהי let light be or let [there] be light — יהי אור





Torah Study Text: Vocabulary and Root Review

This unit's Torah Study Text, Genesis 1:1–5, is reprinted below, highlighting the new vocabulary words as well as the words formed from the new Hebrew roots introduced in Chapter 1. Read this passage again, recalling the meaning of each of the highlighted words or roots.

יְבְראשִׁית בָּרָא אֱלֹהִים אֵת הַשָּׁמַיִם וְאֵת הָאֶרֶץ: יְוְהָאֶרֶץ הָּיְתָה יְבְּרֵאשִׁר נְבְּהוּ וְחְשֶׁךְ עַל־פְּנֵי תְהוֹם וְרְוּחַ אֱלֹהִים מְרַחֲשֶׁךְ עַל־פְּנֵי תְהוֹם וְרְוּחַ אֱלֹהִים מְרַחֶּשֶׁרְ אֱלֹהִים אֶת־הַמְּיִם: יוֹיִיְא אֱלֹהִים אֶת־ הָאוֹר וּבֵין הַחְשֶׁךְ: יוִיּבְדֵּל אֱלֹהִים בֵּין הָאוֹר וּבֵין הַחְשֶׁךְ: יוִיּבְדֵּל אֱלֹהִים בֵּין הָאוֹר וּבִין הַחְשֶׁךְ: יוֹם וְלַחְשֶׁךְ קָרָא לֵיְלָה וַיְהִיּ־עֶרֶב וַיְהִי־בְּקָרְ אֱלֹהִים לָאוֹר יוֹם וְלַחְשֶׁךְ קָרָא לֵיְלָה וַיְהִיּרַעֵּרֶב וַיְהִיּ־בְּקָר

Building Blocks

Tenses in Hebrew

In classical Hebrew, there is no past or future tense. Instead, there are "perfect" verbs, which describe action that has been completed, and "imperfect" verbs, which describe ongoing, incompleted action.

Perfect Verbs

There are many different verb patterns in Hebrew. The simplest perfect verb pattern uses the three letters of the root without any prefixes or suffixes to produce the xiii form of the verb:



A common variation in the vowels is . Since a perfect verb describes action that has been completed, it can be translated into English in several different ways, as in the following example:

הוא בַרַא.

He created. He did create. He was creating. He had created. He has created.

[and he] saw	_	וַיַּרְא
[and he] separated	_	וַיַּבְהַל
[and he] called	- <u>-</u>	וַיִּקְרָא
[he] called		קָרָא

Forms Forms

The following chart includes the participle, perfect, and imperfect Kill forms for every root introduced thus far that follows the simple pattern. This chart presents the regular vowels for each form, but alternate or irregular vowels sometimes appear in biblical texts. Keep in mind that this chart is included for enrichment only. It is not necessary to memorize these forms.

It may be helpful to notice the following variations: in many roots that begin with the letter or the letter 1, such as K-Y-1 and [-N-1, that first root letter or 1 drops out in the imperfect form: KYN, [NN.

lm	perfect	Perfect	Participle	Root	
	יֶּאֶהַב	אָהַב	אוֹהֵב	א־ה־ב	love
	יאכַל	אָכַל	אוֹכֵל	א־כ־ל	eat
	יאבֵור	אָמֵר	אוֹמֵר	א־מ־ר	say
	יִבְחַר	خُتار	בּוֹחֵר	ב־ח־ר	choose
	יִבְרָא	בָּרָא	בּוֹרֵא	ב־ר־א	create
	יִהְנֶה	تِرْت	-	ה־י־ה	be
	יִזְכּר	זָכַר	זוֹכֵר	ז־כ־ר	remember
irregular imperfect— { oot letter ' missing)	נֵצֵא	ίξη	יוֹצֵא	י־צ־א	go out
	יִמְלֹךְ	בָּלַרְ	מוֹלֵך	מ-ל-ך	rule
irregular imperfect— { oot letter 1 missing)	יִתֵּן	<u>ڊ</u> ٰٽرا	נוֹתֵן	נ־ת־ן	give
	יַעַזר	עָזֵר	עוֹוֵר	ע־ז־ר	help
	יַעֲשֶׂה	עָשָׂה	עוֹשֶׂה	ע־שׂ־ה	make, do
	יִרְבָּא	רָפָּא	רוֹפֵא	ר־פ־א	heal
	יִשְׁמֵע	שָׁמֵע	שומע	ש־מ־ע	hear
	ישמר	שָׁמֵר	שומר	ש־מ־ר	guard, kee

Translating Tenses

The biblical Hebrew participle, perfect, and imperfect verb forms do not correspond exactly to our English present, past, and future tenses. Moreover, the absence of a Hebrew verb in a biblical verse does not necessarily signify the present tense. When translating biblical Hebrew into English, the tense must be determined by the context. The following examples come from this unit's Torah Study Text.

Torah Study Text with Building Blocks

Following is this unit's Torah Study Text, Genesis 1:1–5, reprinted with the new Building Blocks highlighted. Reread this text, noting the appearance of perfect and imperfect verbs, with and without the reversing *vav*. A translation is provided below for only the highlighted Building Blocks. Remember that there could be other possible translations. For a translation of the entire passage, refer back to Chapter 1.

יְּבְּרֵאשִׁית בָּרָא אֱלֹהִים אֵת הַשָּׁמִיִם וְאֵת הָאֶרֶץ: 'וְהָאֶרֶץ הָיְתָה תְּהוֹ וְרְוֹחֵ אֱלֹהִים מְרַחֲפֶּת עַל־פְּנֵי תְהוֹם וְרְוֹחֵ אֱלֹהִים מְרַחֲפֶּת עַל־פְּנֵי תְהוֹם וְרְוֹחֵ אֱלֹהִים מְרַחֲפֶּת עַל־פְּנֵי תְהוֹם וְרְוֹחֵ אֱלֹהִים מְרַא אֱלֹהִים אֶת־ הָמִיֹר כִּי־טוֹב וַיִּבְּדֵּל אֱלֹהִים בֵּין הָאוֹר וּבֵין הַחְשֶׁךְ: 'ּוַיִּקְרָא הָיֹלְהִים בָּין הָאוֹר וּבֵין הַחְשֶׁךְ: 'וַיְּקְרָא אֱלֹהִים לָאוֹר יוֹם וְלַחְשֶׁךְ קָרָא לְיְלָה וַיְהִי-עֶרֶב וַיְהִי-בְּעֶרְ עֵּרֶב וַיְהִי-בְעֶרְ בְּיֶרְא בְּיִבְּיֹה וְשִׁרְּ לָּרָא לְיִלָה וַיְהִי-עֶרֶב וַיְהִיּי-בְעֶרְ וּחַ וְלַחְשֶׁךְ קָרָא לְיִלָה וַיְהִי-עֶרֶב וַיְהִיּי-בְעֶרְב וְיְהִיּרְי-בְעֶרְב וְיְהִיּי-בְעֶרְב וְיְהִיּי-בְּעֶרְב וְיִהְיּי בְּחָשְׁךְ קְרָא לְיִלְה וַיְהִיּי בְּחָשׁךְ בְּרָא בְיִיהְיּה בְּיִבְּיִה בְּיִהְיּה בְּיִרְהִי בְּיִבְּיִה וְחִשְׁךְ בְּרָא בְּיִבְּיִה וְיִהְיִי בְּיִהְיִים בְּחִשְׁרְ קָרָא לְיִלְה וַיְיְהִיּי-בְּיִהְיִב בְּיִהְיִים בְּחִשְׁרְ בְּרָא בְּיִבְיִה בְּיִהְיִי בְּיִהְיִים בְּחִשְׁרְ בְּרָא בְּיִבְיִים בְּשְׁבְיִים בְּיִהְיִים בְּיִהְיִים בְּיִהְיִים בְּיִבְּבְיִם בְּיִבְּיִים בְּעְתְּב וְנִיהְיִים בְּיִרְוֹם וְלְחְשֶׁךְ בְּבְיִתְ בְּיִבְיּתְ בְּיִיתְיִים וְבִּבְיִים בְּיִבְּיִים בְּנִיתְיִים בְּיִבְיִים בְּיִבְּיִבְיִים בְּיִבְיִים בְּיִבְּיִים בְּיִבְּבְּבִיּל בְּיִים בְּיִבְּיִים וְבִייְ הָהְשִּיְם בְּיִבְּיִים בְּיִבְּיִים בְּיִבְיִים בְּיִיתְיִים בְּיִיבְּיִים בְּיִבְיִים בְּיִים בְּבְיִים בְּיִרְים בְּיִבְּיִים בְּיִבְיִים בְּיִים בְּיִבְיִים בְּיִים בְּיִבְיִים בְּיִים בְּיִבְּיִים בְּיִבְּיִים בְּיִבְיִים בְּעִבְּיִים בְּיִבְיִים בְּתְבְּיִים בְּיִבְיִים בְּיִבְיִים בְּיִים בְּיִיּים בְּיִבְּיִים בְּיִים בְּיִבְּיִּבְיי בְּבְיִים בְּבִּייִים בְּיוֹים בְּיִבְיִים בְּיִיבְיִים בְּיִבְיִים בְּיִבְייִים בְּיִבְּיִים בְּיִים בְּיִבְּיִים בְּיִים בְּיוֹים בְּיִבְיים בְּיִים בְּיִבְּיִים בְּיוֹבְיב בְּיִבְיים בְּיוֹים בְּיוֹבְיי בְּיוּבְיי בְּיִבְיי בְּיוֹים בְּיוֹים בְּיוֹים בְּיִבְיי בְיוֹים בְּיוֹים בְּיִים בְּיוֹים בְּיוֹם בְּיִבְיִי בְּיִבְיי בְּיוֹים בְּיִבְּיי בְּיִבְּיִים בְּיִבְּיִים בְּיִבְּיִים בְּיִבְּי

3. From the Torah Service (biblical phrases)—This passage from the beginning of the Torah Service is a composite of biblical phrases from Psalm 10:16—יָנָ מֶלֶר Psalm 93:1—יְנָ מֶלֶר לְעלֶם וָעֶר אָלֶם וָעֶר Psalm 93:1—יִנְ מָלֶר לְעלֶם וָעֶר בְּשָׁלוֹם Psalm 29:11 יִנְ יִבְרֵך אֶת עַמוֹ בַשָּׁלוֹם The verse Psalm 29:11 is also included at the end of the הַרְבַּת הַמְּזוֹן, the Blessing after Meals.

The root 7^{-5} appears as a perfect and imperfect verb, as well as a noun. The roots 7^{-3} and 7^{-3} also appear as imperfect verbs.

strength

עז

יָיָ מֶלֶךְ, יְיָ מָלֶךְ, יְיָ יִמְלֹךְ לְעֹלֶם וָעֶד. יְיָ עוֹ לְעַמוֹ יִתֵּן, יְיָ יְבָרֵךְ אֶת עַמוֹ בַשָּׁלוֹם.

4. אָבֶּינוֹ (Zechariah 14:9)—This is the last line of the אָבִינוֹ prayer, quoting from the prophet Zechariah. The end of the אָבִינוֹ expresses a vision of a future time when the whole world will revere the Eternal One. The root און appears both as an imperfect verb and as a perfect verb with a reversing vav.

and it has been said (verb from the root רוב און אינון)

on that day

one

— רוב אינון ביינון ביינו

וְנֶאֲמַר, וְהָיָה יִיָּ לְמֶלֶך עַל כָּל הָאָרֶץ, בַּיּוֹם הַהוּא יִהְיֶה יִיָּ אֶחָר, וּשְׁמוֹ אֶחָר:

Additional Reading and Translation Practice

Translate the following excerpts from the Bible and the prayer book, using the extra vocabulary words provided. Other words were introduced in this chapter or in *Aleph Isn't Enough* and are included in the Glossary at the end of this book. Check your translations against the English translations that follow.

heights	, - · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	קרוֹמִים קרוֹמִים
[all of you] say (a plural command form)	_	אָמְרוּ

עשֶׁה שָׁלוֹם בִּמְרוֹמָיו, הוּא יַצְשֶׂה שָׁלוֹם, עָלֵינוּ וְעַל כָּל יִשְׂרָאֵל, וְאִמְרוּ אָמֵן:

2. From אַרוֹן עוֹלְם This well-known hymn in praise of God is sung at the conclusion of Shabbat and holiday services. It consists of ten lines, often melodically divided into five verses.

Following is the second verse. The root 7-5-12 appears as an imperfect verb; the root appears as both a perfect and imperfect verb.

after	_	אַדְורֵי
ending	_	בְּבְלוֹת
alone, by himself	_	לְבַדּוֹ
awesome	_	נוֹרָא
is present, exists, is		הנֶה
splendor, glory	_	תִפְאָרָה

וְאַחֲרֵי בִּכְלוֹת הַכּּל, לְבַדּוֹ יִמְלֹךְ נוֹרָא. וְהוֹא הָיָה, וְהוֹא הֹוֶה, וְהוֹא יִהְיֶה, בְּתִפְאָרָה.

in it (preposition \(\bar{1} \) with \(\bar{1} \), "him" or "it" ending)	_	בו
to do, to make (from the root		לעשות

יַנְיְכָלוּ הַשָּׁמִיִם וְהָאֶרֶץ וְכָל־צְבָאָם: יַנְיְכֵל אֱלֹהִים בַּיּוֹם הַשְּׁבִיעִי מְלַאכְתוֹ אֲשֶׁר עָשָׂה וַיִּשְׁבֹּת בַּיּוֹם הַשְּׁבִיעִי מִכָּל־מְלַאכְתוֹ אֲשֶׁר עָשָׂה: יַנִיְבֶרֶךְ אֱלֹהִים אֶת־יוֹם הַשְּׁבִיעִי וַיְקַדֵּשׁ אֹתוֹ, כִּי בוֹ שָׁבַת מִכָּל־מְלַאכְתוֹ אֲשֶׁר בָּרָא אֱלֹהִים לַעֲשׁוֹת:

Translations

- 1. עֵּשְׁה שִׁלוֹם —Maker of peace in God's {His} heights, may God {He} make peace upon us and upon all Israel, and [all of you] say: Amen.
- 2. From עוֹלֶם —And after the ending of all (everything), alone awesome God (He) will reign. And God (He) was, and God (He) is, and God (He) will be, in splendor.
- 3. From the Torah Service (biblical phrases)—The Eternal is Ruler, the Eternal has ruled, the Eternal will rule {may the Eternal rule, let the Eternal rule} forever and ever. The Eternal will give {May the Eternal give, Let the Eternal give} strength to God's {His} people; the Eternal will bless {may the Eternal bless, let the Eternal bless} God's {His} people with peace.
- 4. אָבֶּוֹלְ (Zechariah 14:9)—And it has been said, "The Eternal will be Sovereign over all the earth; on that day, the Eternal will be One and God's {His} name One."
- 5. Blessing for Sons (from Genesis 48:20) and Daughters—May God make you like Ephraim and like Manasseh. May God make you like Sarah, Rebekah, Rachel, and Leah.
- 6. Genesis 2:1–3—And the heavens and the earth were finished and all their array. And God finished on the seventh day God's {His} work that God {He} did {had done}. And God {He} rested on the seventh day from all God's {His} work that God {He} did {had done}. And God blessed the seventh day and made it holy, because in it God {He} rested from all God's {His} work that God created to do.

5. Blessing for Sons (from Genesis 48:20) and Daughters—When the biblical patriarch Jacob is on his deathbed, his son Joseph brings his own two sons, Ephraim and Manasseh, to their grandfather for a blessing. The blessing said by Jewish parents to their sons on Shabbat and holidays comes from Jacob's words to his grandsons in Genesis 48:20. The parallel blessing for daughters is also included below.

(imperfect verb)	make —	יָשִׁים	
you (feminine ending)	_	ו	
	בָּאֶפְרַיִם וְכִמְנַשֶּׁה.	שִׁמְךּ אֱלֹהִים	יִע
	בְּשָׂרָה רִבְקָה רָחֵל וְלֵאָה.	שמר אֱלהים	יִּע

6. Genesis 2:1–3—This is the biblical account of the seventh day of Creation, the day of rest. This passage is included in the Shabbat evening service. Some chant this passage preceding the Shabbat evening לְּדְרֹּנִי, Kiddush, the blessing over wine.

and [they] were finished (imperfect versing vav)	erb —	וַיְכָלּוּ
their array	_	גٰכָאָם
and [he] finished (imperfect verb with reversing vav)		וַיְכַל
seventh	wan	שְׁבִיעִי
work, labor	_	מְלָאכָה
imperfect verb with reversing vav from the root $\Pi^- \Pi^- U$, rest	_	וַיִּשְׁבִּת
imperfect verb with reversing vav from the root \\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\		֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓֓
imperfect verb with reversing vav fr the root ゼニュー, make holy	om —	<i>ב</i> ּיְקַדִּ <i>שׁ</i>
it (direct object marker \(\mathbb{N} \mathbb{N} \) with "him" or "it" ending)	1, —	אתו
because		בָּי

	אָגַרְונוּ זוֹכְרִים אֶת פְּנֵי בְּנֵינוּפְּנֵי הַבָּנִים קְדוֹשׁוֹת
.d	אָמַע אֶת הַרְוּחַ וְאֶת הַמֵּיִם.
	ַוּיִשְׁמֵע הַנָּבִיא אֶת דְבַר הָאֵל. וַיִּשְׁמֵע הָאָב וַיִּזְכּר אֶת דִּבְרֵי הַבְּרִית.
	הַבְּלִים וְהוּא יִזְכּר
	הַמֶּלֶךְ יִבְחַר בְּמַלְאָךְ הַמַּלְאָךְ יֹאמַר דִּבְרֵי צֶדֶק מִי יִשְׁמַע אֶת הָאֱמֶת? מִי יַצַשֶּׁה אֶת הַמִּצְוֹת?
.f	בַּיוֹם אֵין חְשֶׁךְ וּבַלֵּילָה אֵין אוֹר אֱלֹהִים בָּרָא אֶת הָאוֹר וְאֶת הַחְשֶׁךְ
	ַ ַוִּיְּבָרָא הָאֵל אֶת חַיֵּיִנוּ וְאֶת נַפְשׁוֹתִינוּ.
	יִבְרָא הָאֵל רְפוּאָה לְכָל הַחוֹלִים.
.g	הָיָה שָׁלוֹם בֵּין יִשְׂרָאֵל וּבֵין מִצְרֵיִם.
	יִהְיֶה שָׁלוֹם בֵּין כָּל הַגּוֹיִים.

Exercises

1. Identify the root of each of the following verbs and whether it is a perfect, imperfect, or participle form.

Form	Root	Verb	Form	Root	Verb
		ַנָּצָא _			_ נוֹתֵן
		יְוְבֹר			ــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ
		ַ יֹאמֵר			_ אָדַב
		_ אוֹמֵר			
		ַ יַעֲזוֹר			ַיַעֲשֶׂה יאבַל _
		בוחר ב			ַ יִהְנֶה
		ַרָפָּא			עַזַר
		מָלַךְ			שומר _

2.	Read and translate the following groups of sentences. Remember that the prefix vav can
	reverse the tense of a verb. Check your translations against those that follow.

הוא אָמַר: ״שָׁלוֹם עֲלֵיכֶם.״ וַיְּאמֶר משָׁה: ״עֲלֵיכֶם שָׁלוֹם.״ _ כָּל הָעָם יאמַר: ״הַלְלוּיָה.״ אָנוּ אוֹמְרִים: ״שַׁבָּת שָׁלוֹם.״ _	.a
אַבְרָהָם אָכַל לֶחֶם בָּעֶרֶב הָאִמָּהוֹת אוֹכְלוֹת בַּלֵּילָה יַעֲקֹב יֹאכַל פְּרִי בַּבְּקֶׁר וַיֹּאכַל יִצְחָק מֵצָה כָּל יוֹם	.b
ַ הָאָדוֹן זָכַר אֶת פְּנֵי עַבְדוֹ.	.c

וַיִּוְכֹּר הָאָב אֶת פְּנֵי בְּנוֹ.

[There] will/may be peace {Let/May [there] be peace, Peace will/may be, Let/May peace be} between/among all the nations/peoples.

[There] will/may be peace {Let/May [there] be peace, Peace will/may be, Let/May peace be} between/among all the families of the earth.

May/Let [there] be peace {May/Let peace be} in the world.

	ָהָאֲדָמָה.	מִשְׁפְּחוֹת	בֿק	בֵּין	שָׁלוֹם	וְדָיָה
--	-------------	--------------	-----	-------	---------	---------

יָהִי שַׁלוֹם בַּעוֹלָם.

Translations

a. He said/did say/was saying/had said/has said: "Peace [be] upon you."

And Moses said/did say/was saying, "Upon you, peace."

All the nation/people will say/may say {May/Let all the nation/people say}: "Halleluyah."

We say/are saying/do say, "Shabbat shalom {a Sabbath of peace}."

b. Abraham ate/did eat/was eating/had eaten/has eaten bread in the evening.

The mothers are eating/do eat/eat in the night {at night}.

Jacob will/may eat {Let/May Jacob eat} a fruit in the morning.

Isaac ate/did eat/was eating/had eaten/has eaten matzah every day.

c. The lord/ruler remembered/did remember/was remembering/had remembered/has remembered the face of his slave/servant.

The father remembered/did remember/was remembering the face of his son/child.

We remember/are remembering/do remember the faces of our sons/children.

The faces of the sons/children are holy.

d. The prophet heard/did hear/was hearing/had heard/has heard the wind and the water.

The prophet heard/did hear/was hearing the word of God.

The father heard/did hear/was hearing and remembered/did remember/was remembering the words of the covenant.

The son/child will hear/may hear {Let/May the son/child hear} the words and he will/may remember {and let him/may he remember}.

e. The sovereign/king will/may choose {Let/May the sovereign/king choose} a messenger.

The messenger will/may say {Let/May the messenger say} words of justice/righteousness.

Who will/may hear the truth?

Who will/may do the mitzvot/commandments?

f. In the day {by day} there is no darkness and in the night {by night, at night} there is no light.

God created/did create/was creating/had created/has created the light and the darkness.

God created/did create/has created our lives and our souls.

God will/may create {May/Let God create} healing for all the sick.

g. [There] was/had been/has been peace {Peace was/had been/has been} between/among Israel and Egypt.

Translating the Torah Study Text

Following is our Torah Study Text, Genesis 4:1–5 and 4:8–10, reprinted with a literal translation underneath each word. Using your knowledge of the building blocks of the Hebrew language and the meanings of the words provided below, translate this passage into clear English sentences. Write your translation on the lines following the text. This selection includes some grammatical forms and vocabulary that have not yet been introduced. You will need to rely, in part, on the translations provided.

Genesis 4:1-5

אֶת־קִין Kayin (Cain)	and she bore	בהר ב e and s concei	he his	· · wife C	<mark>אֶת־חַרָּוּ</mark> hava Eve)	יָדע knew	וְהָאָרָם and the man
לֶלֶדֶת to give birth to bear	/ she co	רְתְּכִי ntinued/ t did again	יְהֹנְה: he Eternal	קת־ with	איש man	קָנְיתִי I acquired	וְתְאׁמֶר and she said
וְקָיִן and Kayin (Cain)	צאן flocks	רְעֵה shepherd	הֶבֶּל Hevel (Abel)	מֵיְהֵיֹר and [he was/beca	-	rel v	אֶת־אָחִיוּ his prother
I?? Kayin (Cain)	וְיָבֵא [he] brought	יָמִים days	מקץ	נְיְהֵי and it we happene		h/ work	* *
he also	-	בֶל הֵב ght and l	7	ליהו the c	מְנְחָּד Offering/	ָדְמָה the	מְפְרִי ז from

Eternal

gift

(Abel)

fruit

earth/ground



Torah Study Text: Genesis 4:1-5, 8-10

The first three chapters of Genesis provide accounts of the creation of the world, the creation of the first man and woman, and their expulsion from the Garden of Eden. In the beginning of chapter 4, verses 1–10, the Torah presents the narrative of the first two brothers, Cain and Abel, and the first fratricide. In our Torah Study Text selection, verses 6 and 7, containing God's initial words to Cain, have been omitted from the passage in order to shorten it.

As with the last Torah Study Text, this passage contains many words, Hebrew roots, and grammatical concepts that have not yet been introduced. Read the Hebrew below to see how many of the words you can recognize. Underline or circle the words, roots, endings, and prefixes that you already know.

Genesis 4:1-5

יְנְהָאָדָם יָדֵע אֶת־חַנָּה אִשְׁתּוֹ וַתַּהַר וַתֵּלֶד אֶת־קֵין וַתְּאֹמֶר קָנְיתִי אישׁ אֶת־יְהֹנָה: יַנִתְּטֶף לָלֶדֶת אֶת־אָחִיוּ אֶת־הֶבֶל וַיְהִי־הֶבֶל רְעֵה צֹאן וְקֵין הָיָה עֹבֵד אֲדָמָה: יְוְהֶבֶל הֵבִיא גַם־הוּא מִבְּכרוֹת צֹאנוֹ וּמֵחֶלְבֵהֶן וַיִּשְׁע יְהֹנָה אֶל־הֶבֶל וְאֶל־מִנְחָתוֹ: יְּוֹאֶל־קֵין וְאֶל־מִנְחָתוֹ לֹא שָׁעָה וַיִּחַר לְקַיִן מְאֹד וַיִּפְּלוּ פָּנָיו:

Genesis 4:8-10

יַנְיִאמֶר קֵוּן אֶל־הֶבֶל אָחִיו וַיְהִי בִּהְיוֹתָם בַּשָּׂדֶה וַיָּקֶם קֵוּן אֶל־הֶבֶל אָחִיו וַיִּהִי בִּהְיוֹתָם בַּשָּׂדֶה וַיָּקֶם קֵוּן אֶל־הֶבֶל אָחִיו וַיְּהִי אָלִרְהִי יִּנְיְאמֶר מֶה עָשִׂיתָ קוֹל דְּמֵי אָחִיךּ יִנְיְאמֶר מֶה עָשִׂיתָ קוֹל דְּמֵי אָחִיךּ צֹעֲקִים אֵלַי מִן-הָאַדָּמָה:

קּנְכִי: יוֹנְיִאמֶר מֶה עָשִיתָ קוֹל דְמֵי אָחִיךְ צעַקים cry out your bloods of voice/ you have what and he brother sound done said

אַלִי מִן־ הָאַדָּמָה:

the earth/ground from to me

Compare your translation of Genesis 4:1–5, 8–10 with the Torah translations below. Remember that verses 6 and 7, containing God's initial words to Cain, were omitted from our Torah Study Text in order to shorten the passage. They are, however, included in the English translations that follow.

¹Now the man knew his wife Eve, and she conceived and bore Cain, saying, "I have gained a male child with the help of the LORD." ²She then bore his brother Abel. Abel became a keeper of sheep, and Cain became a tiller of the soil. ³In the course of time, Cain brought an offering to the LORD from the fruit of the soil; ⁴and Abel, for his part, brought the choicest of the firstlings of his flock. The LORD paid heed to Abel and his offering, ⁶but to Cain and his offering He paid no heed. Cain was much distressed and his face fell. ⁶And the LORD said to Cain,

"Why are you distressed,

And why is your face fallen?

'Surely, if you do right,

There is uplift.

But if you do not do right

Sin crouches at the door;

Its urge is toward you,

Yet you can be its master."

*Cain said to his brother Abel...and when they were in the field, Cain set upon his brother Abel and killed him. 'The LORD said to Cain, "Where is your brother Abel!" And he said, "I do not know. Am I my brother's keeper!" 'Then He said, "What have you done! Hark, your brother's blood cries out to Me from the ground!"

JPS Hebrew-English Tanakh: The Traditional Hebrew Text and the New JPS Translation—2d Ed. Philadelphia: The Jewish Publication Society, 1999.

ומחלבהן צאנו יהוה מבכרות to/toward the and [he] turned and from their his flock from Eternal to/gazed at fat/choicest part firstborn מְנְחַתוֹ: קין מנחתו his offering/ and Kayin but toward his offering/ and Hevel gift (Cain) gift (Abel) toward toward ויפלו קין לא מאד פַנַיו: שעה his face and fell Kayin and was angry/ very/ turn to/ not exceedingly (Cain) distressed gaze at Genesis 4:8-10 בִּהִיוֹתַם קין בשדה אחיו in the field when they and it was/ his Hevel to Kayin and [he] brother (Abel) (Cain) said happened were הַבַל קיו וַיַּקַם יהוה יַנִיּאמֵר° וַיַּהַרְגֵהוּ: אחיו and [he] Kayin and the and he killed his Hevel against brother (Cain) Eternal said him (Abel) arose קין אי Hevel where Kayin and he your to guard/ I knew not my

(Cain)

(Abel)

brother

said

brother

keeper

but if you do not intend good, at the entrance is sin, a crouching-demon, toward you his lust but you can rule over him.

⁸Kayin said to Hevel his brother...
But then it was, when they were out in the field that Kayin rose up against Hevel his brother and he killed him.

⁹YHWH said to Kayin:
Where is Hevel your brother?
He said:
I do not know. Am I the watcher of my brother?

¹⁰Now he said:

What have you done!

A sound—your brother's blood cries out to me from the soil!

THE FIVE BOOKS OF MOSES: A NEW TRANSLATION WITH INTRODUCTIONS, COMMENTARY, AND NOTES BY EVERETT FOX. NEW YORK: SCHOCKEN BOOKS, 1995.

And the man knew Havva his wife; and she conceived, and bore Qayin saying, I have acquired a manchild from the LORD. And she again bore, his brother Hevel. And Hevel was a keeper of sheep, but Qayin was a tiller of the ground. And in process of time it came to pass, that Qayin brought of the fruit of the ground an offering to the LORD. And Hevel, he also brought of the firstlings of his flock and of the fat parts thereof. And the LORD had respect to Hevel and to his offering: but to Qayin and to his offering he had not respect. And Qayin was very angry, and his face fell. And the LORD said to Qayin, Why art thou angry? and why art thou crestfallen? If thou doest well, shalt thou not be accepted? and if thou doest not well, sin crouches at the door, and to thee shall be his desire. Yet thou mayst rule over him. And Qayin talked with Hevel his brother: and it came to pass, when they were in the field, that Qayin rose up against Hevel his brother, and slew him. And the LORD said to Qayin, Where is Hevel thy brother? And he said, I know not: am I my brother's keeper? And he said, What hast thou done? the voice of thy brother's blood cries to me from the ground.

THE JERUSALEM BIBLE, PUBLISHED FOR THE NAHUM ZEEV WILLIAMS FAMILY FOUNDATION AT HECHAL SHLOMO, JERUSALEM. JERUSALEM: KOREN PUBLISHERS JERUSALEM LTD., 1969.

¹Now the man had known his wife Eve, and she conceived and bore Cain, saying, "I have acquired a man with HASHEM." ²And additionally she bore his brother Abel. Abel became a shepherd, and Cain became a tiller of the ground.

³After a period of time, Cain brought an offering to Hashem of the fruit of the ground; ⁴and as for Abel, he also brought of the firstlings of his flock and from their choicest. HASHEM turned to Abel and his offering, ⁵but to Cain and to his offering He did not turn. This annoyed Cain exceedingly, and his countenance fell.

⁶And Hashem said to Cain, "Why are you annoyed, and why has your countenance fallen? ⁷Surely, if you improve yourself, you will be forgiven. But if you do not improve yourself, sin rests at the door. Its desire is toward you, yet you can conquer it."

⁸Cain spoke with his brother Abel. And it happened when they were in the field, that Cain rose up against his brother Abel and killed him.

'Hashem said to Cain, "Where is Abel your brother!"

And he said, "I do not know. Am I my brother's keeper?"

¹⁰Then He said, "What have you done? The blood of your brother cries out to Me from the ground!"

THE CHUMASH, ARTSCROLL SERIES, STONE EDITION. BROOKLYN: MESORAH PUBLICATIONS, 1993.

¹The human knew Havva his wife,

she became pregnant and bore Kayin.

She said:

Kaniti/I-have-gotten

a man, as has YHWH!

²She continued bearing—his brother, Hevel.

Now Hevel became a shepherd of flocks, and Kayin became a worker of the soil.

³It was, after the passing of days

that Kayin brought, from the fruit of the soil, a gift to YHWH,

and as for Hevel, he too brought—from the firstborn of his flock, from their fat-parts.

YHWH had regard for Hevel and his gift,

⁵for Kayin and his gift he had no regard.

Kayin became exceedingly upset and his face fell.

'YHWH said to Kayin:

Why are you so upset! Why has your face fallen!

⁷Is it not thus:

If you intend good, bear-it-aloft,

CHAPTER 3

26

And he said: I knew not

וַיְאמֶר לא יָדְעְתִי

As verse 1 illustrates, the root "" can imply having sexual relations.

The following words, both ancient and modern, are derived from the root y^{-7} . The root letter ' drops out in some words formed from this root.

knowledge, view, opinion	_	דָעָה
knowledge, discernment, understanding	_	קעת
in the Bible: knowledge, thought; in modern Hebrew: science	_	מַדָּע
scientific		מַדָּעִי
scientist		מַדְעָן
known, certain	_	יָדְוּעַ
knowledge, news, information		יְדִיעָה
latest news (name of an Israeli newspaper)	_	יְדִיעוֹת אַדְרוֹנוֹת
bulletin		יְדִיעוֹן
herald, informant, announcer, correspondent	_	מוֹדְיעַ
information, intelligence (as in "mi intelligence")	ilitary —	מוֹדִיעִין
in the Bible: kinsman; in modern E acquaintance, friend	Hebrew:	מוֹדָע
conscious, conscious mind	_	מוּדָע
notice, announcement, advertisement	_	מוֹדֶעָה



The basic meaning of the root \(\frac{7}{2}\) is "work" or "serve." Words relating to both labor and to religious service are derived from this root.

slave, servant	_	עֶבֶּד
work, labor; service, worship	_	עֲבוֹדָה
prayer {worship that is in the heart}		עֲבוֹדָה שֶׁבַּלֵּב

Vocabulary

Locate each of the following words in the Torah Study Text: Genesis 4:1-5, 8-10.

human being, man, humankind m		אָדָם
woman, wife f		אָשָׁה
man m	_	אָיש
brother m		אָרו
to, toward		אָל
no, not	-	לא
sound, voice m	Manager	קוֹל
blood m		דָּם

Notes on the Vocabulary

- 1. The Hebrew word DJK can mean either "human being" (male or female, as in Genesis 1:27) or "humankind." When it refers to a single male human being, such as the first adam, it can be translated as "man." It has also become the male name "Adam." The word WK means "man" as opposed to JWK, "woman."
- 2. The word אָלְשׁים, has an irregular plural form, אַנְשִׁים, which can be translated as "men" or "people." The word אָלָשׁים, has an irregular plural form, בְּשִׁים, "women," and an irregular word pair form, אַעָּאַ, meaning "woman of/wife of." All these forms are included in the glossary.
- 3. Hebrew prepositions, such as the word 5%, do not always translate consistently into English. (For example, in verse 8 of our Torah Study Text, Cain rises up 5%, "against," Abel.)
- 4. Di, "blood," is the first of the Ten Plagues of the Exodus story, enumerated at the Passover seder.



The basic meaning of the root y^{-1} is "know." This root follows the participle pattern, with a slight variation in vowels caused by the final root letter y. The following are the four participle forms:

The root "Torah Study Text:" appears twice in this chapter's Torah Study Text:

(verse 1)

And the man knew Chava his wife and she conceived

וְהָאָדָם יָדַע אֶת־חַנָּה אִשְׁתּוֹ וַתִּהַר

The Preposition TN

In Chapter 4 of Aleph Isn't Enough, we introduced the word $\prod_{k=1}^{\infty}$ as the untranslatable direct object marker. The word $\prod_{k=1}^{\infty}$ (or $\prod_{k=1}^{\infty}$) is also used as a preposition meaning "with." It is used as a preposition much less frequently than as the direct object marker. Such usage does, however, appear in our Torah Study Text in verse 1:

She said: I have acquired a בְּתְאֹמֶר קָנְיִתִי אִישׁ אֶת־ man with the Eternal. – יְהֹנָה:

This usage of the word TX is the basis of the second Torah Commentary cited below.



Verse 1 does not begin בְּלֵע עֹרָ, with a reversing vav. Instead, it uses a verb without a reversing vav: עָרָע יָרָע, implying that this action is background information and not part of the continuing narrative sequence: "The man had known {had sexual relations with} his wife."

Thus, Rashi asserts that sexual relations, pregnancy, and childbirth were part of the couple's prior life in the Garden of Eden, a view in opposition to the notion that sexuality only entered the world as a result of Adam and Eve's sin and expulsion from the Garden.

RASHI ON GENESIS 4:1

The Torah only records the birth of sons to Adam and Eve, but how could the human race have continued without the birth of daughters? If, in the following excerpts from verses 1 and 2, the word אָל is regarded as the preposition "with," then it implies that other children, possibly daughters, were also born: "מַלֶּיל אָרִיקְילִן "and she gave birth with Cain", יוֹתְּטֶּף לְּטֶׁדֶרת אֶת־אָחִיוֹ אֶת־הָבֶּל, "and she added/increased to give birth with his brother, with Abel."

אָת בְּרֵר וַתְּלֶּר אֶת־קְיִן, and she conceived and she bore אָת (with) Cain. Rabbi Yehoshua ben Korchah said: Two people went into the bed and seven came out of it: Cain and his twin sister, Abel and his two twin sisters.

B'REISHIT RABBAH 22:3

In verse 10, the plural word-pair form אָבְיִי, "bloods of," appears, instead of the singular דַּבָּי, "blood (of)."

Rabbi Yudan said: אָחִיך, "the blood of your brother," is not written here, but

idol worship, idolatry {alien worship}		עֲבוֹרָה זָרָה
servitude, bondage	_	עַבְדוּת
Obadiah ("servant of God," name of		
a prophet)		עבַדיָה
workable	_	עָבִיד
employer		מַעֲבִיד
laboratory	_	מַעְבָּדָה

The root Tay follows the participle pattern. The following are the four participle forms:

The root Taby appears once in our Torah Study Text:

(verse 2)

and Cain was a worker of the earth/ground

וְקַין הָיָה עבר אֲדָמָה

Building Blocks

More on the Reversing Vav

The reversing *vav* is generally used in biblical Hebrew to indicate sequential, continuing action. A string of verbs with reversing *vav*s indicates a series of actions that occur one after the other. The verbs in the following example, from verse 1, are feminine forms that will be introduced in the next chapter.

And she conceived and she bore Cain וַתַּבֶּר וַתֵּלֶד אֶת־קֵין and she said – נַתְּאֹמֶר

Hence, it is possible to translate the reversing *vav* using other words besides "and" that indicate sequential action, such as "then" or "now" or "so."

The absence of a reversing vav in a passage can have a subtle nuance. If there is a verb without a reversing vav among a string of verbs with reversing vavs, it implies an action that is not part of the narrative sequence, but is a kind of aside or parenthetical statement providing additional background information. For an example of this, see the Torah Commentary on verse 1 below.

30

Exercises

- 1. Make flash cards for each of the new vocabulary words and Hebrew roots introduced in this chapter, or use the flash card set published as a companion to this book. Review the cards to learn all of them.
- 2. Draw a line connecting each Hebrew word to its English translation. For some words, there can be more than one correct translation.

not	אָשָה
man	אל
wife	•
sound	אִישׁ
to	ليني
woman	לוו ל
no	דם
human being	▼
brother	אָדָם
voice	לא
toward	
blood	Пķ

3. The following are singular and plural forms of nouns introduced as vocabulary in this chapter. Both $\dot{\mathcal{W}}$ and $\ddot{\mathcal{W}}$ have irregular plural forms, listed here and in the Glossary. Draw a line connecting each plural noun to its singular form. Translate both into English.

אָישׁ נְשִׁים דָם אָחִים אָשָׁה אֲנָשִׁים אָשָׁה דָמִים קוֹל דָמִים אָח קוֹלוֹת

B'REISHIT RABBAH 22:21

The idea that a killer kills not only the victim, but also all the unborn potential offspring of that victim, is also stated in the Talmud. In the following passage, the witnesses in a capital case are warned to give careful testimony, because the life of the accused as well as the lives of all possible future offspring are at stake.

How did they admonish the witnesses in capital cases? They brought them in and admonished them,... "You must know that capital cases are not like monetary cases. In cases concerning property, a person may pay money and make atonement, but in capital cases, the witness is answerable for the blood of the one [who is wrongly condemned] and the blood of [that person's potential] descendants to the end of the world. For thus we find with Cain, who killed his brother, as it is written: "דְּמֵל אָחֶיךְ צוֹעַקִים, "the bloods of your brother cry out." It does not say: אַחִיךְ "the blood of your brother," his blood and the blood of his descendants.... Therefore a single person was created alone, to teach you that anyone who destroys a single soul, Scripture accounts it as if having destroyed an entire world. And whoever saves a single soul, Scripture accounts it as if having saved an entire world.

MISHNAH SANHEDRIN 4:5; BT SANHEDRIN 37A



A Modern Poem
with a Biblical
Theme An exc

Modern Hebrew writers have a rich 3,000-year literary tradition upon which to draw in their work. Biblical phrases, fragments of texts, and allusions to familiar stories all find their way into contemporary Hebrew poetry, illuminating contemporary concerns.

An excellent example is provided by the following poem, written by the Israeli poet Dan Pagis.

Dan Pagis was born in 1930 in Bukovina. He spent several years in a concentration camp during World War II and came to Israel (then Palestine) in 1946. The biblical narrative of fratricide in Genesis 4 provides the backdrop to the following Holocaust poem by Pagis:

Written in pencil in the sealed freight car

Here in this transport
am I, Eve,
with Abel, my son.
If you see my older son

Cain son of Adam [or: Cain, human being],

tell him that I

בָתוּב בְּעִפָּרוֹן בַּקָּרוֹן הֶחָתוּם

בָּאן בַּמִּשְׁלְוֹחַ הַזֶּה אֲנִי חַוָּה עם הֶבֶל בְּנִי אָם תִּרְאוּ אֶת בְּנִי הַגָּדוֹל קַיִן בָּן אָדָם תִּנִידוּ לוֹ שׁאוי

ל מַיִם	.b קוֹ		שְמַת אָדָם
ל הָעָם	קוֹ		ַ בְרֵי אָדָם
ל שוֹפָר	קוֹ		_ ם הָאָדָם
ל אָדָם	קוֹ		אָדָם
אַדָם	<u></u>	וַדָם	ּצְשֵׂה יְדֵי אָ
ח גָּדוֹל	.d		ל אִישׁ
ל אָחִיךּ	קוֹ		_ ישׁ גָּבּוֹר
ש אֶל אָחִיוּ _	אַל		ישׁ הֶסֶד
ית אַחִים	בָּרִ		ּנְשֵׁי אֱמֶת
לוֹם אֲחֵיכֶם _		[נָשִׁים וְנָשִׁיו
ז אֲנָשִׁים	.f <u>ד</u> ב		_ אַשָּה
ַ עַבָּדִים	ַדַּכ		ַ הְשָׁאַ קּ
ז הַפָּנִים	דַּכ		ַ שְׁתְּךָ
ים אֶל פָּנִים _	<u> </u>		ַ שָׁת בְּנוֹ
ַ אֶל הַבַּיִת			ַ אַי הַבֶּלֶךְ



Building Blocks

Feminine Verb Forms

There are many different verb patterns in Hebrew. In Unit 1, Chapter 2, we introduced masculine XIII ("he" or "it") forms of the simplest Hebrew verb pattern.

In this chapter we introduce the corresponding feminine xii ("she" or "it") forms.

Perfect Verbs

The feminine אין ("she" or "it") perfect form corresponding to the masculine is as follows:

Examples:

Remember that perfect verbs describe action that has been completed and can be translated in several different ways. For example, תְבָּרָה could be translated as "she worked," "she did work," "she was working," "she had worked," or "she has worked."

Imperfect Verbs

The feminine Kin ("she" or "it") imperfect form corresponding to the masculine is as follows:

Examples:

Remember that imperfect verbs can indicate the future tense, ongoing incompleted action, or action that is wished or urged. So, for example, Tayn could be translated as "she will work," "she may work," "may she work," or "let her work."





Torah Study Text: Vocabulary and Root Review

This unit's Torah Study Text, Genesis 4:1–5, 8–10, is reprinted below, highlighting the new vocabulary words as well as the words formed from the new Hebrew roots introduced in Chapter 3. Read this passage again, recalling the meaning of each of the highlighted words or roots.

Genesis 4:1-5

יְהָאָדָם יָדַע אֶת־חַוָּה אִשְׁתּוֹ וַתְּהַר וַתֵּלֶד אֶת־קֵין וַהְּאֹמֶר קָנְיתִי אִישׁ אֶת־יְהוָה: יַּוֹהְטֶף לָלֶדֶת אֶת־אָחִיו אֶת־הֶבֶל וַיְהִי־הֶבֶל רְעֵה צֹאן וְקֵין הָיָה עֹבֵד אֲדָמָה: יַּוְיְהִי מִקֵץ יָמִים וַיָּבֵא קֵין מִפְּרִי הָאֲדָמָה מִנְּהָה לַיהוָה: יְוְהֶבֶל הַבִּיא גַם־הוּא מִבְּכֹרוֹת צֹאנוֹ הַמְדְלָה לָקִין וְאֶל־מִנְחָתוֹ יְהוָה אֶל־הֶבֶל וְאֶל־מִנְחָתוֹ: יְאֶל־קִין וְאֶל־מִנְחָתוֹ לֹא שָׁעָה וַיִּחַר לְקַיִן מְאֹד וַיִּפְּלוּ פָּנָיו:

Genesis 4:8-10

יַנְיְאמֶר קֵין אֶל־הֶבֶל אָחִיו וַיְהִי בִּהְיוֹתָם בַּשָּׁדֶה וַיְּקָם קֵין אֶל־הֶבֶל אָחִיו וַיְהִי בִּהְיוֹתָם בַּשָּׁדֶה וַיְּקָם קֵין אֶל־הֶבֶל אָחִיוּ וַיִּהְרגַהוּ: יְנִיְּאמֶר יְהוָה אֶל־קֵין אֵי הֶבֶל אָחִיךּ וֹיְאמֶר לֹא יִבְעְתִּי הֲשׁׁבֵר אָחִי אָנְכִי: יֹנִיְאמֶר מֶה עָשִׂיתָ קוֹל דְמֵי אָחִיךּ צֹעֲקִים אֵלֵי מִן-הָאֵדָמָה:

Forms היא

The following chart includes the feminine %% ("she" or "it") participle, perfect, and imperfect forms for every root introduced thus far that follows the simple pattern. This chart present the regular vowels for each

form, but alternate or irregular vowels sometimes appear in biblical texts. Keep in mind that this chart is included for enrichment only. It is not necessary to memorize these forms.

It may be helpful to notice certain variations:

- In roots that end with the letter הייה and אב"ש"ע, the root letter הייה becomes a הייה and יש"ע"ע, the root letter אַשׂתָה, הָיָתָה.

Im	perfect	Perfect	Participle	Root	
	תֶּאֶהַב	אָהַבָּה	אוֹהֶבֶת	א־ה־ב	love
	תאבל	אָכְלָה	אוֹבֶלֶת	א־כ־ל	eat
	תאמר	אָמְרָה	אוֹמֶרֶת	א־מ־ר	say
	הִבְחַר	בָּחֲרָה	בוֹחֶרֶת	ב־ח־ר	choose
	תִּבְרָא	בָּרְאָה	בוֹרֵאת	ב־ר־א	create
	הִּהְיֶה	تېرت ت		ה־י־ה	be
	תִּוְכֹּר	זָכְרָה	זוֹכֶרֶת	ז־כ־ר	remember
(irregular imperfect— root letter missing)	תַדַע	יָדְעָה	יוֹדֶעַת	י־ד־ע	know
root letter 7 missing)	תַּצָא	יָצְאָה	יוֹצֵאת	י־צ־א	go out
	תִּמְלֹךְ	מָלְכָה	מוֹלֶכֶת	מ-ל-ך	rule
(irregular imperfect—root letter 1 missing)	मूल्य	<u> </u>	נוֹתֶנֶת	נ־ת־ן	give
	תעבד	עָבְדָה	עוֹבֶדֶת	ע־ב־ד	work, serve
	תַעֲזר	עְזְרָה	עוֹזֶרֶת	ע־ז־ר	help
	תַעֲשָׂה	עְשְׂתָה	עוֹשָׂה	ע־שׂ־ה	make, do
	עֹרְפָּא	רָפְאָה	רוֹפֵאת	ר־פ־א	heal
	ּתִשְׁמַע	שָׁמְעָה	שוֹמֵעַת	ש־מ־ע	hear
	תשמר	שָׁמְרָה	שוֹמֶרֶת	שׁ־מ־ר	guard, keep

The Question T

In Chapter 1 of Aleph Isn't Enough, we introduced the prefix Π meaning "the." In the vast majority of cases, the prefix Π has this meaning. But occasionally, the prefix Π is used, like a question mark in English, to indicate that a sentence is a question. An example of this question Π appears in our Torah Study Text, verse 9:

the guard/keeper of my brother or my brother's guard/keeper — ישׁמֵר אָחִי אנכי My brother's guard/keeper am I? or Am I my brother's guard/keeper? — השׁמר אחי אנכי

Torah Study Text with Building Blocks

Following are excerpts from this unit's Torah Study Text, Genesis 4:1–2 and Genesis 4:9, reprinted with the new Building Blocks highlighted. Reread these verses, noting the appearance of feminine imperfect verbs with the reversing *vav* and the use of the question Π . A translation is provided below for only the highlighted Building Blocks. Remember that there could be other possible translations. For a full translation of the verses, refer back to Chapter 3.

Genesis 4:1-2

יְהָאָרָם יָדַע אֶת־חַנָּה אִשְׁתּוֹ וַתַּ<u>הַר וַתֵּלֶד אֶת־קֵין וַתְּאֹמֶר קָנְיתִי</u> אִישׁ אֶת־יְהנָה: יַ**וֹתְּסֶף** לָלֶדֶת אֶת־אָחִיו אֶת־הֶבֶל וַיְהִי־הֶבֶל רְעֵה צֹאן וְקֵיּן הָיָה עֹבֵר אֲרַמַה:

Genesis 4:9

נִיְאמֶר יְהנָה אֶל־קֵיִן אֵי הֶבֶל אָחִיךְ וַיְּאמֶר לֹא יָדֵעְתִּי **הֲשֹׁמֵר** אַחי אנֹכי:

[and she] conceived	-	וַתְּהַר
[and she] bore	concentr	וַתֵּלֶד
[and she] said	_	וַתְּאַמֶּר
[and she] continued/added/did again		ַוַתְּטֶׁף
Am I my brother's keeper?		הַשֹׁמֵר אָחִי אָנְכִי

remembrance	vinninii	זַכֶּר
always, continually		הָבִיד
until, unto	_	עַד

נִשְׁמַת כָּל חֵי תְּבָרֵךְ אֶת שִׁמְךּ, יְיָ אֱלֹהֵינוּ, וְרְוּחַ כָּל בָּשָּׂר תְּפָאֵר וּתְרוֹמֵם זִכְרְךּ, מַלְבֵּנוּ, תָּמִיד. מִן הָעוֹלָם וְעֵד הָעוֹלָם אַתָּה אֵל...

4. From The "Hatikvah" is the national anthem of the State of Israel. Below is the second half of "Hatikvah." The word The is grammatically feminine.

still, yet		עוד
feminine perfect verb from the root 7-2-K, be lost, perish	erolania	אָבְדָה
hope		תַקנָה
two thousand years	whenen	שְׁנוֹת אַלְפֵּיִם
to be (from the root 17771)	_	לִהְיוֹת
free	_	דְפְשִׁי

עוֹד לֹא אָבְדָה תִּקְנָתֵנוּ, הַתִּקְנָה שְׁנוֹת אַלְפַּיִם, לִהְיוֹת עַם חָפְשִׁי בְּאַרְצֵנוּ, בְּאֶבֶץ צִיּוֹן וִירוּשָׁלַיִם.

5. From Genesis 3:6—Eating the forbidden fruit in the Garden of Eden led to Adam and Eve's expulsion from the Garden.

feminine imperfect verb with r vav from the root $\sqcap N \urcorner$,		וַתֶּרֶא
that	_	בֿנ
tree		עץ
food, eating-	_	מַאֲכָל

Additional Reading and Translation Practice

Translate the following Hebrew excerpts, using the extra vocabulary words provided. Check your translations against the English translations that follow.

void and nothingness – תְּהֹוּ וָבְהוּ נִבְהוּ [the] deep – תהוֹם

וָהָאֶרֶץ הָיְתָה תְהוּ וָבְהוּ וְחְשֶׁךְ עַל־פְּנֵי תְהוֹם

2. Psalm 150:6—This is the last line of the last psalm in the Book of Psalms. This psalm is included in the morning service. The word コウヴュ is grammatically feminine; hence the root コープーコ appears in a feminine imperfect form. Remember that there is more than one way to translate imperfect verbs.

Yah (a name for God, the first two letters of the four-letter Divine Name) —

יה

בּל הַגְּשָׁמָה תְהַלֵּל יָה הַלְלוּ־יָה:

3. From בְּשְׁמֵת כָּל חֵי This prayer is included in the Shabbat morning service. Feminine imperfect verbs (including one from the root בְּשָׁמָת בָּל חַי are used because the words מוֹ מוֹ are feminine.

living

־וַל

flesh

בַשַׂר

feminine imperfect verb from the root 7-X-5, glorify

תפאר

feminine imperfect verb from the root Dana, raise up, exalt

תרומם

Translations

- 1. From Genesis 1:2—And the earth was void and nothingness and darkness [was] on [the] face (surface) of [the] deep.
- 2. Psalm 150:6—Every living being {all the breath} will praise *Yah*. Hallelujah. *or* Let every living being {all the breath} praise *Yah*.
- 3. From בָּל חֵי —The soul/breath of all living will bless Your name, Eternal our God, and [the] spirit of all flesh will glorify and exalt Your remembrance, our Sovereign, continually. From eternity and unto eternity You are God... or May the soul/breath of all living bless Your name....may the spirit of all flesh glorify and exalt Your remembrance....
- 4. From התקוב Still is not lost/has not perished our hope [Our hope is still not lost/has not perished], the hope [for] two thousand years, to be a free people in our land, in the land of Zion and Jerusalem.
- 5. From Genesis 3:6—The woman saw that good is the tree for food/eating...so she took from its fruit and she ate and she gave also to her man with her and he ate.
- 6. From Proverbs 6:20, 22, 23—²⁰Keep, my child, the commandment of your father and don't abandon the Torah {teaching} of your mother. / ²²When you walk about, it will guide {may it guide} you; when you lie down, it will guard {may it guard} over you.... / ²³For a lamp/light is mitzvah {commandment} and Torah is light....

Exercises

1. Draw a line connecting each of the following feminine verb forms with the corresponding masculine verb form. Identify the root and whether the forms are perfect, imperfect, or participles.

Form	Root	Masculine	Feminine
		ַ יוֹדֶעַ	יָדְעָה
		אָמַר	עָבְדָה
		יַעַבד	תַּהְנֶה
		בוֹרֵא	יוֹדְעַת
		יַדע	תאמר
		יאבַל	בוֹרֵאת
		עוֹבֵד	בָּחֲרָה
		ַ יְהָנֶה	תַעֲבד
		ַ עָבַד	עוֹבֶדֶת
		יֹאמַר	אָמְרָה
		בַחַר בַ	תאבל

feminine imperfect verb with reversive vav from the root \(\pi \), take	sing —	וַתְּקַח
feminine imperfect verb with revers vav from the root []], give	sing —	ַנִתָּתֵן <u>י</u>
also, too	_	גַּם
with	_	עָם

וַתַּרָא הָאִשָּׁה כִּי טוֹב הָעֵץ לְמַאֲכָל...וַתִּקַּח מִפִּרְיוֹ וַתּאַכַל וַתִּתֵּן גַם־לְאִישָׁה עִפָּה וַיֹּאַכַל:

6. From Proverbs 6:20, 22, 23—The words אָלְהָה and אוֹרָה are both grammatically feminine. It is not clear which of the two is the subject of verse 22.

guard, keep (command form)	_	וְצרׁ
my son, my child (with my, ending)	-	<u>הְ</u> ּנָל
don't abandon	emotion	אַל־תִּטשׁ
when you walk about {in your walking about}	_	בְּהִתְהַלֶּכְךְּ
feminine imperfect verb from the root 777, guide		תַּנְחֶה
you (NK with], "you" ending)	_	אֹתֶךּ
when you lie down {in your lying down}	_	בְּשָׁכְבְּךָ
for, because	-	בָּי

נְצֹר בְּנִי מִצְוַת אָבִיךּ, וְאַל־תִּטֹשׁ תּוֹרַת אָמֶךּ: בּבְהִתְהַלֶּכְךָ תַּנְחֶה אֹתָךְ בְּשָׁכְבְּךָ תִּשְׁמֹר עָלֶיךְ... בּבִי נֵר מִצְוָה וְתוֹרָה אוֹר...

42

אַתָּה עוֹזֵר לְחוֹלֵי מִשְׁפַּחְתְּךָ.	
ַ עֶבֶד הַמֶּלֶךְ עָשָׂה מַעֲשִׂים גִּבּוֹרִים.	d
ַנַיַעשׂ הָעֶבֶר מַעֲשֵׂי הֶסֶר.	
וַיַּעֲבֹד הָעֶבֶד מִן הַבְּקֶר כָּל הַיּוֹם.	
וּבָעֶרֶב הוּא לֹא עָבַד וְלֹא יָצָא מִבֵּיתוֹ.	
ַ בֵּית הַנָּבִיא הָיָה בֵּין הַדֶּרֶךְ וְהַפֵּוִים.	е
ַנְיְהִי בֵּיתוֹ בְּדֶרֶךְ מִצְרַיִם הַיְתוֹ לֹא נָּדוֹל	
הַמַּלְאָך יָצָא מִמִּצְרַיִם אֶל בֵּית הַנָּבִיא.	
	.f
וַיִּתֵן כָּל אִישׁ צְדָקָה לְאָחִיו.	
יָד כָּל אִישׁ הָיְתָה בְּיַד אָחִיוּ.	

reverse the tense of a verb. Chec	ck your translations against those that follow.
	ַוִיִּשְׁמַע יַעֲקֹב אֶת קוֹל אִשְׁתּוֹ.
	וַתִּשְׁמַע רָחֵל אֶת קוֹל בָּנֶיהָ.
	הָאִישׁ שָׁמֵע אֶת קוֹל הַרְוּחַ.
	ַ הָאִשָּׁה שָׁמְעָה אֶת קוֹל הַשׁוֹפָּר.
	אַתָּה אוֹהֵב אֶת אִשְׁתְּךּ בְּכָל נַפְשְׁךּ.
	ַ וַתֶּאֶהַב רִבְקָה אֶת אִישָׁה בְּכָל לִבָּה.
•	אַנְחְנוּ אוֹהֲבִים אֶת נָשֵׁינוּ בְּכָל נַפְשׁוֹתֵינוּ
	ַיִּיו. אַשְׁתּוֹ כָּל חַיָּיו.
	הַפִּוֹשְׁפָּחָה זָכְרָה אֶת דַּם הַחוֹלִים.
	ַוַתִּזְכּר הַחוֹלָה אֶת פְּנֵי מִשְׁפַּחְתָּה.
	_ מִי יִזְכּר אֶת דַם חוֹלֱינוּ? מִי יַעֲזֹר לֶנוּ?

2. Read and translate the following groups of sentences. Remember that the prefix vav can

The messenger went out/did go out/was going out/had gone out/has gone out from Egypt to/toward the house of the prophet.

f. The nation/people knew/did know/had known/has known the truth.

All humankind/every person knew/did know the words of the covenant.

Every man gave/did give/was giving tzedakah to his brother.

The hand of every man was in the hand of his brother.

g. The woman healed/did heal/was healing her father and he said/did say/was saying, "Great is the might of God!"

Sarah healed/did heal/was healing/had healed/has healed her brother and she said/did say/was saying, "Hallelujah! {Praise Yah!}"

The brother said/did say/was saying to his father, "Who is our savior?"

Sarah said/did say/was saying/had said/has said, "Your healing is from the heavens."

ַ וַתִּרְפָּא הָאִשָּׁה אֶת אָבִיהָ וַיְּאֹמֶר: רַבָּה גְּבוּרַת הָאֵל!
שָׂרָה רָפְאָה אֶת אָחִיהָ וַתְּאִמֶר: הַלְלוּיָהּ!
וַיְּאמֶר הָאָח אֶל אָבִיו: מִי מוֹשִׁיעֵנוּ?
שָּׁרָה אָמְרָה: רְפּוּאַתְכֶם מִן הַשָּׁמֵיִם.

Translations

a. Jacob heard/did hear/was hearing the voice of his wife/woman.

Rachel heard/did hear/was hearing the voice/sound of her children.

The man heard/did hear/was hearing/had heard/has heard the sound of the wind.

The woman heard/did hear/was hearing/had heard/has heard the sound of the shofar.

b. You love/do love your wife/woman with all your soul.

Rebekah loved/did love her man/husband with all her heart.

We love/do love our wives/women with all our souls.

Isaac will/may love {Let/may Isaac love} his wife/woman all his life.

c. The family remembered/did remember/was remembering/had remembered/has remembered the blood of the sick ones.

The sick (female) remembered/did remember/was remembering the faces of her family.

Who will/may remember the blood of our sick ones? Who will/may help us?

You help/do help/are helping the sick ones of your family.

d. The servant/slave of the king/sovereign did/was doing/had done/has done mighty deeds/acts.

The servant/slave did/was doing acts/deeds of kindness.

The servant worked/did work/was working from the morning all the day (all day long).

And in the evening, he did not work/was not working/has not worked/had not worked and [he] did not go out/was not going out/has not gone out/had not gone out of {from} his house.

e. The house of the prophet was/had been between the road and the water.

His house was on the road of {to} Egypt.

The road was/had been big and {but} his house was not/had not been big.

Translating the Torah Study Text

Following is our Torah Study Text, Genesis 11:1–9, reprinted with a literal translation underneath each word. Using your knowledge of the building blocks of the Hebrew language and the meanings of the words provided below, translate this passage into clear English sentences. Write your translation on the lines following the text. This selection includes some grammatical forms and vocabulary that have not yet been introduced. You will need to rely, in part, on the translations provided.

שְנְעָר	בְאֶרֶץ	בִקְעָה	וַיִּכְוֹצְאוּ	מָקֶדֶם	בְנָסְעָם
Shinar	in land	valley/ plain	they found	from east	in/with their journeying/ migrating

הָבָה	רֵעֲהוּ	אָל־	אִישׁ	ֿוַיּׂאמְרוּ	:שְׁם	וַיֵּשְׁבוּ
come	his companion/ neighbor	to	man	and they said	there	and they settled/dwelt

לְאָבֶן	הַלְּבֵנָה	לָהֶם	וַהְנהִי	לִשְׂרֵפָּה	וְנִשְׂרְפָּה	לְבֵנִים	נְלְבְנָה
for stone	the brick	· .	. ,	to burning	and let us burn	bricks	let us make





Torah Study Text: Genesis 11:1-9

After the well-known narrative of Noah and the ark in Genesis chapters 6–9, and a genealogy of the descendants of Noah in chapter 10, the Torah presents the narrative of the Tower of Babel in Genesis 11:1–9. This is the biblical

account of the creation of different languages and the scattering of different peoples across the face of the earth.

Read the Hebrew below to see how many of the words you can recognize. This passage does contain words, Hebrew roots, and grammatical concepts that have not yet been introduced. Underline or circle the words, roots, endings, and prefixes that you already know.

יְנִיְהִי כָּל־הָאֶרֶץ שָׁפָּה אֶחָת וּדְבָּרִים אֲחָדִים: 'וַיְהִי בְּנָסְעָם מִקֶּדֶם וַיִּמְרְאוּ בִקְעָה בְּאֶרֶץ שִׁנְעָר וַיֵּשְׁבוּ שָׁם: 'וַיֹּאמְרוּ אִישׁ אֶל־רֵעְהוּ הָבָה נִלְבְּנָה לְבֵנִה לְבֵנִה לְאָבֶן הְבָּה נִשְׂרְפָּה לִשְׂרֵפָּה וַתְּהִי לָהֶם הַלְּבֵנָה לְאָבֶן וְהַחֵמָר הָיָה לָהֶם לַחְמֶר: 'יִיּיִאמְרוּ הָבָה נִבְנָה־לֵנוּ עִיר וּמִגְּדְּל וְהַחֵּמָר הָנָנִ עִיר וֹמְגִּדְּל יְהַעָּר בְּשָׁבִי כָל־הָאֶרֶץ: 'וַיִּאֶר הְבִּי הָאָרָם: 'וַיְּאמֶר בְּנִוּ בְּנֵי הָאָרָם: 'וַיְּאמֶר יְהָנִי הְאָרָם: 'וַיְּאמֶר יְנִבְּיִ הְאָרָם: 'וַיְּאמֶר יְנִבְלָה שִׁם יְהִנָּה בִּרְבְּה וְנְבְלָה שִׁם שְׂפָת רֵעְהוּ: 'וַנְבְלָה שִׁם עִּלְּבָּל יְהִבְּל אִשְׁר לֹא יִשְׁמְעוּ אִישׁ שְׂפַת רֵעְהוּ: 'וַיְבָּלְ יְהוֹּה אֹתָם מִשְׁם שְׂפָת רֵעְהוּ: 'עַל־בְּן קָרָא שְׁמָה בָּבֶל שְׁם בָּכִל יְהֹנָה שְׂפַת כָּל-הָאֶרֶץ וּמִשְׁם הֲפִיצָם יְהֹנָה עַל-בְּנֵנִ בְּל-הָאָרץ: בִּלְּל יְהֹנָה שְׂפַת כָּל-הָאֶרֶץ וּמִשְׁם הֲפִיצָם יְהֹנָה עַל-בְּנֵל בְּלֹל יְהֹנָה שְׂפַת כָּל-הָאֶרֶץ וּמִשְׁם הָפִיצָם יְהֹנָה עַל-בְּנִי בָּל-הָאָרץ: 'בִלּל יְהֹנָה שְׂפַת כָּל-הָאֵרֶץ וּמִשְׁם הָפִיצָם יְהּנָה עַל-בְּנִי בַּל-הַארץ: בּבִּל הְיהֹה שְׂפַת כָּל-הָאֵרֶץ וּמִשְׁם הָפִיצָם יְהֹנָה עַל-בְּנִי בָּל-הָארץ: בּבִּל הְיהֹה שְׂפַת כָּל-הָאָרֶץ וּמִשְׁם הְפִיצִם יְהּנָה עַל-בְּנִי בָּל-הָארץ:

לייֶּפֶץ יְהוָה אֹתָם מִשָּׁם עַל־ פְּנֵי כָל־ הָאָרֶץ the earth all face of over/ from there them the Eternal scattered/upon dispersed

וַיַּחְדְּלוּ לִבְנֹת הָעִיר: ״עַל־כֵּן קָרָא שְׁמָה בָּבֶל כִּי

because Babel its name called therefore the city to build and they ceased/stopped

שָׁם בָּלֵל יְהֹוָה שְׂפַת כָּל־ הָאֶרֶץ וּמִשָּׁם הֶפִּיצָם scattered and from the earth all language the Eternal confounded there
them there of

> יָהוָה עַל־ פְּנֵי כָּל־ הָאָרֶץ: the earth all face of over/upon the Eternal

Compare your translation of Genesis 11:1–9 with the Torah translations tions below.

'Everyone on earth had the same language and the same words. ²And as they migrated from the east, they came upon a valley in the land of Shinar and settled there. ³They said to one another, "Come, let us make bricks and burn them hard."—Brick served them as stone, and bitumen served them as mortar.—⁴And they said, "Come, let us build us a city, and a tower with its top in the sky, to make a name for ourselves; else we shall be scattered all over the world." ⁵The LORD came down to look at the city and tower that man had built, "and the LORD said, "If, as one people with one language for all, this is how they have begun to act, then nothing that they may propose to do will be out of their reach. 'Let us, then, go down and confound their speech there, so that they shall not understand one another's speech." ⁸Thus the LORD scattered them from there over the face of the whole earth; and they stopped building the city. 'That is why it was called Babel, because there the LORD confounded the

יִמְגְדָּל וְרֹאשׁוֹ בַשָּׁמִיִם וְנַעֲשֶׂה־ לֶנוּ שֵׁם פֶּן־

lest name for us and let us in the sky/ and its top/ and tower make heavens head

נָפוּץ עַל־ פְּנֵי כָל־ הָאָרֶץ: יֹנֵיֵּרֶד יְהֹנָה לִרְאֹת

to see the descended/ the earth all face of over we be

Eternal came down scattered/
dispersed

אֶת־הָעִיר וְאֶת־ הַמִּגְדָּל אֲשֶׁר בָּנוּ בְּנֵי הָאָדָם:

the man/ sons/ they that the tower and the city humankind children of built

יַנְיָּאמֶר יְהֹוָה הֵן עַם אֶחָר וְשָׂפָה אַחַת לְכֻלָּם יַּ

for all of one and one nation/ behold/ the Eternal said them language people here/if

וְזֶה הַחִלָּם לַעֲשׂוֹת וְעַתָּה לֹא־ יִבָּצֵר מֵהֶם כּל

all from be withheld/ not and now to do/act their and this them inaccessible beginning

אַשֶּׁר יָזְמוּ לַעֲשׁוֹת: ׳הֶבָה נֵרְדָה וְנָבְלָה

שָׁבֶּת רָעָהוּ: שְׁפָתָם אֲשֶׁר לֹא יִשְׁמִעוּ אִישׁ שְׂפַת

his companion/ language man they hear/ not that their there neighbor of understand language

of their doings-

now there will be no barrier for them in all that they scheme to do! ⁷Come-now! Let us go down and there let us baffle their language, so that no man will understand the language of his neighbor.

⁸So Yhwh scattered them from there over the face of all the earth, and they had to stop building the city.

⁹Therefore its name was called Bavel/Babble, for there Yhwh baffled the language of all the earth-folk, and from there, Yhwh scattered them over the face of all the earth.

THE FIVE BOOKS OF MOSES: A NEW TRANSLATION WITH INTRODUCTIONS, COMMENTARY, AND NOTES BY EVERETT FOX. NEW YORK: SCHOCKEN BOOKS, 1995.

And the whole earth was of one language, and of one speech. And it came to pass, as they journeyed from the east, that they found a plain in the land of Shin'ar; and they dwelt there. And they said to one another, Come, let us make bricks, and burn them thoroughly. And they had brick for stone, and slime had they for mortar. And they said, Come, let us build us a city and a tower, whose top may reach to heaven; and let us make us a name, lest we be scattered abroad upon the face of the whole earth. And the LORD came down to see the city and the tower, which the children of men were building. And the LORD said, Behold, the people is one, and they have all one language; and this they begin to do: and now nothing will be withheld from them, which they have schemed to do. Come, let us go down, and there confound their language, that they may not understand one another's speech. So the LORD scattered them abroad from there upon the face of all the earth: and they ceased to build the city. Therefore is the name of it called Bavel; because the LORD did there confound the language of all the earth: and from thence did the LORD scatter them abroad upon the face of all the earth.

THE JERUSALEM BIBLE, PUBLISHED FOR THE NAHUM ZEEV WILLIAMS FAMILY FOUNDATION AT HECHAL SHLOMO, JERUSALEM. JERUSALEM: KOREN PUBLISHERS JERUSALEM LTD., 1969.

speech of the whole earth; and from there the LORD scattered them over the face of the whole earth.

JPS HEBREW-ENGLISH TANAKH: THE TRADITIONAL HEBREW TEXT AND THE NEW JPS TRANSLATION—2D ED. PHILADELPHIA: THE JEWISH PUBLICATION SOCIETY, 1999.

'The whole earth was of one language and of common purpose. ²And it came to pass, when they migrated from the east they found a plain in the land of Shinar and settled there. ³They said to one another, "Come, let us make bricks and burn them in fire." And the brick served them as stone, and the lime served them as mortar. ⁴And they said, "Come, let us build us a city, and a tower with its top in the heavens, and let us make a name for ourselves, lest we be dispersed across the whole earth."

⁵Hashem descended to look at the city and tower which the sons of man built, ⁶and Hashem said, "Behold, they are one people with one language for all, and this they begin to do! And now, should it not be withheld from them all they propose to do! ⁷Come, let us descend and there confuse their language, that they should not understand one another's language."

*And Hashem dispersed them from there over the face of the whole earth; and they stopped building the city. That is why it was called Babel, because it was there that Hashem confused the language of the whole earth, and from there Hashem scattered them over the face of the whole earth.

THE CHUMASH, ARTSCROLL SERIES, STONE EDITION. BROOKLYN: MESORAH PUBLICATIONS, 1993.

¹Now all the earth was of one language and one set-of-words.

²And it was when they migrated to the east that they found a valley in the land of Shinar and settled there.

³They said, each man to his neighbor:

Come-now! Let us bake bricks and let us burn them well-burnt!

So for them brick-stone was like building-stone, and raw-bitumen was for them like red-mortar.

⁴Now they said:

Come-now! Let us build ourselves a city and a tower, its top in the heavens, and let us make ourselves a name,

lest we be scattered over the face of all the earth!

⁵But Yhwh came down to look over the city and the tower that the humans were building.

⁶YHWH said:

Here, (they are) one people with one language for them all, and this is merely the first

52

population, settlement	_	ישוב
sedentary		יָשִׁיב
sitting, residence, session,		
yeshivah (Jewish religious academy)	_	יִשִׁיבָה
colonization	_	ָיַשְׁבָנוּת יַשְׁבָנוּת
seat, abode, residence,		htiita
moshav (cooperative settlement)		מוֹשָׁב
settler	_	מְתְנִשֵּׁב
resident, inhabitant, sojourner	difficials	תוֹשָׁב
seat, dwelling	_	שֶׁבֶת
base, pedestal, chassis (of a vehicle)	_	תוֹשֶׁבֶת



The basic meaning of the root Π is "build." This root follows the participle pattern. It is slightly irregular, because the final root letter is Π , which disappears in some verb forms. The following are the four participle forms:

$$f pl$$
 בּוֹנִית $m pl$ בּוֹנִים $f sg$ בּוֹנִית $m sg$

The perfect and imperfect forms can be found in the verb charts in the back of the book.

The root TTTT appears three times in our Torah Study Text, in verses 4, 5, and 8:

(verse 4) Come, let us build for us a city — הָבָה נְבְנָה־לְנוֹ עִיר (verse 5) that the children of humankind had built — הַנִּוֹ הְנִי הָאָדָם (verse 8) they ceased to build the city — הַעִיר הַעִיר

Vocabulary

Locate each of the following words in the Torah Study Text: Genesis 11:1–9.

one m		אָרָוּר
one f	_	אַחַת
friend, companion, fellow, neighbor <i>m</i>	_	רֶעַ
stone f	_	אָבן
city f	_	עִיר
head, top, beginning m	_	ראש
there		שָׁם

Notes on the Vocabulary

1. In Hebrew, the word "one" acts as an adjective, with four forms:

f pl אַחְרוֹת m pl אַחְרוֹת f sg אַחָרוֹת m sg אָחָרוֹת The plural forms can sometimes be translated as "a few" or "some."

2. The word אַרְשׁ has a range of meanings. The idiom אָלשׁ...עָּדְהַ, which appears in our Torah Study Text in verses 3 and 7, can be translated as "one...another."



The basic meaning of the root 'is "sit," "settle," or "dwell." This root follows the participle pattern. The following are the four participle forms:

The perfect and imperfect forms can be found in the verb charts in the back of the book. The root $\Box \Box \dot{} \dot{} \dot{}$ appears only once in this chapter's Torah Study Text:

(verse 2)

and they settled/dwelt there -

וַיִּשְׁבוּ שָׁם

The following words, both ancient and modern, are derived from the root are first root letter, drops out in some words formed from this root.

chairperson

-

יושב ראש

Adam, continued in mankind through to the generation of the Tower of Babel, and these were indeed "the children of Adam." children of the same Adam who showed his ingratitude. From this we can see how when a person improves his attributes by working at them, the effect of his actions will be felt for generations to come.

R. ZVI NATAN FINKEL, THE ELDER OF SLOBODKA, AS QUOTED IN *TORAH GEMS*, COMP. AHARON YAAKOV GREENBERG, TRANS. R. DR. SHMUEL HIMELSTEIN. TEL AVIV AND BROOKLYN: YAVNEH PUBLISHING HOUSE, CHEMED BOOKS, 1998.

Both verses 8 and 9, using slightly different wording, state that God scattered the people. Since the same thing does not need to be stated twice, Rashi cites a talmudic reference (BT Sanhedrin 107b), which applies a different meaning to each of these verses. Rashi then goes on to reflect upon the difference in punishment received by the generation of the Flood (at the time of Noah) and that of the Tower of Babel, citing a midrash from *B'reishit Rabbah* 38:6.

וֹיָבֶץ יְהוָה אֹתָם מִשֶּׁשׁ (verse 8), The Eternal scattered/dispersed them from there. In this world. What they had said [in verse 4]: אָרָם מִשְׁשׁ, "lest we be scattered/dispersed," really happened to them.

בּפִיצָם (verse 9), and from there [the Eternal] scattered them. This teaches that they have no share in the world to come (BT Sanhedrin 107b).

Which act was worse, that of the generation of the Flood or that of the generation of the dispersion? The former did not stretch out their hand against God, and the latter did stretch out their hand against God to war against Him. Yet the former were drowned, and the latter did not perish from the world! This is because the generation of the Flood were robbers and there was strife among them; therefore, they were destroyed. The latter behaved with love and friendship among them, as it is said [in verse 1]: שִּׁבְּרִים אֲחָרִים אֲחָרִים אֲחָרִים אֲחָרִים אַחָרִים אַרִים אַרִים אַחָרִים אַחָרִים אַחָרִים אַחַרִּים אַחָרִים אַחַרִּים אַחַרִּים אַרִים אַחַרִּים אַרִים אַחַרִּים אַרִים אַחַרִּים אַרִים אַרִים אַחַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַחַרִּים אַרִים אַרִּים אַרִים אַרִּים אַרִים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִים אַרִים אַרִים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִים אַרִים אַרִים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִים אַרִים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אָּרִים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִים אַרִּים אָּרִים אַרִּים אָּים אַרִּים אָרִים אָּרִים אָּרִים אַרִּים אַרִים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרְים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרִּים אַרְ

RASHI ON GENESIS 11:8-9

The following words, both ancient and modern, are derived from the root TTTT. The last root letter T drops out in some words formed from this root.

structure, building	_	בּנְיָן
built-up	_	<u>הַ</u> בַּרָּל
construction		בְּנִיָּה
structure, formation, format	_	מִבְנֶה
structural	_	בִּרְנִי
Yavneh (ancient city—Jewish center		
after the fall of Jerusalem)	_	יַבְנֶה
model, pattern, image	_	תַבְנִית

In verse 5, those who are building the tower are called בְּנֵי הָאָרָם,

"the children of Adam/humankind," instead of merely "the people" or "the builders." Rashi cites a midrash (B'reishit Rabbah 38:9) that suggests this wording implies a spiritual connection between the builders of the Tower of Babel and the original Adam, both having demonstrated a lack of gratitude to God.

בוֹי הָאָרָה, the children of Adam/humankind. Who else's children could they be? The children of donkeys or camels? [Why bother stating that they are children of Adam/humankind?] Rather, [this teaches that they are] the children of the first Adam, who was ungrateful and said [in Genesis 3:12]: "The woman whom You gave to be with me...[she gave me from the tree and I ate"—implying that God is to blame for giving Adam that woman]. So, these people too were ungrateful, in rebelling against the One who had bestowed blessing upon them and saved them from the Flood [in the time of Noah].

RASHI ON GENESIS 11:5

The following Chasidic commentary expands upon the above Rashi, adding a positive twist at the end.

What does the Torah mean when it says "I"," "the children of men"? Who else could they be? donkeys? camels? Rather, this refers to the children of Adam, the first man, who was ungrateful to God after He had given him Eve, and said, "the woman which You gave me" (Gen. 3:12). Here too they were ungrateful and rebelled against God, after He had saved them from the Flood (Rashi). The attributes, characteristics, and influences of the impulses embedded within a person carry over for a number of generations after him. This embedded attribute of ungratefulness, which had been revealed in

١.	Read and translate the following group	os of w	ords.			
	ַ טוֹב	b. בֶעַ			אָישׁ אֶחָד	
	ַ וְרֻעַ				_ אָשָׁה אַחַת	i b
	שֶת רֵעֲהוּ				רוֹחַ אֶרָוד	
	ַ בעָך בעָך				יוֹם אֶחָד)
	י רַעֶּךָּ				ַ מִים אֲחָדִים)
	ַנשׁ הָאֲנָשִׁים	ረ ጎ .d			_ אֶבֶן גְּדוֹלָה	
	נשׁ בְּנֵי יִשְׂרָאֵל	ベコ			אַבָנִים גְּדוֹלוֹח	
	מש הַגּוֹיִים				אַבָנִים אֲחָדוֹח	
	נשׁ רַעֲהוּ				לב אֶבֶן	
	נשׁי הַגִּבּוֹרִים				אַבְנֵי יְרוּשָׁלַיִם	
		f. نَعِاد			_ עיר הַנָּבִיא	
	ם הַנָּשִׁים	Ψ̈́			עיר הַצֶּדֶק	,
	ַרָיִם אֲשֶׁר שָׁם	דַוֹנ			עיר הַקְּדֶשׁ	•
					_ עוֹבְדֵי הָעִיר	
	אור מִשָּׁם				וֹשְׁבֵי הֶעָרִים	
j.	Identify the root of each of the following masculine or feminine, singular or plus	· .				
	m/f sing/pl	Trans	alation	Root	Participle	
					בוֹנִים	
					עוֹשִׁים	
					עוֹבֵד	
					יוֹשְבִים	
					בְּחַיֶּה	

Exercises

- 1. Make flash cards for each of the new vocabulary words and Hebrew roots introduced in this chapter, or use the flash card set published as a companion to this book. Review the cards to learn all of them.
- 2. Draw a line connecting each Hebrew word to its English translation. For some words, there can be more than one correct translation.

friend	אֶבֶן
stone	שׁם
there	L V
fellow	רֻעַ
head	- I
one	אַחַת
beginning	ראש
companion	
city	אָדָוד
top	
neighbor	עיר

3. The following are singular and plural forms of words introduced as vocabulary in this chapter. Draw a line connecting each plural word to its singular form. Translate both into English.

עָרִים עָרִים
רָאשִׁים רָאשִׁים
אַחָדִים
אֲבָנִים
אַחָדוֹת
רעים רעים

וְ עַ אֶבֶן אַחַת עיר ראש אַחָד





Torah Study Text: Vocabulary and Root Review

This unit's Torah Study Text, Genesis 11:1–9, is reprinted below, highlighting the new vocabulary words as well as the words formed from the new Hebrew roots introduced in Chapter 5. Read this passage again, recalling the meaning of each of the highlighted words or roots.

יְיִיְהִי כָל־הָאֶרֶץ שָׂפָה אֶחָת וּדְבָרִים אֲחָדִים: יַּיִיְהִי בְּנָסְעָם מִקֶּדֶם וַיִּמְצְאוּ בִקְעָה בְּאֶרֶץ שִׁנְעָר וַיִּשְׁבוּ שָׁם: יַּיִיאמְרוּ אִישׁ אֶל־רֵעֲהוּ הָבָה נִלְבְּנָה לְבֵנִה לְבֵנִה לְאָרֶן שִׁנְשְׁרֵּ הְשָׁרֵפָּה וַתְּהִי לָהֶם הַלְּבֵנָה לְאֵבֶן וְבָּתִּה לְשָׁרֵפָּה וַתְּהִי לָהֶם הַלְּבֵנִי הָאְרֶץ: יְנִיּאֵרֶן וְתִּתְּה בְּעָּמִיִם וְנַעֲשָׂה־לָּנוּ שֵׁם פֶּן־נָפוּץ עַל־פְּנֵי כָל־הָאָרֶץ: יְנִיֶּרְץ יְהִיְה בְּשָׁמִיִם וְנַעֲשָׂה־לָּנוּ שֵׁם פֶּן־נָפוּץ עַל־פְּנֵי כָל־הָאָרֶץ: יְנִיְּאֹתֶר וְאָת־הַמְּנִי הְאָרָם: יְנִיְּאִתְּה וְעָתָּה הַוְעָם אָחָד וְשָׁפָּה אַחַת לְכֻלְּם וְזֶה הַחִלְּם לַעֲשׁוֹת וְעַתָּה לֹא־יִבָּצֵר מֵהֶם כִּל אֲשֶׁר יִזְמוּ לַעֲשׁוֹת: יְהָבָה נֵרְדָה וְנָבְלָה שָׁם לֹאִיהָ שִׁם שְּׁפַת בְּלַבְּת הָעִר: יעל־בֵּן לֶרָא שְׁמָה בָּבֶל שְׁם בִּלֵל יְהֹנָה שְׂפַת כָּל־הָאֶרֶץ וּמִשִּׁם הֵפִּיצָם יְהֹנָה עַל־פְּנֵי כָּל־הָאָרֶץ וִמְשֹׁב הָבָל יְהֹנָה שְׂפַת כָּל־הָאֶרֶץ וּמִשִּׁם הֵפִיצִם יְהֹנָה עַל־פְּנֵי כָל־הָאָרֶץ: יְהִוָּה שְׂפַת כָּל־הָאָרֶץ וּמִשָּׁם הֵפִיצִם יְהֹנָה עַל־פְּנִי כָל־הָאָרֶץ:

אַוֹהֶבֶת		
יוֹשֵב		
זוֹכְרוֹת		
אוֹמְרִים		
יוֹצֵא	 	
בוֹנֶה		
יוֹדֶעַ		

The Torah commentaries cited in this chapter are from Rabbi Shlomo ben Isaac, a medieval scholar who wrote commentaries on both the Torah and the Talmud. Rabbi Shlomo ben Isaac lived from 1040 to 1105, spending most of his life in Troyes, France. He is most commonly known as Rashi, מְלִיל, an acronym formed from the first letters of his name:

רב שְׁלמה בֶּן יִצְחָק

Rashi's commentaries continue to be widely studied today and are very useful aids to students of Torah and Talmud. Much of his commentary comes from prior rabbinic sources, which Rashi compiled and made accessible to the student. His aim was to provide a clear explanation of the simple meaning of the text, elucidating difficult words or phrases, and providing midrashic interpretations where they served to clarify textual difficulties.

In most texts, Rashi's commentary appears without vowels in a distinctive lettering style known as "Rashi script." "Rashi script" was never actually used by Rashi himself; it was created after the advent of the printing press to make a visible distinction between the appearance of the commentary and the actual biblical or talmudic text. Below are the first words of this chapter's Torah Study Text, Genesis 11:1, as it appears in our regular print and as it would appear in Rashi script:

וִיְהִי כָל־הָאֶרֶץ שָׂפָה אֶחָת ויכי כל־כארן שפר אחת

The following is the Hebrew alphabet in our regular print and in Rashi script:

אבגדהוזחטיכלמנסעפצקרשת אבגדהוזחטיכלמנסעפלקרשת Remember that imperfect verbs can indicate the future tense, ongoing incompleted action, or action that is wished or urged. The examples above could be translated in various different ways.

The Endings 🕼 and 🗀 🗍

In Aleph Isn't Enough, we introduced several pronoun endings, such as , meaning "your" or "you," and , meaning "our" or "us." Similarly, the endings and , mean "their" or "them." They refer to all-masculine groups or mixed-gender groups.

When attached to a preposition, these endings mean "them." Examples:

The ending \Box also means "them" when attached to a verb. The following example is from Deuteronomy 6:9 (the *V'ahavta*):

When attached to a noun, the and and endings mean "their." The ending is used with singular nouns, and the ending is used with plural nouns. Examples:

Torah Study Text with Building Blocks

Following is this unit's Torah Study Text, Genesis 11:1–9, reprinted with the new Building Blocks highlighted. Reread these verses, noting the appearance of plural perfect and imperfect verbs, with and without the reversing vav, and the use of the \Box and \Box endings. A translation is provided below for only the highlighted Building Blocks. Remember that there could be other possible translations. For a full translation of the verses, refer back to Chapter 5.

Building Blocks

Plural Verb Forms

As stated earlier, there are many different verb patterns in Hebrew. In Chapters 2 and 4, we introduced masculine and feminine forms of the simplest Hebrew verb pattern. The forms introduced were all singular. In this chapter, we introduce the corresponding plural verb forms.

Plural Perfect Verbs

The plural perfect form, used for both masculine and feminine subjects, is as follows:

Examples:

Remember that verbs can be translated in more than one way. The root コージー can mean "sit," "settle," or "dwell." Perfect verbs describe completed action, which can be expressed in various ways in English.

Plural Imperfect Verbs

For imperfect verbs, there are separate masculine and feminine plural forms. The masculine plural form is as follows:

This form is used with mixed-gender groups as well as all-masculine groups. The feminine plural imperfect form, used only for all-feminine groups, is \Box \Box \Box \Box \Box \Box \Box . It is mentioned here for enrichment only. It is not necessary to memorize this form, as it appears very infrequently in the Bible and virtually never in the prayer book. It will not be used in the exercises in this book.

Examples:

Plural Forms

The following chart includes the participle, perfect, and imperfect masculine plural forms for every root introduced thus far that follows the simple pattern. Remember that all the perfect forms are also feminine forms, and the imperfect forms are used with mixed-gender as well as all-masculine groups. This chart present the regular vowels for each form, but alternate or irregular vowels sometimes appear in biblical texts. Keep in mind that this chart is included for enrichment only. It is not necessary to memorize these forms.

It may be helpful to notice certain variations:

- In roots that end with the letter ח, such as הייה, and הייה, and אב"ל, the root letter הוא drops out in all the plural forms.
- In many roots that begin with the letter ' or the letter ', such as אַר־ר"ל, אַר"ל, and 'ר"ל, that first root letter ' or ' drops out in the imperfect forms.

In	perfect	Perfect	Participle	Root	
	יֶּאֶדְבוּ	אָדְבוּ	אוֹהֲבִים	א־ה־ב	love
	יאכְלוּ	אָכְלוּ	אוֹכְלִים	א־כ־ל	eat
	יאקרוּ	אָבְורוּ	אוֹמְרִים	א־מ־ר	say
	יִבְחֲרוּ	בֿורנ	בוֹדֲורִים	ב־ח־ר	choose
(final 77 drops out)	יִבְנוּ	בָּנוּ	בונים	ב־נ־ה	build
(final 7 drops out)	יִדְוֹלוּ	דָוֹלוּ		ה־י־ה	be
	יִזְכְרוּ	זָבְרוּ	זוֹכְרִים	ז־כ־ר	remember
	וַדְעוּ	יָדְעוּ	יוֹדְעִים	י-ד-ע	know
(irregular imperfect—root letter missing)	ַנְצְאַרָּ [יָּצְאַרָּ	יוֹצְאִים	ו־צ־א	go out
	ישבו	יָשְבוּ	יוֹשְׁבִים	י־ש־ב	sit, dwell
	יִמְלְבוּ	מָלְבוּ	מוֹלְכִים	מ-ל-ך	rule
(irregular imperfect—root letter 1 missing)	יְהְנוּרְ }	נָרְנוּ	נוֹתְנִים	נ־ת־ן	give
	יַעֲבְדוּ	עָבְדוּ	עוֹבְדִים	ע־ב־ד	work, serve
	יַעַזְרוּ	עְזְרוּ	עוֹזְרִים	ע־ז־ר	help
(final 7 drops out)	יַעשר	עשוּ	עושים	ע־שׂ־ה	make, do
	יִרְפְּאוּ	רָפְאוּ	רוֹפְאִים	ר־פ־א	heal
	יִשְׁמְעוּ	שָׁמְעוּ	שוֹמְעִים	ש־מ־ע	hear
	יִשְׁמְרוּ	שָׁמְרוּ	שומְרִים	שׁ־מ־ר	guard, keep

יְּיִהִי כָל־הָאָרֶץ שָּׁפָּה אֶחָת וּדְבָּרִים אֲחָדִים: יַּיִיהִי בְּנָסְעָם מִקֶּדֶם וַיִּמְצְאוּ בִקְעָה בְּאֶרֶץ שִׁנְעֶר וַיֵּשְׁבוּ שֶׁם: יַּיִיאִמְרוּ אִישׁ אֶל־רֵעֵהוּ הָבָה נִלְבְּנָה לְבֵּנָה לְבֵּנָה לְאָבֶן הְבָּה נִתְּהִי לָהֶם הַלְּבֵנָה לְאָבֶן וְהַחֵמָר הָיָה לָהֶם לַחְמֶר: יִּיִיאִמְרוּ הָבָה נִבְנָה־לְנוּ עִיר וּמִגְּדָּל וְהַחֵּמְר הָיָה לָהֶם לַחְמֶר: יְיִיּאִמְרוּ הָבָּה נִבְנָה־לְנוּ עִיר וּמִגְּדָץ: יְּיֵיְהָר וְיִבְּתְּה בְּעָבְיִים וְנַעֲשָׂה־לְנוּ שֵׁם פֶּן־נְפוּץ עַל־פְּנֵי כָל־הָאָרֶץ: יְּיִיְהְיֹה לְנִה הַוְ עַם אֶחָד וְשִּׁפָּה אַחַת לְכָלָם וְזֶה הַחִלָּם לַעֲשׁוֹת וְעַתָּה לֹא־יִבְּצֵר מִהֶם כּּל אֲשֶׁר יִזְמוּ לַעֲשׁוֹת: יְהָבָה נֵרְדָה וְנָבְלָה שָׁם לֹא־יִבְּצֵר מִהָם כּל אֲשֶׁר יִזְמוּ לַעֲשׁוֹת: יְהַבָּה נֵרְדָה וְנָבְלָה שָׁם מִשְׁפִת בְּלֹבְנִת הָעִיר: יִעַל־בִּן קָרָא שְׁמָה בְּבָּל בְּיִלִּים וְנִבְּל יְהוֹה שְׂפַת בָּל־הָאָרֶץ וּמִשָּׁם הֶפִיצָם יְהוָה אִבְּת בְּלַל יְהוָה שְׂפַת בָּל־הָאָרֶץ וּמִשָּם הֶפִיצָם יְהוָה עִבְּר יִהְיָּב לִּה הָיִם בְּלַל יְהוֹה שְׂפַת בָּל־הָאָרֶץ וּמִשָּׁם הֶפִּיצָם יְהוָה עִבּי יְהוֹה שִׁפַת בָּל־הָאָרֶץ וּמִשָּׁם הָפִיצִם יְהוָה יְהוֹה שִׁפַת בָּל־הָאָרֶץ וּמִשָּׁם הְבִּיִבְּים יְהוֹה שִׁפַת בִּל־הָאָרֶץ וּמִשָּׁם הְבִיבִּים יְהוֹה שִׁפַת בָּל־הָאָרֶץ.

in/with their migrating/journeying	_ ·	בְּנָסְעָם
[and] they found	_	ַוַיִּכְּיִצְאוּ
[and] they settled/dwelt	annum.	יַּשְׁבוּ
[and] they said		ַוַיּאבְורוּ בייאבְרוּ
to/for them	_	לָהֶּם
they built		בֿרני
all of them (호호 with 교 ending)	_	לְכֻ ٰלֶ ם
they may propose/scheme	_	יָזְמוּ
their language	-	שְׁפָּתָם
they hear/understand	_	יִשְׁמְעוּ
them (NK with De ending)	_	אֹתָם
[and] they ceased/stopped	-	וַיַּחְדְּלוּ
scattered them	Malantary	הֶפִיצָ ם

לל, י ד י	אַתָּה	בֿרוּל	בְיָבֵינוּ.	בִּמְהֵרָה	W'	הקד	עיר	יְרוּשָׁלַיִם	וּבְנֵה
				. 77.	ΆÇ	לֵים.	רוּשִׁי	בְרַחֲמָיוֹ יְ	בונה

4. Psalm 118:1–4—This passage is included in *Hallel* (Psalms 113–118), the collection of psalms in praise of God recited on festivals. The root א־מרבי appears in both singular and plural imperfect forms.

give thanks	_	הוֹדוּ
because, that	<u> </u>	בָּי
let (a term of entreaty, sometimes translated as please)	-	נָא
Aaron	_	אַדַרן
reverers of, those who revere		יָרָאֵי

יהודוּ לַיהנָה כִּי־טוֹב כִּי לְעוֹלָם חַסְדוֹ: יֹאמֵר־נָא יִשְׂרָאֵל כִּי לְעוֹלָם חַסְדוֹ: יֹאמְרוּ־נָא לְעוֹלָם חַסְדוֹ: יֹאמְרוּ־נָא לְעוֹלָם חַסְדוֹ: יֹאמְרוּ־נָא יִרְאֵי יְהנָה כִּי לְעוֹלֶם חַסְדוֹ:

5. From אָרְרוּ?—This song is the part of the Shabbat liturgy. Three plural imperfect verbs appear in this excerpt.

plural imperfect verb from the		
root ローローゼ, rejoice	and the same of th	יִשְׂמְחוּ
kingdom, dominion		מַלְכוּת
proclaimers of, those who proclaim	_	קוֹרְאֵי
pleasure, delight	gelmontes	עָנֶג
seventh .	despined.	שְבִיעִי
all of them (55) with the ending		

Additional Reading and Translation Practice

Translate the following excerpts from the Bible and the prayer book, using the extra vocabulary words provided. Check your translations against the English translations that follow.

1. From אָלְרֶר (Exodus 31:16)—This song comes from a biblical passage regarding the observance of Shabbat and is included in Shabbat evening and morning services. This is the first line of the song, and it begins with a plural perfect verb with a reversing vav.

to make (from the root ת"ש"ה – ע"שות – בּלַעַשוֹת – generations – דורות

וְשָׁמְרוּ בְנֵי־יִשְׂרָאֵל אֶת־הַשַּׁבָּת, לַעֲשׂוֹת אֶת־הַשַּׁבָּת לְ<mark>דרֹתִם</mark> בִּרִית עוֹלֶם:

2. From אָשֶׁרֵל (Psalm 84:5)—This verse is included in the introductory section of the morning and afternoon service. The entire text of אַשְׁרֵל consists of this verse (Psalm 84:5), followed by Psalm 144:15, the entire text of Psalm 145, and Psalm 115:18. The new root appears as a participle in a word pair. The root בישׁר fect verb with the ending attached.

happy, fortunate — אַשְׁרֵי still, yet, more — דוֹר selah (concluding word in certain psalms and in liturgy) — דוֹרָ

אַשְׁרֵי יוֹשְׁבֵי בִיתֶךּ, עוֹד יְהַלְלְוּךְ סֶּלָה:

3. From בּרְכַּת הַמְּוֹוֹן The Blessing after Meals has several parts, including the following blessing for Jerusalem. The new root מושבים appears twice in this excerpt, as a command form and as a participle.

feminine imperfect verb from the root N-Y-7, go out, go forth

תצא

יְהָלְכוּ עַמִּים רַבִּים וְאָמְרוּ לְכוּ וְנַעֲלֶה אֶל־הַר־יְהוָה אֶל־בֵּית 'וְהָלְבוּ נִעֲקֹב...בִּי מִצִיוֹן תֵצֵא תוֹרָה וּדְבַר־יְהוָה מִירוּשָׁלֶם: אֶלֹהֵי יַצַקֹב...בִּי מִצִיוֹן תֵצֵא תוֹרָה וּדְבַר־יְהוָה מִירוּשָׁלֶם:

From Isaiah 2:4

root U-D-W, judge	the —	וְשָׁפַט
plural perfect verb with reversing verb from the root $\Pi^-\Pi^-\Box$, beat	nv —	וְכִתְּתוּ
sword		חֶרֶב
plowshares	evergletink	אָתִים
spear	Manage	חֲנִית
pruning knives	- continue	מַזְמֵרוֹת
imperfect verb from the root N-W	-J,	יִשָּׂא
plural imperfect verb from the root study, learn	,ל-מ-ד, –	יִלְבְוּדוּ
still, [any] more		עוֹד
war		מִלְחָמָה

וְשָׁפַט בֵּין הַגּוֹיִם...וְכִתְּתוּ חַרְבוֹתָם לְאִתִּים וַחֲנִיתוֹתֵיהֶם לְמַוְמֵרוֹת לֹא־יִשָּׂא גוֹי אֶל־גּוֹי חֶרֶב וְלֹא־יִלְמְדוּ עוֹד מִלְחָמָה:

בּבֶּם יְשִׂבְּעוֹ וֹ mperfect verb from the root ישִׁבְעוֹ ישְבִיעִי, have pleasure, delight— ישִׁבְּעוֹ שְׁבִיעִי, ישְׁבִּעוֹ יְשְבִיעִי, שְׁבִיעִי, שְׁבִיעִי, ישְבִּעוֹ וְיִתְעַנְגוּ מְטוּבֶּך.
כ לּם ישִׂבְעוּ וְיִתְעַנְגוּ מְטוּבֶּך.

6. From Isaiah 2:2–4—This passage is a prophetic vision of a future time of peace and wellbeing. A portion of verse 2:3 appears in the Torah service, and the end of verse 2:4 has become a well-known folk song. In verse 2:2, the root ה־י־ד appears as both a perfect verb with a reversing vav and an imperfect verb.

From Isaiah 2:2

end — אַרְרִית firm, established — נְבוֹן mountain — רַבּרוֹן plural perfect verb with reversing vav from the root רַהָּרוֹן, flow, stream —

יְנְדָיָהֹ בְּאַחֲרִית הַיָּמִים נָכוֹן יִהְיֶה הַר בֵּית־יְהנָה בְּרֹאשׁ הֶהָרִים... וְנָהֲרוּ אֵלָיו כָּל־הַגּוֹיִם:

From Isaiah 2:3

plural perfect verb with reversing
vav from the root הלך הלך, go –

let us go up –

mountain –

Exercises

1. Read and translate the following groups of words.

b. بَالِ .b	ב. ראשו
יַדָם	ראשָה
יְדֵיהֶם	ראשׁך
יָדוֹ	ראשָם ראשָם
יוון דין	באשׁיהֶם רַאשׁיהֶם
יַדְלוּדָן	רָאשַׁיכֶם
d. רוּחוֹd	.c בַּנֶירָ .c
<u> </u>	פָּנֶיהָ
רוּתְנוּ	פְנֵיכֶם
רוּדווֹתֵינוּ	פָּנָיוּ
רוּחָם	פְנֵיהֶם
רוּחוֹתִיהֶם	בַּבַינוּ
£ לְבָרָך	קֿ <u>ר</u> ָבָּדָ.e
خٰدِٰكِ	הַלְּבָּוֹר
לְבָבָם	רֻעִיו
לַבָּם	בעיכֶם
לְבְבוֹתֵיהֶם	בעיהֶם
לְבּוֹתֵיהֶם	רֻעָם

Translations

- 1. From אָבְיּרְ (Exodus 31:16)—The Children of Israel/Israelites will keep {let/may the children of Israel keep} the Sabbath, to make the Sabbath for their generations a covenant of eternity {an eternal covenant}.
- 2. From אָשְׁרֵּע (Psalm 84:5)—Happy/fortunate are the sitters/dwellers of Your house {those who sit/dwell in Your house}, they will/may they/let them still/yet/more praise You. Selah.
- 3. From [[17] And build Jerusalem, the city of holiness (the Holy City), soon in our days. Blessed are you, Eternal One, (the One who) builds in God's (His) compassion/mercy Jerusalem. Amen.
- 4. Psalm 118:1–4—Give thanks to the Eternal One because [He/It is] good, because forever is God's {His} kindness. Let Israel say that forever is God's {His} kindness. Let the house of Aaron say that forever is God's {His} kindness. Let those who revere the Eternal One say that forever is God's {His} kindness.
- 5. From They will/may they/let them rejoice in Your dominion the keepers/guardians of Shabbat and those who proclaim [it] a pleasure/delight. {Let/may those who keep the Sabbath and proclaim it a delight rejoice in Your dominion.} A people/nation, sanctifiers of [the] seventh [day], all of them will/may/let them be satiated/content and have pleasure/delight from Your goodness.
- 6. From Isaiah 2:2—And it will be in the end of days, firm/established will be the mountain of the House of the Eternal at the top of the mountains {the mountain of the House of the Eternal will be firm/established at the top of the mountains}...and they will stream/flow to it all the nations/peoples {and all the nations/peoples will stream/flow to it}.
 - From Isaiah 2:3—And they will go many nations/peoples {And many nations/peoples will go} and they will say, "Let us go up to the mountain of the Eternal One, to the House of the God of Jacob...for from Zion will go forth Torah {let/may Torah go forth} and the word of the Eternal from Jerusalem."

From Isaiah 2:4—And God {He} will judge among the nations/peoples...and they will beat their swords to plowshares and their spears to pruning knives. Nation/people will not lift up sword toward {against} nation/people, and they will not still/{any}more study/learn war.

70

יִבְנוּ מִשְׁפְּחוֹתֵיכֶם אֶת בַּתֵיהֶם בְּעִיר הַקְּדֶשׁ.	
ַ עֶרֶב וָבְקֶר יָשְׁבָה הַחוֹלָה בַּחְשֶׁךְ	
ַהַחוֹלִים יָשְׁבוּ בְּבָתֵיהֶם וְלֹא יָצְאוּ מִשָּׁם.	
ַנֵישְׁבוּ הַבָּנִים כָּל חַיֵּיהֶם בֵּין אָמּוֹתֵיהֶם וַאֲבוֹתֵיהֶם.	
בֵּן אֶחָר לֹא יָשַׁב בֵּין אֶחָיו.	
יוֹם וָלַיְלָה אוֹבֵל הָאָדָם אֶת לַחְמוֹ.	
יוֹם וָלַיְלָה יַעֲבְדוּ הָעֲבָדִים לְלַחְמָם.	
עֶבֶד אֶחָד לֹא יַעֲבד וְלֹא יֹאכַל.	
עַבְדֵי הָאָדוֹן יֹאכְלוּ אֶת לַחְמָם בַּשָּׁלוֹם.	
ַ וַיִּשְׁמַע אִישׁ אֶת קוֹל רֵעֲהוּ. ַ	
וַתִּשְׁמַע הָאִשָּׁה אֶת קוֹל נִשְׁמָתָה.	
וַיִּשְׁמְעוּ הָאֲנָשִׁים קוֹל שׁוֹפָר בַּדֶּרֶךְ.	

2. Draw a line connecting each of the following singular verb forms with the corresponding plural verb form. Identify the root of the singular verb on each line and whether the example given is a perfect, imperfect, or participle form.

Plural

Singular

Root

Form

	יָשְׁבוּ	تِرْت	
	אָמְרוּ	تېبت م	
	בוֹנִים	יִהְיֶה	
	אומְרים	چَزِۃ	
	יוֹשְבוֹת	בוֹנֶה	
	יאקרוּ	יִבְנֶה	
	יָדְעוּ	יָשְׁבָה	
	בָּנוּ בָּנוּ	יוֹשֵׁב	
	יוֹדְעִים	יוֹשֶׁבֶת	
	ַ דָּינּרָ	אָמַר	
	יִבְנוּ	יאמַר	
	יוֹשְׁבִים	אומר	
	יָלְהָלּהָּ יִיּיִלְּהָּ	יָדְעָה	
	ַ דָּיִּירָ	יוֹבֶעַ	
Read and translate the following groups of sentences. Remember that the prefix <i>vav</i> can reverse the tense of a verb. Check your translations against those that follow.			
ַ הָאִישׁ בָּנָה בַּיִת לְמִשְׁפַּחְתוֹ. <u>הְאִנְשִׁים בָּנוּ</u> בָּתִים לַאֲחֵיהֶם וּלְמִשְׁפְּחוֹתֵיהֶם.			

וַיִּבְנוּ הָאֲנָשִׁים בַּיִת גָּדוֹל מֵאֲבָנִים גִּדוֹלוֹת.

3.

The prophets of God will/may hear {Let/may the prophets of God hear} the sound of the water upon the earth.

e. Who gave/did give/was giving/had given/has given to them strength?

The saviors/deliverers gave/did give/were giving/had given/have given to their people strength.

The great and mighty God will/may give {May/let the great and mighty God give} light to the people that were in the darkness.

One soul/mind will/may {May/let one soul} give light to all the world/universe.

וְשָׁמְ	ַ מְעוּ נְבִיאֵי הָאֵל אֶת קוֹל הַמְּיִם עַל הָאֶרֶץ.
	ַנתַן לָהֶם גְבוּרָה? תוֹשִׁיעִים נָתְנוּ לְעַמָּם גְבוּרָה.
ָּהָא <u>ֵ</u> ל	ַ אַר לָעָם שֶׁהָיָה בַּחְשֶׁךְ
ֶנֶ <i>פֶ</i> שׁ	שׁ אַחַת תִּתֵן אוֹר לְכָל הָעוֹלֶם.

Translations

a. The man built/was building/did build/had built/has built a house for his family.

The men/people built/did build/were building/had built/have built houses for their brothers and for their families.

The men/people built/did build/were building a big house from big stones.

May/let your families build {Your family will/may build} their houses in the city of holiness {in the Holy City}.

b. Evening and morning the sick (female) sat/did sit/was sitting/had sat/has sat in the darkness.

The sick ones sat/dwelt in their homes and did not go out from {of} there.

The children/sons dwelt all their lives among their mothers and their fathers.

One son did not dwell/sit among/between his brothers.

c. Day and night the human being/man/humankind eats his bread.

Day and night the slaves/servants will/may work {let the slave/servants work} for their bread.

One slave/servant will/may not work and will/may not eat.

The slaves/servants of the lord/ruler will/may eat {May/let the slaves/servants of the lord/ruler eat} their bread in peace.

d. A man heard/did hear/was hearing the voice of his neighbor/companion/friend/fellow.

The woman heard/did hear/was hearing the voice/sound of her soul/breath.

The men/people heard/did hear/were hearing a sound of a shofar in/on the road/path/way.

Write your translation on the lines following the text. This selection includes some grammatical forms and vocabulary that have not yet been introduced. You will need to rely, in part, on the translations provided.

וממולדתה מארצה and from your from your to/for Abram the Eternal said . go to birthplace/kin land you

> אַבִיך ומבית

to/toward your father I will show you the land and from that house [of]

> גַדוֹל לגוי

> and I will and I will [in]to a and I will great make great bless you nation make you

וּמְקַלֶּלְהָ

and he who those who bless you curses you

and I will bless blessing and be

your name

כל אאר ゴゴ

[he] went the earth families [of] all and [they] in you I will will be blessed curse

לוט וַיַּלֶרְ אתו יהוה

and Abram Lot

with him

and [he] went

the Eternal to him

[he] spoke

Abram as



Text: Genesis 12:1-7

The first eleven chapters of the Torah present an account of the beginnings of the entire family of humankind. Then the focus shifts to the history of a particular family, the family of Abraham and Sarah, and their descendants, who become the people of Israel. In the beginning of chapter 12 of Genesis, Abraham, charged with his spiritual quest, embarks on his journey.

Read the Hebrew below to see how many of the words you can recognize. This passage does contain words, Hebrew roots, and grammatical concepts that have not yet been introduced. Underline or circle the words, roots, endings, and prefixes that you already know.

יוִיְאמֶר יְהנָה אֶל־אַבְרָם לֶךְ־לְךְ מֵאַרְצְךְ וּמְמּוֹלַדְתְּךְ וּמְבֵּית אָבִיךְ אָעֶר יְהנָה בְּרָכָה: יַּוְאֶעֶשְׂךְ לְגוֹי נָּדוֹל וַאֲבָרָכְה וַאֲגַדְּלָה שְׁמֶךְ נָהְיֵה בְּרָכָה: יַּוַאֲבָרְכָה מְבָרְכֵיךּ וּמְקַלֶּלְךְ אָאֹר וְנִבְּרְכוּ בְּךְכִּי וְמִלֶּךְ תָּאָר וְנִבְּרְכוּ בְּאַשֶׁר דְּבֶּר אֵלִיו יְהנָה וַיֵּלֶךְ אִתְּוֹ לוֹט וְאַבְרָם בֶּן־חָמֵשׁ שָׁנִים וְשִׁבְעִים שָׁנָה בְּצֵאתוֹ מֵחָרָן:

יְנִיּקְח אַבְרָם אֶת־שָׁרַי אִשְׁתוֹ וְאֶת־לוֹט בֶּן־אָחִיו וְאֶת־כָּל-רְכוּשָׁם יְנִיּשְׁר רָכִשׁוּ וְאֶת־הָנָּפֶשׁ אֲשֶׁר־עָשׁוּ בְחָרָן וַיֵּיצְאוּ לָלֶכֶת אַרְצָה בְּנַעֵן וַיִּבְאוּ וְאֶת־הָנָּפֶשׁ אֲשֶׁר־עָשׁוּ בְחָרָן וַיֵּיצְאוּ לָלֶכֶת אַרְצָה בְּנַעֵן וַיִּבְאוֹ וְאֶר־בְּהָבּנְעֵנִי אָז בָּאָרֶץ: יְנִיּבְרם בָּאָרֶץ עַד מְקוֹם שְׁכָם לְּוַרְעֵךְ אֶבְרָם וַיִּאֹתֶר וְבִּבְּנְעֵנִי אָז בָּאָרֶץ: יְנִיּרָא יְהֹוֹה אֶל־בָּרָם וַיִּאֹמֶר לְנִיבְרָם וּיִאֹבֶר אַבְרָם בִּאָרֶץ עַד מְקוֹם שְׁכָם לְּיִבְרָם בְּאָרֶץ הָוֹיִבְּן שָׁכִם מִוְבֵּח לֵיהֹוָה הַנִּרְאָה לִיבְרָם וִיִּאֹת וַיִּבֶּן שָׁם מִוְבֵּח לֵיהֹוֹה הַנִּרְאָה הַנִּרְאָה אָרֹי: אַז הִאֹת וַיִּבֶן שָׁם מִוְבֵּח לֵיהֹלָה הַנְּרָאָה הַבְּרָם הַיִּבְּיִי אָז בָּאְרֵץ הָוֹיִבְּן שָׁם מִוְבֵּח לֵיהֹוֹה הַנְּרָע, הַאָּל הִיּיִבְי אָז הַיֹאֹת וַיִּבְן הַיִּבְּרָן הָּבְּרְעָן הָּבְּרָי הְיִבְּי אָז הָאֹת וְיִבְּן שָׁם מִוְבֵּח לֵיהֹלָה הַיִּבְּרָם הַיּבְּרִים הְּיִבּין וֹיִבְּי אָנִין הָיִבּּבְיוֹ הְחָרְין הִוֹיִבְם הְיִבְּים הְיִבּין הִיּבְּים הְיִבּים הְיִּבְּן הִיּבְּים הְּבִּרְנִים הְיִבְּיִים הְיִבּים הְיִבְּיִם הְיִבְּיִבְן הִיּבְּים הְיִוֹיִיּבְים הְיִבְּיִים הְיִבְּיִבְּיִים הְיִבְּיִים הְיִבְּיִבְּי הְיִבּים הְיִבְּיִבְּים הְיִבּים הְיִבְּים בְּיִבּים בְיִיּבְּים בְּיִבְּים בְּבְּיִבְּים הְיִבּבְּים בְּיִבּיְבְיוּ בְּיִבְּיוּ בְּיִבְּים בְּיִבְּיוֹ בְּיִבְּיוּ בְּיִבְּיוּ בְּבָּים בְּיִיּבְּבְּיוּ בְּיִיִים בְּבְּיִים בְּיִבְּיוּ בְּיִבְּיוּ בְּיִבְּים בְּיוֹים בְּיוֹים בְּיִבְּיוּם בְּיִבְּים בְּיִבְּיוּים בְּיוּבְיוֹי בְּבְּיוּם הְיִבְּיוֹים בְּיוֹבְיוּים בְּיוֹים בְּיוֹים בְּיבְּיוֹים בְּיוּבְיוֹיוּים בְּבְּבְּבְים בְּבְּיוֹים בְּבְיוֹי

Translating the Torah Study Text

Following is our Torah Study Text, Genesis 12:1–7, reprinted with a literal translation underneath each word. Using your knowledge of the building blocks of the Hebrew language and the meanings of the words provided below, translate this passage into clear English sentences.

CHAPTER 7 76

לֵיהוָה הַנִּרְאֶה אֵלְיו:

to him who to the appeared Eternal

Compare your translation of Genesis 12:1–7 with the Torah translations below.

'The LORD said to Abram, "Go forth from your native land and from your father's house to the land that I will show you.

²I will make of you a great nation,

And I will bless you;

I will make your name great,

And you shall be a blessing.

³I will bless those who bless you

And curse him that curses you;

And all the families of the earth

Shall bless themselves by you."

⁴Abram went forth as the LORD had commanded him, and Lot went with him.

Abram was seventy-five years old when he left Haran. ⁵Abram took his wife Sarai and his brother's son Lot, and all the wealth that they had amassed, and the persons that they had acquired in Haran; and they set out for the land of Canaan. When they arrived in the land of Canaan, ⁶Abram passed through the land as far as the site of Shechem, at the terebinth of Moreh. The Canaanites were then in the land.

'The LORD appeared to Abram and said, "I will assign this land to your offspring." And he built an altar there to the LORD who had appeared to him.

JPS HEBREW-ENGLISH TANAKH: THE TRADITIONAL HEBREW TEXT AND THE NEW JPS TRANSLATION—2D ED. PHILADELPHIA: THE JEWISH PUBLICATION SOCIETY, 1999.

'Hashem said to Abram, "Go for yourself from your land, from your relatives, and from your father's house to the land that I will show you. And I will make of you a great nation; I will bless you, and make your name great, and you shall be a blessing. I will bless those who bless you, and him who curses you I will curse; and all the families of the earth shall bless themselves by you."

'So Abram went as Hashem had spoken to him, and Lot went with him; Abram was seventy-five years old when he left Haran. 'Abram took his wife Sarai and Lot, his brother's son, and all their wealth that they had amassed, and the souls they made in

בֶּן־ חָמֵשׁ שָׁנִים וְשִׁבְעִים שָׁנָה בְּצֵאתוֹ מֵחָרָן: יַנִיּקַח אַבְרָם

Abram and [he] from with his year and seventy years five son took Charan leaving

אֶת־שָּׁרֵי אִשְׁתּוֹ וְאֶת־לוֹט בֶּן־אָחִיו וְאֶת־כָּל־ רְכוּשָׁם אֲשֶׁר

that their property/ all and his son Lot and his wife Sarai goods brother [of]

רָכֶשׁוּ וְאֶת־ הַנֶּפֶשׁ אֲשֶׁר־ עָשׁוּ בְחָרָן וַיִּצְאוּ לָלֶכֶת

to go and they in they that the soul and they went out Charan made amassed

אַרְצָה כְּנַעַן וַיָּבְאוּ אַרְצָה כְּנָעַן: יְנַיַעבר אַבְרָם

Abram and [he] Canaan to the and they Canaan to the passed land came land

בָּאָרֶץ עַד מְקוֹם שְׁכֶם עַד אֵלוֹן מוֹרֶה בָּאָרֶץ

Moreh terebinth/ until/ Shechem place until/ in the land oak as far as of as far as

וְהַבְּנַעֲנִי אָז בָּאָרֶץ: יַנַיֵּרָא יִהוָה אֵל־ אַבְרַם וַיִּאמֵר

and [he] Abram to the and in the then and the said Eternal appeared land Canaanite

לְזַרְצַךּ אָתַן אֶת־הָאָרֶץ הַוּאַת וַיֵּבֶן שָׁם מִזְבֵּחַ

altar there and he this the land I will to your
built give seed/
offspring

Now the Lord said to Avram, Get thee out of thy country, and from thy kindred, and from thy father's house, to the land that I will show thee: and I will make of thee a great nation, and I will bless thee, and make thy name great; and thou shalt be a blessing: and I will bless them that bless thee, and curse him that curses thee: and in thee shall all the families of the earth be blessed. So Avram departed, as the Lord had spoken to him; and Lot went with him: and Avram was seventy five years old when he departed out of Haran. And Avram took Saray his wife, and Lot his brother's son, and all their substance that they had gathered, and the souls that they had acquired in Haran; and they went forth to go to the land of Kena'an; and into the land of Kena'an they came. And Avram passed through the land to the place of Shekhem unto the terebinth of More. And the Kena'ani was then in the land. And the Lord appeared to Avram, and said, To thy seed will I give this land: and there he built an altar to the Lord, who had appeared to him.

THE JERUSALEM BIBLE, PUBLISHED FOR THE NAHUM ZEEV WILLIAMS FAMILY FOUNDATION AT HECHAL SHLOMO, JERUSALEM. JERUSALEM: KOREN PUBLISHERS JERUSALEM LTD., 1969.

Vocabulary

Locate each of the following words in the Torah Study Text: Genesis 12:1-7.

year f	_	שָׁנָה
Canaan m	_	בָּנַעַן
until, unto, as far as	_	עַד
place m	_	מָקוֹם
then, at that time	_	ЙĮ
seed, offspring m	_	זֶרֵע

Notes on the Vocabulary

- 1. The idiom בָּת...שָׁנִים (literally, "a son of...years") or בַּת...שָׁנִים ("a daughter of...years") is the Hebrew way of saying "...years old." This idiom appears in our Torah Study Text in verse 4.
- 2. בּקְלְּחָ, which literally means "the place," is a term used in rabbinic literature for God, the Omnipresent, the One who is in all places.

Haran; and they left to go to the land of Canaan, and they came to the land of Canaan. ⁶Abram passed into the land as far as the site of Shechem, until the Plain of Moreh. The Canaanite was then in the land.

'Hashem appeared to Abram and said, "To your offspring I will give this land." So he built an altar there to Hashem Who appeared to him.

THE CHUMASH, ARTSCROLL SERIES, STONE EDITION. BROOKLYN: MESORAH PUBLICATIONS, 1993.

¹Yhwh said to Avram:

Go-you-forth

from your land,

from your kindred,

from your father's house,

to the land that I will let you see.

²I will make a great nation of you

and will give-you-blessing

and will make your name great.

Be a blessing!

³I will bless those who bless you,

he who curses you, I will damn.

All the clans of the soil will find blessing through you!

⁴Avram went, as Yhwh had spoken to him, and Lot went with him.

And Avram was five years and seventy years old when he went out of Harran.

⁵Avram took Sarai his wife and Lot his brother's son, all their property that they had gained, and the persons whom they had made-their-own in Harran, and they went out to go to the land of Canaan.

When they come to the land of Canaan,

⁶Avram passed through the land, as far as the Place of Shekhem,

as far as the Oak of Moreh.

Now the Canaanite was then in the land.

'YHWH was seen by Avram and said:

I give this land to your seed!

He built a slaughter-site there to YHWH who had been seen by him.

THE FIVE BOOKS OF MOSES: A NEW TRANSLATION WITH INTRODUCTIONS, COMMENTARY, AND NOTES BY EVERETT FOX. NEW YORK: SCHOCKEN BOOKS, 1995.

The root 7727 appears once in verse 4:

And Abram went as the Eternal had spoken to him

ַניֵּלֶךְ אַבְרָם כַּאֲשֶׁר דִּבֶּר אַלִּיו יְהוָה



The emphasis here is on Abraham's quest for himself, for the "root of his own life." This is the literal rendition of Lekh lekha—"Go to yourself"; only in the movement inwards is the God-joy that is true life to be found.

AVIVAH GOTTLIEB ZORNBERG, GENESIS: THE BEGINNING OF DESIRE. PHILADELPHIA: JEWISH PUBLICATION SOCIETY, 1995.

A similar idea is reflected in the following song by Debbie Friedman and Savina Teubal, in which the grammatically masculine phrase לְבִי־לָן and the equivalent feminine phrase לְבִי־לָן become an expression for the personal journey that each individual undertakes in life.

L'chi lach [לְבִי־לֶךְ] to a land that I will show you

Lech l'cha [לֶרִי־לֶךְ] to a place you do not know

L'chi lach [לְבִי־לֶךְ] on your journey I will bless you

And you shall be a blessing (3x) L'chi lach [לְבִי־לָּן

L'chi lach [לְבִי־לֶךְ] and I shall make your name great
Lech l'cha [לְבִי־לֶךְ] and all shall praise your name
L'chi lach [לְבִיּ־לֶךְ] to the place that I will show you

L'simchat chayim [לְשִׁמְחַת חֵרִּים, "to the joy of life"]
L'simchat chochma [לְשִׁמְחַת חָבְמָה, "to the joy of wisdom"]
And you shall be a blessing, l'chi lach [לְבִי־לֶר]

TEXT: DEBBIE FRIEDMAN AND SAVINA TEUBAL. THE COMPLETE SHIREINU: 350 FULLY NOTATED SONGS. NEW YORK: TRANSCONTINENTAL MUSIC, 2001.

God tells Abram to go מֵאַרְצְךְ וֹמִבּית אָבִיךְ וֹמִבּית, "from your land and from your birthplace/kin and from the house of your father." Why are three different locations given when מֵאַרְצִךְ, "from your land," would have encompassed them all?

your land, your birthplace, and your father's house. But if he has left his land, then of course he has left his birthplace and his father's house. This is geographically backwards. Therefore, the point of this order is not geographical. It is emotional. The three steps are

Hebrew Root Review

In Chapter 10 of Aleph Isn't Enough, we introduced a different pattern for forming participles:

Description, instead of Description. Six of the roots included in Aleph Isn't Enough followed this participle pattern. In this chapter, instead of presenting two new roots, we review those six roots. The following chart is included for enrichment only. This chart presents the regular vowels for each form, but alternate or irregular vowels sometimes appear in biblical texts. It is not necessary to memorize all these participle forms.

MEANING	PARTICIPLE FORMS				ROOT
	f pl	m pl	f sg	m sg	
sanctify, make holy	מְקַדְשׁוֹת	מְקַדְשִׁים	מְקַדֶּ שֶׁת	מְקַדִּשׁ	ק-ד-ש
praise	מְהַלְּלוֹת	מְהַלְּלִים	מְהַלֶּלֶת	מְהַלֵּל	ה-ל-ל
speak	מְדַבְּרוֹת	מְדַבְּרִים	מְדַבֶּרֶת	מְדַבֵּר	ד־ב־ר
bless	מְבָרְכוֹת	מְבָרְכִים	מְבָרֶכֶת	מְבָרֵךְ	ב־ר־ך
give life, bring to life	מְחַיּוֹת	מְחַיִּים	מְחַיָּה	מְחַיֶּה	ח־י־ה
command, order	מְצַוּוֹת	קצַוִּים	קצַוָּה	מְצַנֶּה	צ־ו־ה

Notice that there are variations caused by the final root letter Π in the last two roots, $\Pi^{-1}\Pi$ and $\Pi^{-1}Y$.

The root \[\] appears several times in our Torah Study Text:

(verse 2) and I will bless you	_	וַאַבָּרֵכָּךּ
(verse 2)		
and be a blessing		נְהְיֵה בְּרָכָה
(verse 3) and I will bless those who bless you		וַאַבָּרְכָה מִבָּרְכֵיךְּ
(verse 3)		
all the families of the earth will be blessed in you		וְנִבְרְכוּ בְךּ כּל מִשְׁפְּחֹת האדמה
Diesseu in you		ें प्रचार

82

the earth. Now God makes a special bond with Abraham's family and lets him know that this is for the eventual benefit of all families. (See the preceding comment.)

RICHARD ELLIOTT FRIEDMAN, COMMENTARY ON THE TORAH. NEW YORK: HARPERSANFRANCISCO, 2001.

_				-			
1	X	0	mil.	П	0	0	C
	4	C	ш	в			

- 1. Make flash cards for each of the new vocabulary words and Hebrew roots introduced in this chapter, or use the flash card set published as a companion to this book. Review the cards to learn all of them.
- 2. Draw a line connecting each Hebrew word to its English translation. For some words, there can be more than one correct translation.

year	זֶרַע
at that time	
until	עַד
place	מָקוֹם
seed	— ' <i>'</i> ' <i>∓</i> '
as far as	שָׁנָה
offspring	
then	בְנַעַן
unto	b
Canaan	IX

3.	The following are singular and plural forms of words introduced as vocabulary in this chap-
	ter. Draw a line connecting each plural word to its singular form. Translate both into
	English.

שָנָה מְקוֹמוֹת ______ מָקוֹם זְרָעִים _____ זְרַע שָׁנִים _____ arranged in ascending order of difficulty for Abraham. It is hard to leave one's land, harder if it is where one was born, and harder still to leave one's family.

RICHARD ELLIOTT FRIEDMAN, COMMENTARY ON THE TORAH. NEW YORK: HARPERSANFRANCISCO, 2001.

In verse 3, it says אָאר, וֹמְבֶּרְכֶּה מְבָּרְכֶּיך וֹמְקַלֶּלְךְ אָאוֹן. "I will bless those who bless you and he who curses you I will curse." The first term מְבָּרְכֶּיך, "those who bless you," is plural, while the second מְקַלֶּלְךְ, "he who curses you," is singular.

And I will bless them that bless you, and him that curses you, I will curse.... A person should try with all his might to have many who like him and few who dislike him, because that is how the world can exist in harmony. We can see this attribute in Abraham, for it states "them that bless you" in the plural, while "him that curses you" appears in the singular.

RALBAG, AS QUOTED IN *TORAH GEMS*, COMP. AHARON YAAKOV GREENBERG, TRANS. R. DR. SHMUEL HIMELSTEIN. TEL AVIV AND BROOKLYN: YAVNEH PUBLISHING HOUSE, CHEMED BOOKS, 1998.

At the end of verse 3, it states that all the families of the earth לְבֶּרְכוֹּ בְּיִלְ. This phrase can be understood in various ways: "will be blessed [or 'will bless themselves' or 'will become blessed'] in [or 'with' or even 'through'] you."

all the families of the earth will be blessed through you. ... In some way, at some time, the result of the divine choice of Abraham is supposed to be some good for all humankind. We are never told what this good is supposed to be. Is it that Abraham's descendants are supposed to bring blessing by being "a light to the nations"—setting an example, showing how a community can live: caring for one another, not cheating one another, not enslaving one another, not lending things to each other for profit, and so on and on? Or is it that they are to bring blessing by doing things that benefit the species: inventions, cures, literature, music, learning? It does not say. But at minimum it must mean that the people of Israel do not live alone or apart. Their destiny—our destiny—whatever it is, must be bound up in the destiny of all humankind....

will be blessed through you. Rashi takes the plain meaning of this phrase to mean that non-Israelites will bless their children with words such as "May you be like Abraham." His proof for this reading is the wording of Jacob's blessing of his grandsons Ephraim and Manasseh: "Israel will bless with you, saying: 'May God make you like Ephraim and Manasseh'" (Gen. 48:20). But that passage uses an active form of the verb (the Piel), whereas all the occurrences of this phrase in terms of the nations being blessed use forms that are passive or reflexive.... If we take the meaning as passive, then it is as I have translated it here: "the earth's families will be blessed through you." If we take it as reflexive, then it can mean "they will bless themselves through you," which is Rashi's understanding; but a reflexive can also mean "they will get blessing through you." Interpreters are split on this. I believe that the context settles the question. The issue in the story until now has been the course of relations between God and all the families of

5. Identify the root of each of the following participles and whether the participle is masculine or feminine, singular or plural. Translate the meaning of the root.

m/f	sing/pl	Translation	Root	Participle
				מְקַדִּשׁ
				מְהַלֶּלֶת
				מְבָרֵךְ
				מְחַיֶּה
				מְחַיָּה
				קצַנֶּה
				מְצַנָּה
				מְדַבְּרוֹת
				מְדַבֵּר
				מְצַוִּים
				מְבָרְכִים
				מְקַדְּשִׁים
				מְהַלְּלוֹת
				מְקַדֶּישֶׁת
				מְהַלֵּל
				מְבָרֶכֶת

b. אֶּרֶץ כְּנַעַן.	ַזַרעָר
בֶלֶךְ הְנַעַן	ַוְרְעוֹ
עַם כְּנַעָן	ַוֹרְעָה
יוֹשְבֵי כְּנַעַן	ַוַרְעַכֶּם
בְנִי הְּנַעָן	ַוְרְעָם
ם. בְּשָׁנָה אַחַתd	מְקוֹמוֹ
בְּכָל שָׁנָה	מְקוֹמוֹתָיוּ
יְמֵי הַשָּׁנָה	מְקוֹמֵנוּ
ראש הַשָּׁנָה	מְקוֹמוֹתְינוּ
שָׁנִים רַבּוֹת	מְקוֹמָם
h. ¾1	עַד עֶרֶב
מָאָז	עַד בְּקֶׁר
אָז בַּכְנַעַן	עַד עוֹלֶם
אָז בָּאֶרֶץ	עַד שָׁם
אָז בִּירוּשָׁלַיִם	בַהָעִיר עַד הַפַּיִם





Torah Study Text: Vocabulary and Root Review

This unit's Torah Study Text, Genesis 12:1–7, is reprinted below, highlighting the new vocabulary words as well as the words formed from the Hebrew roots reviewed in Chapter 7. Read this passage again, recalling the meaning of each of the highlighted words or roots.

יְנִיּאמֶר יְהֹיָה אֶל־אַבֶּרָם לֶּךְ־לְּךָ מֵאַרְצְּךְ וּמִמּוֹלַדְתְּךְ וּמִבָּית אָבִיךְ שְׁלֶּרְ עָתִּרְ יְהֹיָה אֶל־הָאָרֶץ אֲשֶׁר אַרָּכָה מִבָּרְכֵּיף וּמְקַלֶּלְךְ אָאִר וְנִבְּרְכוּ בְּלְ מִאָר וְנִבְּרְכוּ בְּלְ מִיּתְ וֹיִבֶּלֶף אָתִר הָבֶּעָן: יְנִיֵּעֶר וְנִבְּרְכוּ בְּלְ־רְכוּשִׁ שְׁנִים וְשְׁנָה בְּצֵאתוֹ מֵחְרָן: אַתְר־בְּנְעֵין וְיִבְּרְם בֶּוֹיְעִר וְנִיּצְאוּ לְלֶכֶת אַרְצָה אֲשֶׁר־עָשׁוּ בְחָרֶן וַיֵּצְאוּ לְלֶכֶת אַרְצָה בְּנְעֵין וִיִּבְאוּ אַלְּבָרם בְּאָרֶץ עַדְ מְקוֹם שְׁכֶם בְּבְּעָן וַיִּבְּאוּ אָרְבָּה בְּנָעָן: יְנִיּבְאוּ וְמָלְרָבְּרְם נִיְּאַכֶּן אַבְּרְם בְּאָרֵץ וְיִבְּרְם בִּיְאָרָן הַוֹּבְחַ הַנִּעְרָי אָז בְּבְרָם וִיְאַבֶּר אִבְּרָם בִּיְאַבּר אַבְרָם בְּאָרֵץ עַדְּבְּרָם וִיְּאַבְרְם וִיִּאָרְץ אַרְצָה בְּנְעָן וְיִבְּרְם הְּבָּנְעָנִי אָז בְּעָבן יִנִּבְים בִּיְאָבֶר וְיִבְּרָם וִיִּאָבר אָבְרָם בִּיִּצְבִין אָרִיךְ הַנְּצִבְיִי אָז בְּבְּרָם וַיִּאְבָרְם וִיִּבְּים בְּיִבְּרָם וִיְיִבְּה אָרִין מִוֹנְתְ אָרְרְצָה בְּנְבְּנִיי אָז בְּבְּרָם בִּיְבִּן שָׁם מִוֹבְּחַ לִיהְנָה הְנִבְּרָם וַיִּאְבָּרְים בִּיִּבְּים בְּיִבְּעָבִי אָז בִּיְ שָׁבְּרְ וְנִיּבְיִבְים בִּיִיּבְּרְים בְּבְּבְיִים בְּיִבְים בִּיִיבְּים בְּיִבְּים בְּיִיבְּים בְיִיבְּים בְּיִיבְּים בְּיִבְּים בְּיִבְּיוּ שְׁם מִוֹבְּחַ לְיִבְיוֹ בְּיִבְּים בְּיִבְּיוֹ בְּיִבְּים בְּבְיוּבְים בְּבְּבְיִים בְּיִבְיוּ בְּבְים בְּיִבְּיוֹ בְּבְיִים בְּבְּיוּ בְּיִבְּים בְּיִבְים בְּיִבְיּבְים בְּיִבְּבְים בְּיִבְּיוֹ בְּיִבְּים בְּיִבְּים בְּבְיוֹבְים בְּיִבְים בְּיִבְּבְים בְּיִבְּים בְּבְיבְים בְּיִבְּבְים בְּיִבְּבְים בְּיִבּבְים בְיִבְּים בְּבְיוּבְים בְּיִבְּבְים בְיִיּבְּבְים בְיִיבְּיִים בְּבְּבְים בְּיִבְּבְים בְיוּבְים בְּיוּבְים בְיוּבְבְּבְים בְּיוּבְּבְים בְּיִבְּים בְּיוּבְים בְּיוּבְּבְים בְּיוּבְיוּבְים בְּבְּבְים בְּבְיוּים בְּיִבְים בְּיוֹים בְּבְיוּבְיוּים בְּיוּבְיוּים בְּיוּבְים בְּיבְּים בְּבְיוּבְים בְּבְיוּים בְּבְיוּים בְּיִבְים בְּבְּים בְּבְּים בְי

It is an honor to read from the Torah before one's community in a synagogue service.

Many students of Hebrew are somewhat daunted by the idea of reading from the Torah scroll, since the Hebrew is written without vowels. It may be reassuring to know that virtually everyone, even the

most experienced Torah reader, utilizes a special book called a *tikkun lakorim*, "repair/correction for readers" or idiomatically "a guide for precise reading"), as an aid in preparing a Torah reading.

The pages in a *tikkun* are set up in parallel columns. One column shows the Torah passage as it would be printed in a Hebrew Bible, with all the verses marked, vowels shown, and the additional notations called "trope" or "cantillation" marks written above or below the accented syllable of each word, indicating the phrasing and musical motifs for chanting the passage. The second column shows the same passage as it appears in the Torah scroll, in the distinctive handwritten script that includes decorative crowns on certain letters and no vowels or punctuation. Using a *tikkun* enables one who is preparing a Torah reading to practice, self-check, and ensure that the passage is well learned before standing up before the community.

As an example, below is this chapter's Torah Study Selection (Genesis 12:1–7) as it would appear in a *tikkun*:

וממולדתר מארצר ומבית אל הארץ אשר אראך ואעשר ל גדול ואברכך ואגדלה שמך ויכר אברם אליו יהוה וילר אתו לוט ואברם בן חמש שנים ושבעים שנה בצאתו מחרן ויקח אברם את שרי אשתו ואת לוט בן אחיו ואת כל רכושם אשר רכשו ואת הנפש אשר עשו בחרן ויצאו כככת ארצה כנען ויבאו ארצה כלען ויעבר אברם בארץ עד מקום שכם עד אכון מורה והכנעני אל אברם יהוה ויאמר כ'ורער אתן את הארץ הזאת ויבן שם מובח ליהוה הנראה אליו

אל־אברם וּמִמוֹלֵדְתַּךְּ ומבית אַל־הַאָרֵץ אַשֶר אַראַרַ: וָאַעשִׁרְּ לִגוֹי ואברכל ואגדלה שמך והיה ואברכה מברכיה ומקל הַאַדַמַה: וַיַּלַךְ אברֹם כּאשׁר דבּר אַלַיוֹ יָהוָה וַיַּלַךְ אתוֹ לוֹט ואברם בַּן־חָמֵשׁ שַנִים ושבעים שנה בּצאתוֹ מחרן: ויקח אברם את־שרי אשתו וְאָת־לִוֹט בֵּן־אַחִיו וְאֶת־כַּל־רְכוּשָׁם אַשֶׁר רבשו ואת־הנפש אשר־עשוּ בְּחָרָן וַיִּצְאוּ לַלֶּכֶת אַרְצַה כְּנַעַן וַיַּבְאוּ אַרְצָה כָּנָעָן: וַיַּעַבָר אַבַרָם בָּאַרֶץ עַד מִקוֹם שָׁבֶּם עַד אֵלְוֹן מוֹרֶה וְהכּנעני וַיַּרָא יָהוָה אל־אברם וַיֹּאמֶר לְזַרְעַךְּ אָתֵן אַת־הַאָרֵץ הַזּאת וַיָּבֶן שָׁם מִוְבַּחַ לַיהוָה הַנִּרְאָה אַלִיו:

88

Meaning in פָעֵל Pi-el	Meaning in פָעַל Paal	Root	
preserve, conserve	guard, keep	ש־מ־ר	
give life, bring to life	live, be alive	חרירה	
desire, covet	love	א־ה־ב	
send away, release	send	ש-ל-ח	
shatter, smash	break	ש־ב־ר	
teach	study, learn	ל-מ-ד	

Perfect Verbs in the בְּעֵל Pattern

The name אוֹם indicates the regular perfect אוֹם "he" or "it"—form for roots in this pattern:

	פָעַל (בַּבֶּבּ)	
[he] praised		הַלֵּל
[he] sanctified		קַדִּשׁ
[he] spoke	_	דָבַר

The feminine singular and the plural perfect forms in the בָּעֶל pattern use different vowels but exactly the same endings as the בָּעָל pattern:

Imperfect Verbs in the אפעל Pattern

Imperfect verbs in the פָּעֵל pattern use different vowels but exactly the same prefixes and endings as the פָּעַל pattern:

Building Blocks

Hebrew Verb Patterns

There are several different verb patterns in Hebrew. Until this unit, all the roots introduced in this book followed the same basic pattern for forming participles and for forming imperfect and perfect verbs. While there might be variations caused by certain root letters, such as a final letter Π or a first letter Π , all the roots still followed essentially the same pattern. The name of this Hebrew pattern is the Π (paal) pattern. Some call this the Π (Kal or Simple) pattern.

The names of the other Hebrew verb patterns are derived from the letters לב"ב", the root letters of the Hebrew word for "verb": בוֹעֵל בּ. The name of each pattern, such as בּוֹעֵל , indicates the regular perfect אוֹה"—"he" or "it"—form for roots in that pattern:

	i	(פָעַל
--	---	----------	-------

[he] said	_	אָמַר
[he] knew	<u> </u>	יָדַע
[he] worked	_	עָבַד
[he] sat	_	יָשַׁב

The בְּעֵל (Pi-el) Pattern

The six roots included in this unit, in the Root Review section of Chapter 7, all follow another Hebrew verb pattern: the פַעל pattern. Participles in the בעל pattern have the prefix מ added before the root letters, and a distinctive voweling pattern, as shown in the chart in the Root Review section of Chapter 7.

All the roots introduced thus far have appeared in either the לְּצָלָּ (paal) pattern or the מָּצָלָ (pi-el) pattern. It is possible, however, for a Hebrew root to appear in more than one verb pattern. If the same root appears in both the מָצָלָ and the מָצָלָ patterns, it will have a related, but different, meaning in each pattern. The meaning in the מַצָל pattern may be an intensification of the מַצָל meaning. Following are examples from some familiar and unfamiliar roots:

mperfect forms		era en en Ambrima		
"they"—בו	"she/it"—ארי	"he/it"—אות	Root	
יְקַדְשׁוּ	רְּקַדִּשׁ	יְקַדִּשׁ	ק־ד־שׁ	sanctify
יְהַלְּלוּ	لأترقح	יְהַלֵּל	ה-ל-ל	praise
יְדַבְּרוּ	لألتقد	יְדַבֵּר	ד-ב-ר	speak
יָבָרְכוּ	ָּרָבֶרָךְ <u>ְּ</u>	יְבָרֵך	ב־ר־ך	bless
לְחַלּהָ	سْتَارْت	ئتاۋك	חוליה	give life
וְצַרָּרְ	הְצַנֶּה	نْكَرْك	צ־ו־ה	command

Additional Reading and Translation Practice

Translate the following Hebrew excerpts, using the extra vocabulary words provided. Check your translations against the English translations that follow.

1. The Shabbat Candle Lighting Blessing—This blessing is said on Friday evening when lighting the Shabbat candles. The roots שׁבְּעֵל and בּוֹל both appear as בּעָל perfect forms, with the לוֹם ending attached.



בָּרוּך אַתָּה יְיָ אֱלֹהֵינוּ מֶלֶך הָעוֹלֶם, אֲשֶׁר קִדְשֵׁנוּ בְּמִצְוֹתָיוּ וְצִנֵּנוּ לְהַדְלִיק נֵר שֶׁל שַׁבָּת.

2. From בי שֶבֶּרְ This is the opening phrase of the prayer for healing, said on behalf of those who are ill. The root ביי שבר appears in both perfect and imperfect verb forms. The root ביי also appears as a בּעל imperfect verb.

the One who {literally: who that} —

מי ש־

Torah Study Text with Building Blocks

Following is an excerpt, Genesis 12:3–4, from this unit's Torah Study Text, reprinted with the two לשלי verbs highlighted. Reread these verses, noting that one verb is a simple perfect form without prefixes or endings, while the other is a participle with an ending attached. A translation is provided below only for the highlighted על verbs. Remember that there could be other possible translations. For a full translation of the verses, refer back to Chapter 7.

Genesis 12:3-4

יַּוַאֲבָרְכָה מְבָּרְכֶּיךּ וּמְקַלֶּלְּךּ אָאר וְנִבְרְכוּ בְּךּ כּל מִשְׁפְּחֹת הָאֲדָמָה: יַּוַיֵּלֶךְ אַבְרָם כַּאֲשֶׁר דִּבָּר אֵלָיו יְהוָה וַיֵּלֶךְ אִתּוֹ לוֹט וְאַבְרָם בֶּן־חָמֵשׁ שָׁנִים וְשִׁבְעִים שָׁנָה בְּצֵאתוֹ מֵחָרָן:

those who bless you (ロュニュニュニュニュニュニュニュニュニュニュニュニュニュニュニュニュニュニュニ	_	בְרָבֶיךּ
[he] spoke		ָד <u>בֶּ</u> ר

Pattern פעל

The following charts include the אוֹח ("he" or "it"), איֹח ("she" or "it"), and בוֹח ("they") forms in the perfect and imperfect for each of the six ישני roots included in this chapter. These charts present the regu-

lar vowels for each form, but alternate or irregular vowels sometimes appear in biblical texts. These charts are included for enrichment only. It is not necessary to memorize these forms. Notice that the irregularities that appeared with final コ verbs in the ウリウ pattern also occur in the pattern.

Perfect Forms

"they"—⊐☐	"she/it"—איק	"he/it"—אות	Root	
קָּדִשׁוּ	קְּרִשָּׁה	קָדִּשׁ	ק־ד־ש	sanctify
ָ הַלְּלוּ	הּלְלָה	הַלֵּל	ה-ל-ל	praise
ָדִ בְּרוּ	ਜਜ਼੍ਰਜ਼	דְבֵּר	ד־ב־ר	speak
בַּרְכוּ	בַּרְכָה	בֿבר	ב־ר־ך	bless
דָוּיּרָ	بأبأت	نائب	חייה	give life
אָוּוּ	אָוְתָה	צָנָה	צורה	command

92

וִירוּשֶׁלֵיִם.	ציּרֹד	אבלי	שאר	בתור	אתכם	ינחם	המקום
	1 -		T :	1	* : *	;	1 T T

5. Psalm 148:13-14—These verses are included in the Torah Service before the Torah scroll is returned to the ark. The passage begins with a plural ウブー imperfect from the root ラープース.

for, because		בָּי
exalted	_	נִשְׂנָב
alone, by itself		לְבַדּוֹ
splendor, grandeur	_	הוֹד
He {God} has exalted, aggrandized {literally: raised the horn of}		וַיָּרֶם קֶרֶן לְ
praise, glory		त्र्त्व
follower, faithful one	_	חָסִיד
near, close to	_	קָרוֹב

יִּיְהַלְלוּ אֶת־שֵׁם יִיָ כִּי־נִשְׂנָב שְׁמוֹ לְבַדּוֹ הוֹדוֹ עַל־אֶרֶץ וְשָׁמָיִם: יוַיְּרֶם קֶרֶן לְעַמוֹ תְּהִלָּה לְכָל־חֲסִידִיו לִבְנֵי יִשְׂרָאֵל עַם־קְרֹבוֹ הַלְלוּ־יָה:

6. Numbers 6:22–26 (Priestly Benediction)—Verses 24–26, the words used in antiquity by the priests (the sons of Aaron) to bless the community of Israel, are now used by parents to bless their children on Shabbat and festivals. This blessing also appears in the traditional Musaf (additional) Shabbat service and festival service, and it is often recited at weddings, circumcisions, and baby-namings. The roots מבעל forms.

שָּׁרָה, רִבְקָה,	וְאִמוֹתֵינוֹ ע	ּוְיַעֲקב,	יִצְחָק	אַבְרָהָם	אַבוֹתֵינוּ	מי שֶבֵרָךְ
	/הַחוֹלָה	הַחוֹלֶה	א אֶת	בר ויבּ	ה, הוא יְבָ	רָחֵל וְלֵאָד

3. From בְּרָאשׁ הַשְּׁנָה חֹקֶּם—This excerpt comes from the second section of the אָדָה הֹקֶּם prayer recited on Rosh HaShanah and Yom Kippur. A יוועל imperfect form of the root הַּבְּעל appears in this selection.

it shall be written	2 · · · -	יִבֶּתבוּן
fast	*******	צוֹם
atonement	_	בֹפוּר
it shall be sealed	_	יַחָתֵמוּן
will die, may die	_	יָמוּת

בְּרֹאשׁ הַשָּׁנָה יִכָּתֵבוּן וּבְיוֹם צוֹם כִּפּוּר יֵחָתֵמוּן.... מִי יִחְיֶה וּמִי יָמוּת....

imperfect from the root □־Π־ב, comfort, console	_	יְנַחֵם
among	_	בְּתוֹךְ
[the] rest, other	_	שְאָרָ
mourner	ententies.	אָבֵל

7. From אָשֶׁרֵא (Psalm 145:9-11, 21 and Psalm 115:18)—These verses are included in the introductory section of the morning and afternoon service. The entire text of אַשְׁרֵא consists of Psalm 84:5, followed by Psalm 144:15, all of Psalm 145, and Psalm 115:18.

Psalm 145:9-11

[they] will/may praise you <i>or</i> let [the praise you	m] —	دا بالمالة
follower, faithful one	_	ה ָסִיד
יבְרְכוֹ with ק ending attached		יְבָרְכְוּכָה
glory	_	כְּבוֹד
kingdom, realm		מַלְבוּת

יטוֹב־יְהנָה לַכּּל וְרַחֲמָיו עַל־כָּל־מַעֲשָׂיו: ייוֹדְוּךּ יְהנָה כָּל־מַעֲשֶׂיךּ וְחַסִידֶיךּ יְבָרְכְוּכָה: יִבְּרבוֹד מַלְכוּתְךּ יֹאמֵרוּ וּגְבוּרָתְךּ יְדַבֵּרוּ:

Psalm 145:21 and Psalm 115:18

_	תְּהָלֶּה
_	פָּל
_	בָּשָׂר
_	נָבָרֵךְ
_	עַהָּה
	_ _

יּתְהַלֵּת יְהוָה יְדַבֶּר־פִּי וִיבָרֵךְ כָּל־בָּשָׂר שֵׁם קָּרְשׁוֹ לְעוֹלָם וָעֶר: יוָאַנַחְנוּ נְבָרֵךְ יָה מֵעַתָּה וְעַד־עוֹלָם הַלְלוּ־יָה:

Numbers 6:22-23

saying	enegative.	לַאמר
speak (command form from the root 7-2-7)	Malana	ַ <u>בַּר</u>
Aaron	equipment)	אַהַרץ
so, thus	_	בה
shall you bless (you pl imperfect from the root ¬¬¬¬¬)		הְנָבָרֵכוּ
say (command, from the root 7-12-K)	philippino	אָמוֹר

יַּוְיְדַבֵּר יְהוָה אֶל-משֶׁה לֵּאמֹר: יַּדַבֵּר אֶל-אַהֲרן וְאֶל-בָּנָיו לֵאמֹר יַּנִי יְשְׂרָאֵל אָמוֹר לָהֶם: כֹּה תְבָרֲכוּ אֶת־בְּנֵי יִשְׂרָאֵל אָמוֹר לָהֶם:

Numbers 6:24-26

imperfect from the root פעל with ק ending	_	יָבָרֶכְךְּ
imperfect from the root פַּעַל with ק ending	_	יִשְׁמְרֶך
may [he] shine	_	יָאֵר
be gracious to you	_	יָּדֶנֶּ
may [he] raise, lift up		יַשָּׂא
and may [he] give, place	deplosies	וְיָשַׂם

יִּנְבֶרֶכְךְ יְהֹנָה וְיִשְׁמְרֶךְ: יֹּיָאֵר יְהֹנָה פָּנִיו אֵלֶיךְ וִיחֻבֶּרְ: יִּשָּׂא יְהֹנָה פָּנָיו אֵלֶיךְ וְיָשֵׂם לְךְ שָׁלוֹם:

Exercises

1.	Using the Grammar Enrichment charts as an aid, draw a line connecting each of the follow-
	ing verb forms to the corresponding pronoun:

Many lines will connect with each pronoun. Identify the root and whether the form is a perfect, imperfect, or participle. Translate.

Translation	Root	Form	Verb	Pronoun
			מְקַדִּשׁ	
			מְדַבְּרִים	
	***************************************		מְבָרֶכֶת	he הרא
			מְחֵיֶּה	
			אָנָה	
			הַלֵּל	
			הַבְּרָה	she היא
			בַּרְכָה	
			קּדְשׁוּ	
			הְבָרֵך	
			יְהַלְּלוּ	□∏—they
			יְצַוּרָ	
		****	יְחַנֶּה	

2.	Read and translate the following groups of sentences. Remember that the prefix <i>vav</i> can reverse the tense of a verb. Check your translations against those that follow.
	ָרָאֶנֶשִׁים יָשְׁבוּ בְּאֶבֶץ כְּנֵעַן שָׁנָה אַחַת.
	הַּמִשְׁפָּחָה יָשְׁבָה בְּעִיר יְרוּשָׁלֵיִם שָׁנִים רַבּוֹת.

Translations

- 1. The Shabbat Candle Lighting Blessing—Blessed are You, Eternal our God, Sovereign of the universe, who has sanctified us/made us holy with God's {His} commandments and commanded us to light/kindle [the] light/candle of Shabbat.
- 2. From בר היי שבר The One who blessed/has blessed/did bless our fathers Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob, and our mothers Sarah, Rebekah, Rachel, and Leah, may God {He} bless {let God {Him} bless} and heal the (male) sick one/the (female) sick one....
- 3. From הַּלְּעָה שׁבְּרֹשׁ On Rosh HaShanah (at the head of the year) it shall be written and on the day of the fast of atonement (on Yom Kippur) it shall be sealed.... Who will/may live and who will/may die....
- 4. Words to Mourners—May God {the Place, the Omnipresent, the One who is in all places} comfort/console you among the other/rest of the mourners of Zion and Jerusalem.
- 5. Psalm 148:13–14—They may/will praise {Let them praise} the name of the Eternal One, for/because exalted is God's {His} name alone. God's {His} splendor/grandeur is upon land/earth and sky/heaven. God {He} has exalted God's {His} people, praise/glory to [of] all God's {His} followers/faithful ones, to [of] the Children of Israel, a people near/close to him. Hallelujah! {Praise Yah!}
- 6. Numbers 6:22–23—The Eternal One spoke/did speak to Moses, saying: Speak to Aaron and to his sons saying, So/Thus shall you bless the Children of Israel. Say to them:

 Numbers 6:24–26 (Priestly Benediction)—May/let the Eternal One bless you and keep/guard you. May the Eternal One shine God's {His} face toward you and be gracious to you. May the Eternal One raise/lift up God's {His} face toward you and give/place to/for you peace.
- 7. From YUK (Psalm 145:9-11)—Good is the Eternal One to all, and God's {His} compassion/mercy is upon all God's {His} deeds/acts/works. All Your deeds/acts/works will praiseYou {Let/may all Your deeds/acts/works praise You} Eternal One, and Your faithful ones will/may bless You {Let Your faithful ones bless You}. The glory of Your kingdom/realm they will/may say {Let them say the glory of Your kingdom/realm}, and Your strength/might they will/may speak {let them speak}.
 - From TVX (Psalm 145:21 and Psalm 115:18)—Praise of the Eternal One let/may my mouth speak {My mouth may/will speak praises of the Eternal One}, and let/may all flesh bless {all flesh may/will bless} the name of God's {His} holiness {God's holy name}, forever and ever. And we will/may bless {Let us bless} Yah, from now and unto eternity, hallelujah {praise Yah}.

CHAPTER 8 98

שְמְעוּ אֶת קוֹלוֹ וְאֶת דְּבָרָיו מִבְּקֶר עַד עֶרֶב.	רַלּל
יוּ הַדְּבָרִים אֲשֶׁר הוּא מְצַוֶּה בְּרָאשֵׁיהֶם כָּל הַלַּיְלָה.	ְּרָהָ
בוני הָעִיר. בְּל הַשָּׁנָה וְאָז הָעָם יְהַלֵּל אֶת בּוֹנֵי הָעִיר.	וְעָ

Translations

a. The people/men dwelt/did dwell/were dwelling/had dwelt/have dwelt in the land of Canaan one year.

The family dwelt/did dwell/was dwelling/had dwelt/has dwelt in the city of Jerusalem many years.

The brothers were not in Zion at the head of the year (at/on Rosh HaShanah).

The man was in [the] darkness one night.

b. We are not going out [of]/from our place.

There is no place for you [pl] in our land.

The place of our fathers/ancestors was among the workers of the earth/ground/land.

At that time/then will be there the place of our offspring {the place of our offspring will be there}.

c. Who gives life to/brings to life every soul/mind/breath?

The great God will/may {Let the great God} give life to/bring to life everything.

The spirit of holiness {the holy spirit} will/may {Let the holy spirit} give life to/bring to life the world/universe.

The faces of the children/sons give life to the hearts of their mothers.

d. The man spoke to his fellow/neighbor and said: "Good morning."

The mother spoke to her children/sons and said: "Good night."

The fathers/ancestors spoke to their offspring and blessed the work/act of their hands.

God blessed the Sabbath day (the day of the Sabbath) and sanctified it/made it holy.

e. The lord/ruler commanded/ had commanded/has commanded his servants/slaves and they worked until evening.

They heard/did hear/were hearing his voice and his words from morning until evening.

And they will be the words that he commands (The words that he commands will be) in their heads all the night.

They will work all the year and then the people/nation will praise the builders of the city.

לא הָיוּ הָאָחִים בְּצִיּוֹן בְּרֹאשׁ הַשָּׁנָה.	
ַנְיָהִי הָאָדָם בַּחְשֶׁךְ לַיְּלָה אֶחָר.	
אַנַחְנוּ לֹא יוֹצְאִים מִמְּקוֹמֵנוּ. אֵין מָקוֹם לָכֶם בְּאַרְצֵנוּ. מְקוֹם אֲבוֹתִינוּ הָיָה בֵּין עוֹבְדֵי הָאֲדָמָה.	.b
אָז יִהְיֶה שָׁם מְקוֹם זַרְעֲנוּ.	
מִי מְחַיֶּה כָּל נֶפֶשׁ? הָאֵל הַנָּדוֹל יְחַיֶּה אֶת הַכּּל. רְוּחַ הַקְּדֶשׁ תְּחַיֶּה אֶת הָעוֹלָם.	.c
פְּנֵי הַבָּנִים מְחַיִּים אֶת לִבְבוֹת אִמּוֹתֵיהֶם.	
ַ יַיְדַבֵּר הָאִישׁ אֶל רֵעֲהוּ וַיְּאׁמֶר: ״בְּקֶר טוֹב.״	.d
ַוּתְדַבֵּר הָאֵם אֶל בָּנֶיהָ וַתְּאמֶר: ״לַיְלָה טוֹב.״	
ַ וִיְדַבְּרוּ הָאָבוֹת אֶל זַרְעָם וַיְבָרְכוּ אֶת מַעֲשֵׂה יְדֵיהֶם.	
וַיְבֶרֶךְ הָאֱלֹהִים אֶת יוֹם הַשַּׁבָּת וַיְקַדֵּשׁ אֹתוֹ.	
ַ הָאָדוֹן צִנָּה אֶת עֲבָדִיו וַיַּעֲבְדוּ עַד עֶרֶב.	.e

מִן־הַשָּׁמִיִם וַיְּאמֶר אַבְרָהָם אַבְרָהָם וַיְּאמֶר הִגֵּנִי: יּוַיְּאמֶר אַל־תִּשְׁלַח יָדְךּ אֵל־הַנַּעַר....

Translating the Torah Study Text

Following is our Torah Study Text, Genesis 22:1–5, 22:9–12, reprinted with a literal translation underneath each word. Using your knowledge of the building blocks of the Hebrew language and the meanings of the words provided below, translate this passage into clear English sentences. Write your translation on the lines following the text. This selection includes some grammatical forms and vocabulary that have not yet been introduced. You will need to rely, in part, on the translations provided.

Genesis 22:1-5

נִיְהִי אַחַר הַדְּבָרִים הָאֵלֶּה וְהָאֱלֹהִים נִסָּה אֶת־אַבְרָהָם'

Abraham tested and [the] God these the things/words after and it was

וַיְּאמֶר אַלָּיו אַבְרָהָם וַיְּאמֶר הְגֵּנִי: יַנְיְאמֶר קַח־ נָא

please/ take and he here I am and he Abraham to him and he pray said said said

אָת־בִּנְךּ אֶת־יְחִידְרָּ אֲשֶׁר־ אָהַבְּתָּ אֶת־יִצְחָק וְלֶךְ־ לְךּ אֶל

to to/for and you go Isaac

you love whom

your only one

your son

אֶרץ הַמּוֹרִיָּה וְהַעֲלֵהוּ שָׁם לְעֹלָה עַל אַחַר הֶהָרִים אֲשֶׁר

that the one on for an there and bring Moriah land mountains offering him up

אֹמֵר אֵלֵיף: יוֹיַשִׁכֵּם אַבְרָהָם בַּבְּקֶר וַיַּחֲבשׁ אֶת־חֲמֹרוֹ

his donkey/ ass and in the saddled morning

Abraham

[he] rose early to you I will tell



Torah Study Text: Genesis 22:1-5, 9-12

HaShanah. Part of verse 5 through verse 8, containing Abraham's parting words to his servants and the dialogue between Abraham and Isaac as they head up the mountain, have been omitted in order to shorten our selection.

Read the Hebrew below to see how many of the words you can recognize. This passage does contain words, Hebrew roots, and grammatical concepts that have not yet been introduced. Underline or circle the words, roots, endings, and prefixes that you already know.

Genesis 22:1-5

ינִיְהִי אַחַר הַדְּבָרִים הָאֵלֶה וְהָאֶלֹהִים נִסָּה אֶת־אַבְרָהָם וַיְּאֹמֶר אַלֵּיו אַבְרָהָם וַיְּאֹמֶר הִנְּנִי: יַּיְּאֹמֶר קַח־נָא אֶת־בִּנְךָ אֶת־יְחִידְךְּ אֲשֶׁר־אָהֶלְ הַבְּרָהָם וַיְּאֹמֶר הִנְּנִי: יַּיְּאֹמֶר אַמֵּר אַמֶּר יִּבְּרָהָם וְיִּאֲלֵהוּ שָׁם לְעֹלָה עַל אַחַד הֶהָּרִים אֲשֶׁר אֹמֵר אֵלֶיך: יִּנִישְׁכֵּם אַבְּרָהָם בַּבְּּכֶּךְ וְיִבְּקַע נִיְּחָבְשׁ אֶת־חֲמֹרוֹ וַיִּקָּם עָּלְ־הַמְּלוֹם אֲשֶׁר־אָמֵר־לוֹ הָאֱלֹהִים: יּבִּיּוֹם עֲצִי עֹלָה וַיִּקָם וַיֵּלֶךְ אֶל־הַמָּקוֹם אֲשֶׁר־אָמֵר־לוֹ הָאֱלֹהִים: יּבִּיוֹם הַשְׁלִישִׁי וַיִּשְׁא אַבְרָהָם אֶת־עִינִיו וַיִּרְא אֶת־הַמָּקוֹם מֵרְחִקּ: יַּבִּיוֹם הְשֹׁלִיתִי שְׁבוּ־לָכֶם פּה עִם־הַחַמוֹר...

Genesis 22:9-12

יַנִיּבְאוּ אֶל־הַמָּקוֹם אֲשֶׁר אָמַר־לוֹ הָאֱלֹהִים וַיִּבֶן שָׁם אַבְרָהָם אֶת־הַמִּזְבֵּחַ וַיַּעֲרֹךְ אֶת־הָעֵצִים וַיַּעֲקֹד אֶת־יִצְחָק בְּנוֹ וַיָּשֶׂם אֹתוֹ עַל־הַמִּזְבֵּחַ מִמַּעַל לָעֵצִים: יֹנִיִּשְׁלַח אַבְרָהָם אֶת־יָדוֹ וַיִּקַח אֶת־הַמַּאֲבֶלֶת לִשְׁחֹט אֶת־בְּנוֹ: יֹנִיּקְרָא אֱלָיו מַלְאַךְ יְהוָה וַיָּשֶׂם אֹתוֹ עַל־ הַמִּזְבֵּחַ מִמְעַל לָעֵצִים: יוֹנִישְׁלַח אַבְרָהָם Abraham [he] stretched [to] the on top of the altar on him and out wood

אָת־יָדוֹ וַיִּקְרָא אֵלֶיוּ לִשְׁחֵט אֶת־בְּנוֹ: יוֹיַקְרָא אֵלֶיוּ to him and his to slaughter/ the knife and his took hand

the lad toward/ your stretch do not and he against hand out said I am

Compare your translation of Genesis 22:1–5, 9–12 with the Torah translations tions below. Remember that part of verse 5 through verse 8, containing Abraham's parting words to his servants and the dialogue between Abraham and Isaac as they head up the mountain, were omitted from our Torah Study Text in order to shorten the selection. These verses are, however.

from our Torah Study Text in order to shorten the selection. These verses are, however, included in the English translations that follow.

'Some time afterward, God put Abraham to the test. He said to him, "Abraham," and he answered, "Here I am." 'And He said, "Take your son, your favored one, Isaac, whom you love, and go to the land of Moriah, and offer him there as a burnt offering on one of the heights that I will point out to you." 'So early next morning, Abraham saddled his ass and took with him two of his servants and his son Isaac. He split the wood for the burnt offering, and he set out for the place of which God had told him. 'On the third day Abraham looked up and saw the place from afar. 'Then Abraham said to his servants, "You stay here with the ass. The boy and I will go up there; we will worship and we will return to you."

וּיַקַת אֶת־שְׁנֵי נְעָרָיו אִתּוֹ וְאֵת יִצְחָק בְּנוֹ וַיְבַקַע and split his son Isaac and with him his lads/ two and he young men took

לו אל־ וַיֵּלֵרְ המקום ויקם the place to him [he] that to/ and and offering wood said toward went arose

הַאֶּלהִים: ⁴בַּיּוֹם הַשְּׁלִישִׁי וַיִּשָּׂא אַבְרָהָם אֶת־עֵינָיו וַיַּרְא and saw his eyes Abraham [he] lifted the third on the day God

> אֶת־הַמָּקוֹם מֵרָחֹק: נְיִּאמֶר אַבְרָהָם אֶל־ נְעָרָיוּ his lads/ to Abraham and [he] from afar the place young men said

> > שְׁבוּ־ לָכֶם פּה עִם־ הַחֲמוֹר....

the donkey/ass with here yourselves sit

Genesis 22:9-12

לו האלהים הַמַקוֹם אמר־ אשר שם the place [he] said and they that there and [he] God to to built him came

אַבְרָהָם אֶת־הַמִּזְבֵּחַ וַיִּעֲרֹךְ אֶת־הָעֵצִים וַיַּעֲקֹד אֶת־יִצְחָק בְּנוֹ his son Isaac and [he] the wood and [he] the altar Abraham bound And he said, "Here I am."

¹²And he said, "Do not stretch out your hand against the lad...."

THE CHUMASH, ARTSCROLL SERIES, STONE EDITION. BROOKLYN: MESORAH PUBLICATIONS, 1993.

¹Now after these events it was

that God tested Avraham

and said to him:

Avraham!

He said:

Here I am.

²He said:

Pray take your son,

your only-one,

whom you love,

Yitzhak.

and go-you-forth to the land of Moriyya/Seeing,

and offer him up there as an offering-up

upon one of the mountains

that I will tell you of.

³Avraham started-early in the morning,

he saddled his donkey,

he took his two serving-lads with him and Yitzhak his son,

he split wood for the offering-up

and arose and went to the place that God had told him of.

⁴On the third day Avraham lifted up his eyes

and saw the place from afar.

⁵Avraham said to his lads:

You stay here with the donkey,

and I and the lad will go yonder,

we will bow down and then return to you.

⁶Avraham took the wood for the offering-up,

he placed them upon Yitzhak his son,

in his hand he took the fire and the knife.

Thus the two of them went together.

'Yitzhak said to Avraham his father, he said:

Father!

He said:

"Abraham took the wood for the burnt offering and put it on his son Isaac. He himself took the firestone and the knife; and the two walked off together. Then Isaac said to his father Abraham, "Father!" And he answered, "Yes, my son." And he said, "Here are the firestone and the wood; but where is the sheep for the burnt offering!" And Abraham said, "God will see to the sheep for His burnt offering, my son." And the two of them walked on together.

"They arrived at the place of which God had told him. Abraham built an altar there; he laid out the wood; he bound his son Isaac; he laid him on the altar, on top of the wood. ¹⁰And Abraham picked up the knife to slay his son. ¹¹Then an angel of the LORD called to him from heaven: "Abraham! Abraham!" And he answered, "Here I am." ¹²And he said, "Do not raise your hand against the boy...."

JPS HEBREW-ENGLISH TANAKH: THE TRADITIONAL HEBREW TEXT AND THE NEW JPS TRANSLATION—2D Ed. PHILADELPHIA: THE JEWISH PUBLICATION SOCIETY, 1999.

¹And it happened after these things that God tested Abraham and said to him, "Abraham," and he replied, "Here I am."

²And He said, "Please take your son, your only one, whom you love—Isaac—and go to the land of Moriah; bring him up there as an offering upon one of the mountains which I shall tell you."

³So Abraham woke up early in the morning and he saddled his donkey; he took his two young men with him and Isaac, his son; he split the wood for the offering, and stood up and went to the place of which God had spoken to him.

⁴On the third day, Abraham raised his eyes and perceived the place from afar. ⁵And Abraham said to his young men, "Stay here by yourselves with the donkey, while I and the lad will go yonder; we will worship and we will return to you."

'And Abraham took the wood for the offering, and placed it on Isaac, his son. He took in his hand the fire and the knife, and the two of them went together. 'Then Isaac spoke to Abraham his father and said, "Father—"

And he said, "Here I am, my son."

And he said, "Here are the fire and the wood, but where is the lamb for the offering!"

*And Abraham said, "God will seek out for Himself the lamb for the offering, my son." And the two of them went on together.

°They arrived at the place of which God had spoken to him; Abraham built the altar there, and arranged the wood; he bound Isaac, his son, and placed him on the altar atop the wood. ¹OAbraham stretched out his hand, and took the knife to slaughter his son.

¹¹And an angel of HASHEM called to him from heaven, and said, "Abraham!"

CHAPTER 9 106

for a burnt offering? And Avraham said, My son, God will provide himself a lamb for a burnt offering: so they went both of them together. And they came to the place which God had told him of; and Avraham built an altar there, and laid the wood in order, and bound Yizhaq his son, and laid him on the altar upon the wood. And Avraham stretched out his hand, and took the knife to slay his son. And an angel of the LORD called to him out of heaven, and said, Avraham, Avraham: and he said, Here I am. And he said, Lay not thy hand upon the lad....

THE JERUSALEM BIBLE, PUBLISHED FOR THE NAHUM ZEEV WILLIAMS FAMILY FOUNDATION AT HECHAL SHLOMO, JERUSALEM. JERUSALEM: KOREN PUBLISHERS JERUSALEM LTD., 1969.

Vocabulary

Locate each of the following words in the Torah Study Text: Genesis 22:1–5, 9–12.

behold, here [is]!	_	הָנֵּה
mountain, mount m	_	הַר
with	- .	עִם
tree, wood m	_	עץ
eye f	_	עַיִן
lad, youth, young man m		נְעַר

Notes on the Vocabulary:

- 1. The word מוֹלְבוֹי can have pronoun endings attached, as in verses 1 and 11 of our Torah Study
 Text: הְּבֵּבִי "Behold me!" or "Here I am!"
- 2. As with other Hebrew prepositions, the word Dy has endings attached when it is followed by a pronoun such as "them" or "us" or "him":

with them	_	עָמָם
with us	_	עפָונוּ
with him	Name of the State	עמו



The basic meaning of the root אב"ל is "go up" or "ascend." This root follows the אַלָל pattern, with the usual variations caused by the final root letter אב"ל. The root אב"ל also follows another verb pattern that will be introduced in Chapter 10. The following are the four אבלים participle forms:

Here I am, my son.

He said:

Here are the fire and the wood,

but where is the lamb for the offering-up?

⁸Avraham said:

God will see-for-himself to the lamb for the offering-up,

my son.

Thus the two of them went together.

They came to the place that God had told him of:

there Avraham built the slaughter-site

and arranged the wood

and bound Yitzhak his son

and placed him on the slaughter-site atop the wood.

¹⁰Avraham stretched out his hand,

he took the knife to slay his son.

¹¹But Yhwh's messenger called to him from heaven

and said:

Avraham! Avraham!

He said:

Here I am.

12He said:

Do not stretch out your hand against the lad....

THE FIVE BOOKS OF MOSES: A NEW TRANSLATION WITH INTRODUCTIONS, COMMENTARY, AND NOTES BY EVERETT FOX. NEW YORK: SCHOCKEN BOOKS, 1995.

And it came to pass after these things, that God did test Avraham, and said to him, Avraham: and he said, Here I am! And he said, Take now thy son, thy only son Yizhaq, whom thou lovest, and get thee into the land of Moriyya; and offer him there for a burnt offering upon one of the mountains which I will tell thee of. And Avraham rose up early in the morning, and saddled his ass, and took two of his young men with him, and Yizhaq his son, and broke up the wood for the burnt offering, and rose up, and went to the place of which God had told him. Then on the third day Avraham lifted up his eyes, and saw the place afar off. And Avraham said to his young men, stay here with the ass; and I and the lad will go yonder and prostrate ourselves, and come again to you. And Avraham took the wood of the burnt offering, and laid it upon Yizhaq his son; and he took the fire in his hand, and the knife; and they went both of them together. And Yizhaq spoke to Avraham his father, and said, My father: and he said, Here I am, my son. And he said, Behold the fire and the wood: but where is the lamb

CHAPTER 9 108



The basic meaning of the root プープーオ is "walk" or "go." This root follows the ウリウ pattern, as well as another verb pattern that will be introduced in Chapter 10. The following are the four ウリウ participle forms:

The perfect and imperfect forms can be found in the verb charts in the back of the book.

The root 7-7-17 appears twice in our Torah Study Text. The first root letter 17 has dropped out in both these examples:

(verse 2)

and go to/for you to the land of Moriah

ן לֶךְ־לְךָּ אֶל־אֶרֶץ הַמֹּרִיָּה

(verse 3)

and went to/toward the place

וַיֵּלֶךְ אֶל־הַמָּקוֹם

The following words, both ancient and modern, are derived from the root 7^{-5} . The first root letter π drops out in some words formed from this root.

law, rule, tradition,		
halachah (Jewish law)	manus.	ַהַלֶּכָה
custom, practice	остония	הָלִיךְ
walking, conduct, manners		הֲלִיכָה
there and back, going and returning,		
round trip	_	הָלוֹךְ וָשׁוֹב
traveler, wanderer, wayfarer		וולר
walking, journey, distance, move (as	s in chess),	
stroke (of an engine)		בַּיהַלָּךְ
promenade	_	בַּהֶלֶכָה
procession	_	תַּבְלוּכָה
process	_	תַּנְדַלִּיך

The perfect and imperfect forms can be found in the verb charts in the back of the book.

In this chapter's Torah Study Text, the root אלָל, appears in verse 3 as the word אלָל, referring to a type of animal sacrifice in which the offering was completely consumed, "going up" in the flames of the altar.

(verse 3)

In verse 2, the root דל appears as both the word אָלָט and as a verb with the און pronoun ending attached:

(verse 2)

The following words, both ancient and modern, are derived from the root are final root letter are drops out in some words formed from this root.

whole burnt offering (a type of		و والماسو
animal sacrifice)	_	עכָה
high, exalted, supreme	_	עֶלְיוֹן
rise, ascent, slope	_	מַעֲלֶה
step, stair, degree		מַעֲלָה
elevator, lift	_	מַעֲלִית
from above, above, upon	_	מִמַעל
upwards, above	-	לְמַעֲלָה
rising, ascent; immigration to Isra	ael; the	f
honor of being called to the To		עַלִיָּה
genius, prodigy	_	עלוי
El Al, Israel's national airline		L. L.
("to above")		אֶל עַל

Abe said, "Where d'ya want this killing done!" God said, "Out on Highway 61."

FROM "HIGHWAY 61," BY BOB DYLAN

וֹיִרְא אֶת־הַמָּקוֹם מֵרָחוֹק, and saw the place from afar. The word "place" (הַמָּקוֹם) is often used as a synonym for God. In other words, Abraham saw God from afar off, and not from close by as was normal for him....

R' Avraham of Sochachew, as quoted in *Torah Gems*, comp. Aharon Yaakov Greenberg, trans. R. Dr. Shmuel Himelstein. Tel Aviv and Brooklyn: Yavneh Publishing House, Chemed Books, 1998.

Sarah is conspicuously absent from this story. It is difficult to imagine that Isaac's mother would have had nothing to say about Abraham's plans as he took Isaac away. The following classical midrash envisions Sarah and her potential objections as the reason behind the words in verse 3: מְלֵבְּבֶּבְּקְׁם בְּבָּבְּקְׁם בְּבָּבְּקְׁם בְּבָּבְּקְׁם בְּבָּבְּקְׁם בְּבָּבְּקְם בְּבִּבְּקְם בְּבָּבְּקְם בְּבַּבְּקָם בְּבַּבְּקָם בְּבַּבְּקָם בְּבַּבְּקָם

Abraham said: "What shall I do? If I tell Sarah—women get upset over a small thing, all the more so over a big thing like this! But if I don't tell her, and I steal him away from her, when she doesn't see him, she'll kill herself." What did he do? He said to Sarah, "Prepare us food and drink, and let's eat and rejoice!" She said to him, "What's so special about today, and what type of celebration is this?" He said to her, "Old people like ourselves with a son born to them in their old age—it's fitting to eat and drink and be happy!" She went and she prepared the food. When they were in the midst of the meal, he said to her, "You know when I was three years old, I met my Creator, and this lad is grown and he hasn't been educated. There's a place somewhat far from us where they educate the young men; let me take him and educate him there." She said to him, "Go in peace." At once אוֹם בּבּבְּיֵלֵם בּבְּיֵלֵם בּבְּיִלַם בּבְּיִלַם בּבְּיִלַם בּבְיִלָם בּבְיִלַם בּבְיִלָם בּבְיִלַם בּבִילָם בּבְיִלִם בּבְיִלַם בּבְיִלִם בּבְיִלִם בּבְיִלַם בּבְיִלַם בּבְיִלַם בּבְיִלַם בּבְיִלַם בּבְיִלִם בּבְיִלַם בּבְיִלַם בּבְיִלַם בּבְיִלִם בּבְיִלַם בּבְיִלִם בּבְיִלִם בּבְיִלִם בּבְיִלִם בּבְיִלִם בּבְיִלִם בּבְיִלִם בּבְילִם בּבִילִם בּבִילִם בּבְילִם בּבּילִם בּבְילִם בּבְי

TANCHUMA, VAYEIRA 22

What could possibly have prompted God to devise a test of faith such as אַקִידַת יִּצְחָלְ, the Binding of Isaac? The first verse states דְּבָרִים הָאֵלֶה, "and it was after these", "דְּבָרִים הָאֵלֶה,"

which can mean either "things" or "words." The following midrash uses this double meaning of בַּרָים to link this test of faith to the preceding chapter

(Genesis 21) and the rivalry between Isaac and his older half-brother Ishmael. By viewing בּבְּרָים as words exchanged between the brothers, this midrash also transforms Isaac's role from that of an innocent victim to a willing participant.

these things/words and God tested Abraham. And what words were there! It was that Ishmael had said to Isaac, "I am greater than you, for I was circumcised when I was thirteen years old and I endured the pain, but you were circumcised when you were eight days old and didn't know any pain. Even if your father had slaughtered you, you wouldn't have known it. If you had been thirteen years old, you wouldn't have taken the pain." Isaac said to him, "That's nothing! If the blessed Holy One said to my father: 'Slaughter Isaac your son!', I wouldn't refuse." At once, the matter דָּבָּר (word/thing) sprung upon God, as it is said, "And it was after these things/words and God tested Abraham."

TANCHUMA, VAYEIRA 18

How could God command such an act as the slaughter of one's own child? The following commentary notes that the verb זוֹלְעֵלֵין in verse 2 could be understood simply as "bring him up" and not necessarily as "offer him up."

וְהֹעֵלֵהוּ, And bring him up. God did not say, "Slaughter him," because the blessed Holy One did not desire that he slaughter him, but rather that he bring him up on the mountain to make him an Olah [i.e., to prepare him for sacrifice without actually doing it]. And once he brought him up, God said to him, "Bring him down."

RASHI ON GENESIS 22:2

God said to Abraham, "Kill me a son."

Abe said to God, "You must be puttin' me on!"

God said, "No." Abe said, "What!"

God said, "You can do what you want to, but...

next time you see me coming, you'd better run!"

112

. Read and transfa	te the following gro			44447
		נּעַךְ.b		ַ עֵינוֹ
		נַעַרְ		עַינָיו
	יֶבֶם	נַעַר		עַינְינוּ
		נַעָרָ		עיניכֶם
	יהֶם ּ	נַעֲר		עֵינֵיהֶם עֵינֵיהֶם
		न् <u>व</u> ा.d		ַ עִמְנוּ
		הַבּוֹ		עמו
	<u> </u>	הַגַּנו		ਪ੍ਰਗ਼ਜ
		<u> </u>		עָמָכֶם
		<u> </u>		עָמָם
	טוֹב	עץ .f	1	. הַר הָאֱלֹהִיב
	אֶחָר	עץ		הַר בֵּית אֵל
	ַנאֶבֶן	עץ		הַר צִיּוֹן
	הַחַוִּים	עץ		הַר הַקְּדָשׁ
	פְרָיּ	עץ		_רֹאשׁ הָהָר
		wing participles and l. Translate the mea Translation		
				עוֹשֶׂה
				עוֹלֶה
				עוֹלָה
				בונים
				יוֹךְעִים יוֹדְעִים
115				CHAPTER S

Exercises

- 1. Make flash cards for each of the new vocabulary words and Hebrew roots introduced in this chapter, or use the flash card set published as a companion to this book. Review the cards to learn all of them.
- 2. Draw a line connecting each Hebrew word to its English translation. For some words, there can be more than one correct translation.

behold	עץ
mountain youth	<u>ה</u> ר
tree lad	הָבָּה
mount here [is]	עָם
wood	עָיִן
with eye	נַעַר

3. The following are singular and plural forms of words introduced as vocabulary in this chapter. Draw a line connecting each plural word to its singular form. Translate both into English.

עַצִים	דַר	
הָרִים	נְעַר	
עינַיִם	עַיִן	
 נְעָרִים	עץ	

sin and come upon affliction, be mindful for them of the binding of Isaac and let it be considered before You as if his ashes were piled up on the altar, and forgive them and redeem them from their affliction."

The blessed Holy One said to him: "You have said your piece, and now I'll say Mine. In the future, the children of Isaac will sin before Me and I will judge them on Rosh HaShanah. And if they want Me to find merit in them and to recall on their behalf the binding of Isaac, they will blow before Me on the shofar of this one."

He asked: "And what is the shofar?"

He said, "Turn around."

Immediately, Abraham lifted his eyes and saw, and behold a ram, behind, caught in the thicket by its horns (Genesis 22:13)....

The blessed Holy One said to him: "They will blow before Me on a ram's horn and I will save them and redeem them from their iniquity."

TANCHUMA, VAYEIRA 22

חַתְּלְּ, "a different interpretation": Many contemporary readers find it difficult to praise the actions of Abraham or to embrace the notion of חַבוֹת אָבוֹן, "the merit of our ancestors." Some suggest a contrary reading of the passage: that Abraham failed God's test, in that he did not challenge God's command or argue on behalf of his son. Though God does not withdraw Abraham's blessing, nonetheless God never again speaks directly to Abraham in the Torah.

			יוֹשְׁבִים
			מְבָרְכִים
			מְהַלְּלוֹת
		 	הולה
	-	 	הוֹלֶכֶת
-			יוֹשְׁבוֹת
			בּוֹחֲרִים
		 	עוֹבְדוֹת
			מְקַדִּשׁ
			מְצַנֶּה
			אוֹמֶֶרֶת



As mentioned at the beginning of the chapter, צְלֵיוֹת יִצְחָל, the Binding of Isaac, is read in synagogues on Rosh HaShanah. It is a challenging and disturbing narrative, which has given rise to much commentary over the ages. Questions abound as to why the dramatis personae in this story (whether God or Abraham or Isaac) would act in the manner in which they do, which appears

so contrary to our usual notions of morality and justice.

In a traditional understanding of this narrative, Abraham's willingness to offer up to God his most precious, beloved son is viewed as a heroic example of sacrifice in obedience to the will of God. Isaac, too, over the ages became an important symbol of self-sacrifice, of Jewish martyrdom, for his readiness to die in a demonstration of faith.

The selection of this passage for reading on Rosh HaShanah is related to the concept in Jewish thought of חוֹם לְּ חוֹם, "the merit of our ancestors," the idea that the good and noble deeds of our ancestors contribute to the well-being of their descendants. The merit of a good deed continues forever, and as our own deeds are evaluated and judged on Rosh HaShanah, the harshness of judgment may be softened or mitigated by the recollection of past good deeds performed by our ancestors.

This thought is reflected in the following midrashic passage, which presents a conversation between Abraham and God after Abraham is instructed to leave his son unharmed:

(Abraham speaking to God:) "...I overcame my impulse [to challenge and refuse Your command] and I didn't reply to You, so when [in the future] the children of Isaac will

CHAPTER 9 116

Building Blocks

Different Verb Patterns

We have now introduced two different Hebrew verb patterns: the tern and the pattern. The same root can appear in more than one verb pattern. When a root appears in either the אַל or אַל pattern, it generally expresses a simple action: "hear," "speak," "guard," "command." If the same root appears in both the patterns, it will have a related meaning in each pattern.

The הפעיל (Hifil) Pattern

In this chapter, we introduce a third Hebrew verb pattern: the קַּעִיל pattern. Roots that appear in this pattern can have a simple active meaning, like roots that appear in the and the patterns. For example, the root א־מ־ן patterns. For example, the root א־מ־ן pattern with the meaning "trust" or "believe."

When, however, a root appears in both the בְּעִל pattern and the הַבְּעִיל pattern, it will generally have a causative meaning in the הַבְּעִיל pattern. The following examples are included for enrichment only. It is not necessary to memorize this list.

Meaning in הְבְּעִיל	Meaning in פָּעַל	Root
cause to eat, feed	eat	א־כ־ל
cause to go, lead, conduct, bring	go, walk	ה-ל-ך
cause to remember, remind, mention	remember	ז־כ־ר
make known, inform, announce	know	י־ד־ע
cause to go out, bring out	go out	י-צ-א
cause to sit, seat, cause to dwell	sit, dwell	י־ש־ב
make king or queen, crown	rule	מ-ל-ך
put to work, employ	work, serve	ע־ב־ד
cause to ascend, bring up, raise	go up, ascend	ע־ל־ה
make heard, proclaim	hear	ש־מ־ע





Torah Study Text: Vocabulary and Root Review

This unit's Torah Study Text, Genesis 22:1–5, 9–12, is reprinted below, highlighting the new vocabulary words as well as the words formed from the new Hebrew roots introduced in Chapter 9. Read this passage again, recalling the meaning of each of the highlighted words or roots.

Genesis 22:1-5

ינִיְהִי אַחַר הַדְּבָּרִים הָאֵלֶה וְהָאֱלֹהִים נִּסָּה אֶת־אַבְּרָהָם וַיְּאֹמֶר אֵלֶיו אַבְרָהָם וַיְּאֹמֶר הַנֵּגִי: יַנִיְאֹמֶר קַח־נָּא אֶת־בִּנְּךָ אֶת־יִחִידְּךְּ אֲלִיו אַבְּרָהָם וַיְּאֹמֶר הִנְּנִי: יַנִיְאֹמֶר אַמֶר אָמֶר יְבְּתְלְהוּ שָׁם אֲשֶׁר־אָהֵר אַלֵּיך: יִנִישְׁבֵּם אַבְּרָהָם בַּבְּקֶׁר וְיַחֲבשׁ אֶת־חֲמֹרוֹ וַיִּקָּח אֶת־שְׁר אִמֵר אֵלֶיך: יִנִישְׁבֵּם אַבְּרָהָם בַּבְּקֶּר וַיִּחֲבשׁ אֶת־חֲמֹרוֹ וַיִּקָּח אֶת־שִׁנִי נְעָרָיו אִתּר־אָמֵר־לוֹ הָאֱלֹהִים: יַבִּיּוֹם עֲצִי עֹלָה וַיִּקָם וַיֵּלֶךְ אֶל־הַמָּקוֹם אֲשֶׁר־אָמֵר־לוֹ הָאֱלֹהִים: יּבִּיּוֹם הַשְׁלִישִׁי וַיִּשָּׁא אַבְרָהָם אֶת־עִינִיו שְׁבוּ־לָכֶם פּה עִם־הַחַמוֹר....
יַנִיְאֹמֶר אַבְרָהָם אֶל־נְעָרָיו שְׁבוּ־לָכֶם פּה עִם־הַחֲמוֹר....

Genesis 22:9-12

יַנִיּבְאוּ אֶל־הַמָּקוֹם אֲשֶׁר אָמַר־לוֹ הָאֱלֹהִים וַיִּבֶן שָׁם אַבְּרָהָם אֶת־הַמִּזְבֵּח וַיִּעֲרֹך אֶת־הָעֵצִים וַיִּעֲקֹד אֶת־יִצְחָק בְּנוֹ וַיִּשֶׁם אֹתוֹ עַל־הַמִּזְבֵּח מִמְעַל לָעֵצִים: יוֹיִיּשְׁלַח אַבְרָהָם אֶת־יִדוֹ וַיִּקַח אֶת־הַמִּזְבֵּח מִמְעַל לָעֵצִים: יוֹיִיּשְׁלַח אַבְרָהָם אֶת־יִדוֹ וַיִּקַח אֶת־הַמַּזְיִם מִיְּאַבֶּלְת לִשְׁחֹט אֶת־בְּנוֹ: יוֹיִיּקְרָא אֵלְיו מֵלְאַךְ יְהֹיָה מִן מִלְאַרְ יִהֹיָּה מִן בְּרָהָם אַבְרָהָם וַיְּאמֶר הִנֵּנִי: יוֹיְאמֶר אַבְרָהָם אַרְרָהם אַבְרָהָם וַיְּאמֶר הַנְּנִי: יוֹיְאמֶר אֵל־הַנָּעַר...

Imperfect (from the root ローコーゼ):

[he] will/may rise early

יַשְׁכִּים

Imperfect with reversing vav:

[and] Abraham rose early

וַיַּשְׁכֵּם אַבְרָהָם

There are also variations caused by certain root letters. Sometimes a root letter drops out. A good example is provided by the root K^-Y^- . The root letter † is replaced by the vowel † :

cause to go out, bring out

י־צ־א מוציא

This participle is well-known from the blessing over bread:

בָרוּך אַתָּה וְיָ אֱלֹהֵינוּ מֶלֶךְ הָעוֹלָם הַמְּוֹצִיא לֶחֶם מִן הָאֶרֶץ.

Blessed are You, Eternal One, our God, Sovereign of the universe, [the One] who brings out bread from the earth.

Torah Study Text with Building Blocks

Following is an excerpt, Genesis 22:2–3, from this unit's Torah Study Text, reprinted with the two דְּבְּעִיל verbs highlighted. Reread these verses, noting that both יוֹפְעִיל verbs do not contain the vowel and one has a reversing vav attached. A translation is provided below only for the highlighted יוֹבְּעִיל verbs. Remember that there could be other possible translations. For a full translation of the verses, refer back to Chapter 9.

Genesis 22:2-3

יַנְיִאמֶר קַח־נָא אֶת־בִּנְךּ אֶת־יְחִידְרָ אֲשֶׁר־אָהַבְּת אֶת־יִצְחָקּ וְלֶרְ־לְךָּ אֶל־אֶרֶץ הַמִּרִיָּה וְהַעֲלֵהוּ שָׁם לְעֹלָה עַל אַחַר הֶהָרִים אֲשֶׁר אֹמֵר אֵלֶיף: יַּוֹיַשְׁבֵּם אַבְרָהָם בַּבְּכֶּלְר....

and bring him up (אוֹלֵלֵה, bring up, command form with און, him, ending) —

וְהַעֲלֵהוּ

[he] rose early

_

וַיִּשְׁבֵּם

Recognizing the הפעיל Pattern

The regular forms of the הַּבְּעִיל pattern have a prefix letter preceding the three root letters and the vowel between the second and third root letters. Even irregular forms of the pattern, including many in this chapter's Grammar Enrichment chart, always have a prefix letter preceding the root letters, but they may not contain the vowel.

Perfect Verbs in the הָפִעִיל Pattern

The name הַּבְּעִיל indicates the regular perfect אווד. "he" or "it"—form for roots in this pattern:

[he] made remember, reminded, mentioned

וְזְכִּיר

[he] made king (or queen), crowned

הִמְלִיךְ

All the perfect forms have the prefix letter ה and the same endings as פָעַל and בָּעַל perfect forms:

Imperfect Verbs in the הפעיל Pattern

Imperfect verbs in the הַּבְעִיל pattern use the same prefixes and endings as in the פָעַל and patterns:

Participles in the בפעיל Pattern

The four participle forms have the prefix letter מ in the הַבְּעִיל pattern:

Variations

It is important to be aware that there are variations on the קליל pattern. Sometimes the vowels may be different and the vowel may not appear, particularly when a reversing vav is attached. An example of this appears in this unit's Torah Study Text, in verse 3:

CHAPTER 10 120

			top be
[to] this time/season	-	לַוְּמַן הַנֶּה	
[he] has caused to reach (דְּפָעִיל perfect form)	- Andrews	הָגִּיעַ	
[he] has sustained		קַיֵּם	
[he] has kept alive (רבּעיל pe from the root ה'רבר ה'	erfect —	नगून	
[he] has kept alive הַבְּעִיל pe	erfect	house hay been beening	

בָּרוּך אַתָּה יְיָ אֱלֹהֵינוּ מֶלֶךְ הָעוֹלָם, שֶׁהֶחֶיְנוּ וְקִיְּמֶנוּ וְהִגִּיעֲנוּ לַוְּמֵן הַזֶּה.

2. Isaiah 52:7—A well-known Hebrew folk song and Israeli folk dance are derived from a portion of this verse. A הַּבְּעִיל participle from the root בּבְעִל appears twice in this verse. There is also a בְּעַל participle from the root א־מ־ל and a בְּעַל perfect form of the root מ־ל־ך.

how beautiful	-	בַוה־נָאווּ
foot, footstep	_	רֶגֶל
one who brings good tidings, bringing tidings (ウック participle)	g good —	מְבַשֵּׂר
salvation		יְשוּעָה
your God (אֵלהִים with אַלהִים fsg	g 	אֱלֹהָיִרְ

מַה־נָּאווּ עַל־הֶהָרִים רַגְּלֵי מְבַשֵּׂר מַשְׁמְיעַ שָׁלוֹם מְבַשֵּׁר טוֹב מַשְׁמִיעַ יְשׁוּעָה אַמֵר לְצִיּוֹן מָלַךְ אֱלֹהָיִךְ:

3. From the אבריך This excerpt is from the central core of prayers (the אבריך) in the Shabbat liturgy. A הפעיל imperfect form of the root שברעיל with the liturgy appears in this passage. Also appearing here is the noun מוֹשִׁיע ("savior/deliverer"), which is actually a הפעיל participle from the root יישרע.

Pattern הפעיל

The following chart includes participle, perfect, and imperfect forms for some roots that appear in the הַּבְּעִיל pattern. Only the אוֹר "he" or "it") forms are shown. The other forms use the regular prefixes and/or

suffixes, as shown above, and can be found in the verb charts in the back of the book. The charts below are presented for enrichment only. They include variant forms, caused by certain root letters such as final \Box . The vowels shown are the regular vowels for each form, but alternate or irregular vowels sometimes appear in biblical texts. It is not necessary to memorize the information on this chart.

Imperfect	Participle	Perfect	Root	הפְעִיל Meaning
יַאֲבִיל	מַאֲכִיל	הֶאֶבִיל	א־כ־ל	cause to eat, feed
יַאַבִיין	בֵּאֲבִיין	הָאֶמִין	א־מ־ן	trust, believe
داخرك	מוֹלִיךְ	הוֹלִיךְ	ה-ל-ך	cause to go, lead, bring, conduct
יַזְבִּיר	מַזְכִּיר	הְזְבִּיר	ז־כ־ר	make remember, remind, mention
יַבוֶיָה	מַדֵויֶה	הֶתֶיָה	חריה	keep alive
יוֹדְיעַ	מוֹדְיעַ	הוֹדְיעַ	י־ד־ע	make known, inform, announce
יוֹצִיא	מוֹצִיא	הוֹצִיא	י־צ־א	cause to go out, bring out
יוֹשִׁיב	מוֹשִׁיב	הוֹשִׁיב	י־ש־ב	cause to sit, seat, cause to dwell
יַמְלִיךְ	מַמְלִיךְ	הָמְלִיךְ	מ-ל-ך	make king or queen, crown
יַעֲבִיד	מַעֲבִיד	הֶעֶבִיד	ע־ב־ד	put to work, employ
יַעֲלֶה	מַעֲלֶה	הֶעֶלֶה	ע-ל-ה	cause to ascend, bring up, raise
יַשְׁמְיעַ	מַשְׁמִיעַ	הִשְׁמִיעַ	ש־מ־ע	make heard, proclaim

Additional Reading and Translation Practice

Translate the following excerpts from the Bible and the prayer book, using the extra vocabulary words provided. Check your translations against the English translations that follow.

1. אֶלֶהְעֶּלֶּבּ This blessing is said on the first evening of festivals and for other joyous occasions and special events.

beginning of the workweek. The		of the Sabbath day and the is 5-7-2, and it appears
twice in this blessing as a בְּלִיל the one who makes a disting	•	L
separation	<u> </u>	הַפַּוֹבְדִּיל
not holy, ordinary, secular,	, workaday —	חוֹל
the seventh	-	הַשְּבִיעִי
six	_	שֵׁשֶׁת
בְּדִיל בֵּין קְדֶשׁ לְחוֹל, בֵּין		
הַשְּׁבִיעִי לְשֵׁשֶׁת יְמֵי	אַל לָעַמִּים, בֵּין יוֹם	אור לְחְשֶׁךְ, בֵּין יִשְׂרָא
־שׁ לְחוֹל.	יָיָ, הַמַּבְהִיל בֵּין קֹדֵ	הַמַּעֵשֶׂה. בָּרוּךְ אַתָּה
. Genesis 1:4—This passage appea A הַּפְעִיל imperfect form of th reversing vav. The vowel ch	he root בדל, "separate	" appears in this verse with a
A הְבְּעִיל imperfect form of th	he root בדל, "separate	" appears in this verse with a
A הְּבְעִיל imperfect form of the reversing vav. The vowel ch	he root בדל, "separate	" appears in this verse with a
A הַּבְּעִיל imperfect form of the reversing vav. The vowel chand [he] saw	he root בדל, "separate	" appears in this verse with a

5. הַבְּדָּלָה Blessing—This blessing is said on Saturday evening as part of the הַבְּדָלָה

in the sight of {literally: to the eyes of}		לעיני
living being (from the root 77777) —	ָרָי רְלָּי
I	Minim	ָאַנִי אַנִי
א מַלְבֵנוּ, הוּא מוֹשִׁיעֵנוּ, וְהוּא יִי יְיָ אֱלֹהֵיכֶם:	11 1	אָחָר הוּא אֶלֹהֵינוּ, הוּ: יַשְׁמִיעֵנוּ בְּרַחֲמָיוּ לְעֵיוּ
From the קרוש ליל שַבָּת This ble to sanctify the Sabbath.	ssing is said over	wine on the evening of Shabbat
vine		גֶפֶן
delighted in		רָצָה בְ
love		אַהֲבָה
pleasure		רָצוֹן
has bequeathed, caused/enabled to inherit (דְּבְּעִיל perfect form with נוֹד, us, ending) remembrance, reminder	_ _	זְבָּרוֹן זִבָּרוֹן
ו. הורא פרו הופו	מלה המולר	בָּרוּךְ אַתָּה יְיָ אֱלֹהֵינוּ
י, אֲשֶׁר קְדְּשָׁנוּ בְּמִצְוֹתָיוּ וְרֵצָה הְנְחִילֶנוּ, זִכָּרוֹן לְמַעֲשֵׂה הַנְחִילֶנוּ, זִכָּרוֹן לְמַעֲשֵׂה	מֶלֶךְ הָעוֹלָב	בָּרוּך אַתָּה יָיָ אֱלֹהֵינוּ

Translations

- 1. ביי שור של —Blessed are You, Eternal our God, Sovereign of the universe, who has kept us alive and has sustained us and has caused us to reach [to] this time/season.
- 2. Isaiah 52:7—How beautiful upon the mountains are feet/footsteps of one who brings good tidings, proclaiming peace, bringing good tidings of good, proclaiming salvation, saying to Zion: Your God has reigned!
- 3. From the TYTT—One is our God, God {He} is our Father, God {He} is our Sovereign, God {He} is our Savior/Deliverer, and God {He} will/may proclaim {let God proclaim} [to] us in God's {His} compassion/mercy in the sight of every living being: I am the Eternal your God.
- 4. From the אַלְיל שׁבָּר Blessed are You, Eternal our God, Sovereign of the universe, Creator of the fruit of the vine. Blessed are You, Eternal our God, Sovereign of the universe, who has sanctified us {made us holy} with God's {His} commandments and delighted in us, and the Sabbath of God's {His} holiness {God's holy Sabbath} with love and with pleasure has bequeathed us {has enabled us to inherit}, a reminder/remembrance of the act of Creation....
- 5. הַבְּדָּכְּה Blessing—Blessed are You, Eternal our God, Sovereign of the universe, the One who makes a distinction/separation between holiness and not holy, between light and darkness, between Israel and the nations, between the seventh day and the six days of work. Blessed are You, Eternal, the One who makes a distinction/separation between holiness and not holy.
- 6. Genesis 1:4—And God saw the light that [it was] good, and God separated between the light and between the darkness.
- 7. From מְלֵרִיב עָרֶבִים Blessed are You, Eternal our God, Sovereign of the universe, who with God's [His] word makes evening [the] evenings [causes evening, brings on the evening].... Creator of day and night, rolling light away from darkness, and darkness away from light, making day pass and bringing night, and making a separation between day and between night, God of Hosts is God's [His] name. Living and enduring God, may God [He] always rule over us forever and ever. Blessed are You, Eternal, the One who makes evening [the] evenings [causes evening, brings on the evening].

7. From בְּעְרִיב עֲרָבִים—This blessing praising God for bringing on the evening appears in the evening service following the בָּרְבוּ . The root of the word עֵרֶב, "evening," "evening," is used as a הַבְּעִיל participle with a causative meaning: "causing evening," "bringing on the evening."

rolling	ARMERICA	גוֹלֵל
away from, from before {literally: from [the] face of}	_	בָּבְנֵי
causing to pass, making pass (בְּלִיל participle from the root בבר, pass)	_	מַעֲבִיר
causing to come, bringing (בְּלִיל participle from the root א־ז־ב, bring)	_	מֵבִיא
making a separation, distinction (בְּלִיל participle from the root בוֹבְלִיל)	_	מַבְדִּיל
a name of God, sometimes translated as God of Hosts	Annua "	יָיָ צְבָאוֹת
living and enduring		חָי וְקַיָּם
always, continually		הָנִמִיד

בָּרוּךְ אַתָּה יְיָ אֱלֹהֵינוּ מֶלֶךְ הָעוֹלָם, אֲשֶׁר בִּדְבָרוֹ מַעֲרִיב עֲרָבִים....בּוֹרֵא יוֹם וָלֶיְלָה, גּוֹלֵל אוֹר מִפְּנֵי חְשֶׁךְ וְחְשֶׁךְ מִפְּנֵי אוֹר, וּמַעֲבִיר יוֹם וּמֵבִיא לֵיְלָה, וּמַבְדִּיל בֵּין יוֹם וּבֵין לֵיְלָה, יִיָּ צְבָאוֹת שְׁמוֹ. אֵל חַי וְקַיָּם, תָּמִיד יִמְלוֹךְ עָלֵינוּ לְעוֹלָם וָעֶד. בָּרוּךְ אַתָּה יְיָ, הַמַּעֲרִיב עֲרָבִים.

ַוֹיֵלֶך אַבְרָהָם עַד אֶרֶץ כְּנַעַן וַיְּוֹלֶךְ אֶת מִשְׁפַּחְתּוֹ.	
וַתֵּלֶךְ שָׂרָה עִם אַבְרָהָם אִישָׁה וַתְּוֹלֶךְ אֶת בְּנֵיהֶם.	
אַת עוֹלֶה אֶל הַמָּקוֹם הַקָּרוֹשׁ וּמַעֲלֶה עִמְךּ אֶת רֵעֲךּ)
אָל עִיר הַקְּדֶשׁ וְעִמָּה הֶעֱלְתָה אֶת זַרְעָה	
ַנַיַּעַלוּ הָאַחִים עַל ראשׁ הָהָר וְהֶעֱלוּ אֶת נַעֲרֵיהֶם.	
מִי יַעֲלֶה עִם הָעָם מִן הַמָּקוֹם אֲשֶׁר שָׁם יָשְׁבוּ?	
, בְּנֵי אָדָם יָצְאוּ מִן הָעִיר וְאָז הוֹצִיאוּ אֶת זַרְעָם.	2
בָּרוּך אֱלֹהֵיכֶם אֲשֶׁר הוֹצִיא אֶתְכֶם מֵאֶרֶץ מִצְרַיִם.	
ַ הַבּוֹנִים מִן הָאֲדָמָה.	
ַנְאַנְחְנוּ הָנֵנוּ בַּחְשֶׁךְ וּמִי יוֹצִיא אֹתָנוּ אֶל הָאוֹר?	
	d
ַנַתְאַכַל הָאִשָּׁה אֶת פְּרִי הָעֵץ וַתַּאֲכִיל אֶת אָדָם.	

Exercises

1. Using the Grammar Enrichment chart as an aid, identify the root of each of the following verb forms. Indicate whether the form is a perfect, imperfect, or participle and whether it is singular or plural and masculine or feminine. Translate.

Translation	sg or pl	m or f	Form	Root	Verb
					בַמְוְבִּיר
					ַ מְאֲבִיל
			***************************************		_ מוֹצִיאָה
					ַ מַשְׁמִיעִים
					ַ מַזְכִּירוֹת
					ַ יַמְלִיךְ
					ַ יַעֱלֶה
					ַ תַעֲלֶה
					ַ תַאֲבִיל
					ַ יוֹדְיעוּ _ יוֹדְיעוּ
					ַ יִשְׂמְיעוּ יַשְׁמְיעוּ
					ַ הֶעֶבִיד
					ټ <u>ټ</u> ېن
					ַ הוליכו
					_ הוֹשִׁיבָה
ead and translateverse the tense		eck your tra	nslations agains	st those that fo	e prefix <i>vav</i> can ollow. אַבְרָהָם הָלַ

128

2.

out/have brought out/had brought out their offspring.

Blessed is your God who brought out/did bring out/has brought out you from the land of Egypt.

Here is/behold the stone that the builders/the ones who build/the ones who are building brought out/did bring out/had brought out/have brought out from the earth/ground.

And we, here we are/behold us in the darkness and who will/may bring out us to/toward the light?

d. The mother ate/did eat/was eating/had eaten/has eaten the bread and {caused to eat} fed/did feed/was feeding /had fed/has fed her sons/children.

The woman ate/did eat/was eating the fruit of the tree and {caused to eat} fed/did feed/was feeding [the] man/Adam.

In the evening the king/sovereign did not feed/had not fed his slaves/servants and [so] then they did not eat/had not eaten.

Blessed is [the] God, [the One] who feeds/does feed/is feeding all the world/universe.

e. The prophet heard/did hear/was hearing the voice of God and he {caused to hear} proclaimed/did proclaim /was proclaiming God's {His} words.

The men/people heard/did hear/were hearing the sound of the wind upon the water and among the trees.

The eyes of all the nation/people are upon the prophet and he proclaims/is proclaiming/does proclaim words of truth.

The eyes of the young man were upon the face of the woman/wife that he loved /had loved /did love and he said, "Who is like her?"

חַזַק! חַזַק!

בָּעֶרֶב לֹא הָאֱבִיל הַמֶּלֶךְ אֶת עֲבָדִיו וְאָז לֹא אָבְלוּ.	
בָּרוּךְ הָאֵל הַמַּאֲבִיל אֶת כָּל הָעוֹלֶם.	
ַרִינ. דְּבָּבִיא אֶת קוֹל הָאֵל וַיֵּשְׁמִיעַ אֶת דְבָּרָיו.	.e
פּיִשְׁמְעוּ הָאֲנָשִׁים אֶת קוֹל הַרְוּחַ עֵל הַמֵּיִם וּבֵין הָעֵצִים.	
עינִי כָל הָעָם עַל הַנָּבִיא וְהוּא מֵשְׁמִיעַ דִּבְרֵי אֱמֶת.	
עינֵי הַנַּעַר עַל פְּנֵי הָאִשָּׁה אֲשֶׁר אָהַב וַיְּאַמֶּר ״מִי כָמְוֹהָ?״	

Translations

- a. Abraham went/was going/did go/had gone/has gone from his land with his family.
 - He walks/is walking/does walk {goes/is going/does go} as far as/until the land of Canaan and {causes to go} leads/is leading/does lead his family.
 - Abraham went/walked {did go/walk, was going/walking} as far as/until the land of Canaan and {caused to go} led/did lead/was leading his family.
 - Sarah went/walked {did go/walk, was going/walking} with Abraham her husband/man and she {caused to go} led/did lead/was leading their children.
- b. You are going up/ascending to the holy place and {causing to go up} bringing up with you your friend/neighbor.
 - The woman went up/did go up/had gone up/has gone up/was going up to the city of holiness {the Holy City} and with her she {caused to go up} brought up/did bring up/was bringing up/had brought up her offspring.
 - The brothers went up/did go up/were going up on the top of the mountain and they {caused to go up} brought up/did bring up/were bringing up their lads.
 - Who will/may go up with the people/nation from the place that there [i.e., where] they dwelt/were dwelling/did dwell/have dwelt/had dwelt?
- c. The sons/children of Adam {humankind} went out/did go out/were going out/have gone out/had gone out from the city and then they brought out/did bring out/were bringing

130

שָׁמְעוּ	שָׁמְעָה	שָׁמַע	ש־מ־ע	hear
שָׁמְרוּ	שָׁמְרָה	שָׁמַר	ש־מ־ר	guard, keep

Participle פָּעַל

The following roots follow the exact same pattern as the regular root א־מ־ר and are not listed in the chart: א־ב־ל , א־ב־ל , א־ב־ל , מ־ל־ך . There is no שׁ־מ־ר participle form of the root ה־י־ה.

Feminine Plural	Masculine Plural	Feminine Singular	Masculine Singular	Root	Meaning
אוֹהֲבוֹת	אוֹדֲבִים	אוֹהֶבֶת	אוֹהֵב	א־ה־ב	love
אוֹמְרוֹת	אוֹמְרִים	אוֹמֶרֶת	אוֹמֵר	א־מ־ר	say
בּוֹחֲרוֹת	בּוֹחֲרִים	בּוֹחֱרֶת	בוֹחֵר	ב־ח־ר	choose
בונות	בוֹנִים	בוֹנָה	בוֹנֶה	ב־נ־ה	build
בּוֹרְאוֹת	בּוֹרְאִים	בּוֹרֵאת	בּוֹרֵא	ב־ר־א	create
יוֹדְעוֹת	יוֹדְעִים	יוֹדֶעַת	יוֹדֶעַ	י־ד־ע	know
יוֹצְאוֹת	יוֹצְאִים	יוֹצֵאת	יוֹצֵא	י־צ־א	go out
עולות	עוֹלִים	עוֹלָה	עוֹלֶה	ע-ל-ה	go up
עושות	עוֹשִׁים	עוֹשָׂה	עוֹשֶׂה	ע־שׂ־ה	make, do
רוֹפְאוֹת	רוֹפְאִים	רוֹפֵאת	רוֹפֵא	ר־פ־א	heal
שוֹמְעוֹת	שוֹמְעִים	שוֹמְעַת	שוֹמֶעַ	ש־מ־ע	hear

שׁעַל Imperfect

they m הַם	she היא	he אות	Root	Meaning
יֶאֶדֶבוּ	תֶּאֶהַב	יֶּאֱהַב	א־ה־ב	love
יאכְלוּ	תאכַל	יאכַל	א־כ־ל	eat
יאמְרוּ	תאמר	יאמַר	א־מ־ר	say
יִבְדֵורוּ	תִּבְחַר	יִבְחַר	ב־ח־ר	choose
יִבְנוּ	ַ תַּבְנֶה	יִבְנֶה	ב־נ־ה	build

Verb Charts

The following charts contain all the verb roots, in Hebrew alphabetical order, introduced in Aleph Isn't Enough and Bet Is for B'reishit. They are separated according to verb pattern: בְּעֵל, בְּעֵל, and בִּעִל, and בְּעִל, and בִּעִל, and בִּעִל, and בִּעִל, and imperfect forms. These charts present the regular vowels for each form, but alternate or irregular vowels sometimes appear in biblical texts.

Perfect

they m/f במר	she הוא	he Nin	Root	Meaning
אָהֲבוּ	אָהַבָּה	אָהַב	א־ה־ב	love
אָכְלוּ	אָכְלָה	אָכַל	א־כ־ל	eat
אָכְורוּ	אָמְרָה	אָמַר	א־מ־ר	say
בֿבֿורוּ	בּׁחַרָה	خْتاد	ב־ח־ר	choose
בָּנוּ	ڎؚڔ۫ڔؘٙۘٙؗ	בָּנָה	ב־נ־ה	build
בַּרְאוּ	בָּרְאָה	בָּרָא	ב־ר־א	create
דָיּה	הָיִתָה	ָּדָיָה י ַדָּיָה	ה־י־ה	be
הָלְכוּ	הָלְכָה	ָהָלַךְּ	ה-ל-ך	walk, go
זָבְרוּ	זָכְרָה	זָכַר	ז־כ־ר	remember
יָדְעוּ	יָרְעָה	יָדַע	י־ד־ע	know
ikai	יָצְאָה	кŻį	י־צ־א	go out
יָשְׁבוּ	יָשְׁבָה	יָשַׁב	י־ש־ב	sit, dwell
מָלְבוּ	מָלְכָה	מָלַךּ	מ-ל-ך	reign, rule
נָתְנוּ	נָתְנָה	נָתַן	נ־ת־ן	give
עָבְדוּ	עָבְדָה	עָבַד	ע־ב־ד	work, serve
עָזְרוּ	עָזְרָה	עָזַר	ע־ז־ר	help
עָלוּ	עָלְתָה	עָלָה	ע־ל־ה	go up
עשוּ	עְשְׂתָה	עָשָׂה	ע־שׂ־ה	make, do
רָפְאוּ	רָפָאָה	רָפָּא	ר־פ־א	heal

VERB CHARTS 132

Participle פעל

Feminine Plural	Masculine Plural	Feminine Singular	Masculine Singular	Root	Meaning
מְבָרְכוֹת	מְבָרְכִים	מְבָרֶכֶת	מְבָרֵך	ב־ר־ך	bless
מְדַבְּרוֹת	מְדַבְּרִים	מְדַבֶּרֶת	מְדַבֵּר	ד־ב־ר	speak
מְהַלְּלוֹת	מְהַלְּלִים	מְהַלֶּלֶת	מְהַלֵּל	ה-ל-ל	praise
מְחַיּוֹת	מְחַיִּים	מְחַיָּה	מְחַיֶּה	ח־י־ה	bring to life
מְצַוּוֹת	מְצַוִּים	מְצַנָּה	מְצַנֶּה	צ־ו־ה	command
מְקַדְשׁוֹת	מְקַדְשִׁים	מְקַדֶּשֶׁת	מְקַדֵּשׁ	ק־ד־שׁ	make holy

בעל Imperfect

they m הֵם	she היא	he Nill	Root	Meaning
יְבָרְכוּ	הָבָרֵך	יְבָרֵך	ב־ר־ך	bless
יְדַבְּרוּ	הְדַבֵּר	יְדַבֵּר	ד־ב־ר	speak
יְהַלְּלוּ	ּתְהַלֵּל	יְהַלֵּל	ה-ל-ל	praise
רְּדֵוִיּרָ	لأتاثي	יְחַיֶּה	חרירה	bring to life
יְצַוּוּ	הָצַנֶּה	יְצַנֶּה	צורה	command
יִקַדְשׁוּ	תְקַדִּשׁ	יְקַדִּשׁ	ק־ד־שׁ	make holy

רקעול Perfect

they m/f הַםֹּערהַ	she הָלא	he אות	Root	Meaning
הֶאֶבְילוּ	הֶאֶכִילָה	הָאֶכִיל	א־כ־ל	cause to eat, feed
הָאֶמִינוּ	הָאֶמִינָה	הֶאֶמִין	א־מ־ן	trust, believe
הוֹלְיכוּ	הוֹלִיכָה	הוֹלִיך	ה-ל-ך	cause to go, lead, conduct
הזְכִּירוּ	הוְכִירָה	הְזְכִּיר	ז־כ־ר	remind, make remember
קָרֶניּנּ	הֶחֶיְתָה	הֶתֶיָה	ח־י־ה	keep alive
הוֹדְיעוּ	הוֹדִיעָה	הוֹדְיעַ	י־ד־ע	make known, announce
הוֹצְיאוּ	הוֹצִיאָה	הוֹצִיא	י־צ־א	bring out, take out

יִבְרָאוּ	תִּבְרָא	יִבְרָא	ב־ר־א	create
יָדְזִירָּ	תִּהְיֶה	יִהְנֶה	היה	be
יַלְכוּ	תַלֵּךְ	יַלַך	ה-ל-ך	go, walk
יִזְכְּרוּ	הַוְבָר	יְזְכּר	ז־כ־ר	remember
יַדעוּ	תַדַע	יַדַע	י־ד־ע	know
ַיִצְאוּ	עֿגֿא	נֵצֵא	י־צ־א	go out
יַשְׁבוּ	תַשֶׁב	יַשֵׁב	י־ש־ב	sit, dwell
יִמְלְבוּ	תִּמְלֹךְ	יִמְלֹךְ	מ-ל-ך	reign, rule
יִתְנוּ	ناترا	יִתַן	נ־ת־ן	give
יַעַבְדוּ	תַּעֲבֹד	יַעֲבד	ע־ב־ד	work, serve
יַעַזְרוּ	תְּעֲזֹר	יַעֲזר	ע־ז־ר	help
יַעֲלוּ	תַּעֲלֶה	יַעֲלֶה	ע-ל-ה	go up
יַעֲשׂר	תַעֲשֶׂה	יַעֲשֶׂה	ע־שׂ־ה	make, do
יִרְפָּאוּ	תִּרְפָּא	יִרְפָּא	ר־פ־א	heal
יִשְׁמְעוּ	תִשְׁמֵע	יִשְׁמֵע	ש־מ־ע	hear
יִשְׁמְרוּ	תִּשְׁמֹר	יִשְׁמֹר	ש־מ־ר	guard, keep

לעל Perfect

they m/f הַם בו	she הוא	he XII	Root	Meaning
בַּרְכוּ	בַּרְכָה	בַרַך	ב־ר־ך	bless
דִּבְרוּ	بخدر	דִבַר	ד־ב־ר	speak
הַלְּלוּ	הִלְּלָה	הַלֵּל	ה-ל-ל	praise
דויר	חִיְּתָה	باثب	ח־י־ה	bring to life
żiż	אָוְתָה	אָנָה	צ־ו־ה	command
קּדְשׁוּ	קּרְשָׁה	קַדִּשׁ	ק־ד־שׁ	make holy

והפעיל Imperfect

they m □☐	she היא	he אות	Root	Meaning
יַאַבְילוּ	תַאֲבִיל	יַאַבִיל	א-כ-ל	cause to eat, feed
יַאַמְינוּ	תַּאֲכִיין	יַאַמִין	א־מ־ן	trust, believe
יוֹלְיכוּ	תוֹלִיך	יוֹלִיךְ	ה-ל-ך	cause to go, lead, conduc
יַזְכִּירוּ	תַּזְכִּיר	יַזְכִּיר	ז־כ־ר	remind, make remember
יַ רָרָלּ	תַּחֲיֶה	יַחַיֶּה	ח־י־ה	keep alive
יוֹדְיעוּ	תוֹדְיעַ	יוֹדְיעַ	י־ד־ע	make known, announce
יוֹצְיאוּ	תוֹצִיא	יוֹצִיא	י־צ־א	bring out, take out
יוֹשְיבוּ	תושיב	יוֹשִׁיב	י־ש־ב	cause to sit, dwell, seat
יַמְלִיכוּ	תַבְלִיךְ	יַמְלִיךְ	מ-ל-ך	make king or queen,
יַעַבְידוּ	תַּעֲבִיד	יַעֲבִיד	ע־ב־ד	put to work, employ
יַעֲלוּ	תַּעֲלֶה	יַעֲלֶה	ע-ל-ה	raise, cause to ascend
יַשְׁמְיעוּ	תַשְׁמִיעַ	יַשְׁמְיעַ	ש־מ־ע	make heard, proclaim

הוֹשִׁיבוּ	הוֹשִׁיבָה	הוֹשִׁיב	י־ש־ב	cause to sit, dwell, seat
הִמְלְיכוּ	הָמְלִיכָה	הִמְלִיךְ	מ-ל-ך	make king or queen, crown
הֶעֶבְירוּ	הֶעֶבִידָה	הֶעֶבִיד	ע־ב־ד	put to work, employ
הֶעֶלוּ	הֶעֶלְתָה	הֶעֶלָה	ע־ל־ה	raise, cause to ascend
השְמִיעוּ	הִשְׁמִיעָה	הִשְׁמִיעַ	ש־מ־ע	make heard, proclaim

Participle הַּבְעִיל

Feminine Plural	Masculine Plural	Feminine Singular	Masculine Singular	Root	Meaning
מַאֲכִילוֹת	מַאֲכִילִים	מַאֲכִילָה	מַאֲכִיל	א־כ־ל	cause to eat, feed
מַאֲמִינוֹת	מַאֲמִינִים	מַאֲמִינָה	מַאֲמִין	א־מ־ן	trust, believe
מוֹלִיכוֹת	מוֹלִיכִים	מוֹלִיכָה	מוֹלִיךְ	ה-ל-ך	cause to go, lead,
מַזְכִּירוֹת	מַזְכִּירִים	מַזְכִּירָה	מַזְכִּיר	ז־כ־ר	remind, make remember
מַחֲיוֹת	מַחֲיִים	מַחֲיָה	מַחֲיֶה	ח־י־ה	keep alive
מוֹדִיעוֹת	מוֹדִיעִים	מוֹדִיעָה	מוֹדְיעַ	י־ד־ע	make known, announce
מוֹצִיאוֹת	מוֹצִיאִים	מוֹצִיאָה	מוֹצִיא	י־צ־א	bring out, take out
מוֹשִיבוֹת	מוֹשִׁיבִים	מוֹשִׁיבָה	מוֹשִׁיב	י־שׁ־ב	cause to sit, dwell
מַמְלִיכוֹת	מַמְלִיכִים	מַמְלִיכָה	מַמְלִיךְ	מ-ל-ך	make king or queen, crown
מַעֲבִידוֹת	מַעֲבִידִים	מַעֲבִידָה	מַעֲבִיד	ע־ב־ד	put to work, employ
מַעֲלוֹת	מַעֲלִים	מַעֲלָה	מַעֲלֶה	ע־ל־ה	raise, cause to
מַשְׁמִיעוֹת	מַשְׁמִיעִים	מַשְׁמִיעָה	מַשְׁמְיעַ	ש־מ־ע	make heard, proclaim

healing f (A.I.E. Ch 9) רפואה, רפואה	go up, ascend (B.I.F.B. Ch 9) (בַּעַל) ע־ל־ה
W	cause to ascend, bring up, raise (הָבְּעִיל) –
who, that, which (attached prefix)	with (B.I.F.B. Ch 9)
(A.I.E. Ch 8)	people, nation m (A.I.E. Ch 4) עם, עמים
work cease, rest (A.I.T. Ch 1)	tree, wood m (B.I.F.B. Ch 9)
Shabbat, Sabbath f	evening m (B.I.F.B. Ch 1) עֶרֶב, עַרָבים
(A.I.E. Ch 3) שַבַּתוֹת שָבַת, שַׁבַּתוֹת	make, do, act (A.I.E. Ch 7) (בַּעַל
shofar, ram's horn, horn m	make, de, det (MAZ. en /)
(A.I.E. Ch 9) שוֹפֵר, שוֹפַרוֹת	
peace m (A.I.E. Ch 6) שַׁלוֹם, שָׁלוֹם,	face, faces, surface m and f, pl
there (B.I.F.B. Ch 5)	(B.I.F.B. Ch 1) ラブロー・ロー・ロー・ロー・ロー・ロー・ロー・ロー・ロー・ロー・ロー・ロー・ロー・ロ
name m (A.I.E. Ch 1)	fruit m (A.I.E. Ch 3) פְּרָי, פֵּרוֹת
heavens, sky m (A.I.E. Ch 3)	Z
hear, listen, obey (A.I.E. Ch 1) (שׁבֶּעל	righteousness, justice m (A.I.E. Ch 4)
make heard, proclaim	righteousness, justice,
(B.I.F.B. Ch 10) (הַפְּעִיל) –	tzedakah f (A.I.E. Ch ז) צְדָקָה, צְדָקוֹת
guard, keep, preserve	command, order (A.I.E. Ch 8) צ־ו־ה (פַּעַל)
(A.I.E. Ch 3) (פַעַל) שׁ־מ־ר (פַּעַל)	Zion (A.I.E. Ch 10)
year f (B.I.F.B. Ch 7) שָׁנָה, שָׁנִים	ק
an idiom;years old	make holy, sacred, set apart
literally: a son ofyears בָּןשָׁנִים	(A.I.E. Ch 7, A.I.E. Ch 10) (קב"על)
an idiom;years old	holy, sacred adj (A.I.E. Ch 6)
literally: a daughter ofyears בַּתשָׁנִים	קָדוֹשׁ, קְדוֹשָׁה, קְדוֹשִׁים, קְדוֹשׁוֹת
Sarah (A.I.E. Ch 5) שָׂרֶה	holiness, sanctity m
n	(A.I.E. Ch 7) קרשים
imperfect she prefix (B.I.F.B. Ch 4)	sound, voice m (B.I.F.B. Ch 3) קוֹל, קוֹלוֹת
Torah, teaching, law <i>f</i>	٦
(A.I.E. Ch 4) חוֹרוֹת מוֹרוֹת	head, top, beginning m
(2002)	(B.I.F.B. Ch 5) ראש, ראש, ראשים
	numerous, many, great adj
	(A.I.E. Ch 10) רָבָּה, רַבִּים, רַבּוֹת
	Rebekah (A.I.E. Ch 5)
	spirit, wind m and f (B.I.F.B. Ch 1)
	רוחות
	Rachel (A.I.E. Ch 5)
	compassion, mercy m (A.I.E. Ch 9)
	friend, companion, fellow, neighbor m
	(B.I.F.B. Ch 5) בָעָ, בִיעִים
	oneanother אישרֶעָהוּ
	heal, cure (A.I.E. Ch 9) (פַּעַל)

woman wife f (RIER Ch 2)	אומדה בומוכר	M	
woman, wife f (B.I.F.B. Ch 3) who, that, which (A.I.E. Ch 8) woman of, wife of (word pair for of 可以以) f (B.I.F.B. Ch 3) definite direct object marker (un (A.I.E. Ch 4) with (preposition) (B.I.F.B. Ch 3)	אֲשֶׁת ntranslatable) אֶת	father; ancestor m (A.I.E. Ch 5) stone f (B.I.F.B. Ch 5) Abraham (A.I.E. Ch 5) lord, ruler m (A.I.E. Ch 7) human being, man, humanking	אֶבֶן, אֲבָנִים אַבְרָהָם אָדוֹן, אֲדוֹנִים
you m sg (A.I.E. Ch 1)	אַתָּה	(B.I.F.B. Ch 3)	אָדָם
with, in (attached preposition) (A.I.E. Ch 6) choose, select (A.I.E. Ch 4) between, among (B.I.F.B. Ch 1)	בּ־, ב־ ב־ח־ר (פָּעַל) בִּיז	earth, ground, land f (A.I.E. Ch 8) love (A.I.E. Ch 6) light m (B.I.F.B. Ch 1) ווֹרוֹת then, at that time (B.I.F.B. Ch 7)	
house m (A.I.E. Ch 6)	בות, בתים בות, בתים	brother m (B.I.F.B. Ch 3)	אַח, אַחִים
son, child <i>m</i> (<i>A.I.E. Ch</i> 3) build (<i>B.I.F.B. Ch</i> 5)	בַּן, בָּנִים ב־נ־ה	one m (plural: a few, some) (B.I.F.B. Ch 5)	אַחָר, אַחַדִים
morning m (B.I.F.B. Ch 1) create (A.I.E. Ch 3)	בְּקֶרִים ב־ר־א (פָּעַל)	one f (plural: a few, some) (B.I.F.B. Ch 5)	אַחָת, אֲחָדוֹתְ
Creation, in the beginning (A.I.E. Ch 8) bless (A.I.E. Ch 1)	בְּרֵאשִׁית ב־ר־ך (פַּעַל)	eat, consume (A.I.E. Ch 2) cause to eat, feed (B.I.F.B. Ch 1	•
blessed (A.I.E. Ch 1) בְּרוּכִים, בְּרוּכוֹת	בָרוּךְ, בְּרוּכָה,	there is/are not, there is/are no (A.I.E. Ch 7) man m (B.I.F.B. Ch 3)	ne איש, אַנָשִים
covenant f (A.I.E. Ch 3)	בְּרִית, בְּרִיתוֹו	to, toward (B.I.F.B. Ch 3)	אָל אל
mighty, valiant, courageous adj גְבּוֹרִים, גָבּוֹרִים		God m (A.I.E. Ch 5) God m (A.I.E. Ch 4) mother f (A.I.E. Ch 5)	אַלהים
strength, valor, might f (A.I.E. Co	גְבוּרָה, גְבוּרוּוּ	firmness, support, faithfulness, (A.I.E. Ch 10) trust, believe (B.I.F.B. Ch 10)	
nation, people m (A.I.E. Ch 8)	גוי, גויים	say, utter, tell (B.I.F.B. Ch 1)	א־מ־ר (פָּעַל)
٦		truth f (A.I.E. Ch 4)	אֶכֶת, אֲמִתּוֹת
speak, talk (A.I.E. Ch 6)	ד־ב־ר (פָּעַל)	we (A.I.E. Ch 2)	אַנַרְוּנוּ, אָנוּ
word, speech m (A.I.E. Ch 10) thing m (B.I.F.B. Ch 9) blood m (B.I.F.B. Ch 3)	דָבָר, דְבָרִים דַם, דַמִים	men, people (plural of $W^{\prime}N$) n (B.I.F.B. Ch 3) earth, land f (A.I.E. Ch 3)	אָנָשִׁים אַרץ, אַרצוֹת
Dioce III (Dillia)	* * *		7 7 7 7

Bet Is for Breishit Hebrew for Adults Book 3

Building on the strong foundation laid in the successful books *Aleph Isn't Tough* and *Aleph Isn't Enough*, this third book in the Hebrew for Adults Series guides students to read, understand, and translate selections from the Torah. Each text is studied over the course of two chapters. Students examine multiple translations of the same text, so they are able to understand the nuances of translation, and are also given the opportunity to translate the text themselves. The text is culled for new vocabulary, verb roots, and grammatical concepts, which are clearly explained. The reading and translation exercises enhance students' learning, as do the optional enrichment sections. Students using *Bet Is for B'reishit* will learn many of the skills necessary for studying Torah and will be motivated and excited about continuing their Hebrew learning.

Hear what students and teachers have to say about Bet Is for B'reishit:

"I have been teaching Hebrew a long time. As adult beginning books, the UAHC series is the best one I have used so far. I can't think of how they could be improved!"

"This book has absolutely helped my students gain some of the skills necessary for text study. They are committed to continuing. It's a joy."

"The enrichment sections made the book more than just a mere language instruction. It was as if I were studying Torah."

"There are many nuances to translation. The four different Torah translations were fabulous!"

"I can't tell you how great it is to be able to read and translate for myself."

"The four different Torah translations were not only helpful, but fascinating!"

"All of the enrichment sections were eye-openers and added greater depth to my understanding of biblical Hebrew."

"After learning from this book, I can capture the essence of a Torah passage even if I can't translate every word."

- Geared toward intermediate students who want to take their Hebrew learning to a deeper level
- A perfect complement to adult text study
- Format is clear and easy to follow
- Enhances knowledge of vocabulary and grammar
- Encourages ongoing Hebrew and text study
- Ideal for individual study or classroom settings
- Teacher's Edition available
- Flashcard set also available

Linda Motzkin received her M.A.H.L and rabbinic ordination from Hebrew Union College-Jewish Institute of Religion. She is co-rabbi, together with her husband Jonathan Rubenstein, of Temple Sinai in Saratoga Springs, New York, as well as the Jewish chaplain at Skidmore College. She is the author of Aleph Isn't Tough and Aleph Isn't Enough, and one of the co-authors of Prayerbook Hebrew: The Easy Way and The First Hebrew Primer: The Adult Beginner's Path to Biblical Hebrew.

Cover art by Lisa Rauchwerger

URJ Press New York, New York www.URJbam.com

